

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA  
COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION AND  
CULTURAL AFFAIRS

Room 400, City Hall  
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania  
Thursday, March 7, 2013  
1:30 p.m.

PRESENT:

COUNCILWOMAN CINDY BASS, CHAIR  
COUNCILMAN KENYATTA JOHNSON  
COUNCILMAN CURTIS JONES, JR.  
COUNCILMAN DENNIS O'BRIEN  
COUNCILMAN DAVID OH  
COUNCILWOMAN MARIA D. QUINONES-SANCHEZ  
COUNCILWOMAN BLONDELL REYNOLDS BROWN

BILL 120827 - An ordinance amending Chapter 15-600 of The Philadelphia Code, entitled "Parks and Playgrounds," by providing for an annual report containing details of any and all reported violations of Title 18...

BILL 120828 - An ordinance amending Chapter 15-700 of The Philadelphia Code, entitled "Recreation Centers," by providing for an annual report containing details of any and all reported violations of Title 18...

BILL 130065 - An ordinance amending Title 16 of The Philadelphia Code, entitled "Public Property," by providing for a prohibition on firearms and deadly weapons in or around City-owned or City-occupied facilities...

- - -

1

2

COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Good

3

afternoon. This hearing is called to

4

order. This is a public hearing of the

5

City Council Committee on Parks,

6

Recreation and Cultural Affairs. The

7

purpose of this public hearing is to hear

8

testimony on Bills No. 120827, 120828,

9

and 130065.

10

I want to recognize the

11

presence of a quorum of Committee

12

members. In attendance we have

13

Councilman Curtis Jones, Majority Leader

14

Curtis Jones, Jr. We have Councilman

15

David Oh and we have Councilman Kenyatta

16

Johnson. And we also have joining us

17

Councilman Denny O'Brien. Thank you so

18

much for being here today, sir.

19

And I want to start by asking

20

if any of the members have any opening

21

remarks that they would like to make.

22

COUNCILMAN JONES: I would.

23

COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Councilman

24

Jones.

25

COUNCILMAN JONES: Thank you,

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           Madam Chairman. I just want to thank you  
3           and applaud your leadership on  
4           introducing commonsense legislation that  
5           promotes public safety. It is very  
6           important to recognize that the geography  
7           of a crime is as important as the time,  
8           location, victim, perpetrator. It is  
9           information that helps us prevent future  
10          crimes. So whether it's in a park or a  
11          SEPTA platform, it is important that we  
12          address crime where it presents itself.  
13          And I just want to thank you for  
14          continuing that kind of effort to make  
15          sure our parks and rec centers are safe.

16                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Thank you.  
17          Thank you, Mr. Jones.

18                   And Councilman Kenyatta  
19          Johnson.

20                   COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Thank you,  
21          Madam Chair. I just want to also echo  
22          the sentiments of my colleague Councilman  
23          Curtis Jones, Jr. I've always viewed our  
24          recreation facilities as areas in which  
25          all young people should feel like they

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           can come and have a good time. They  
3           should be able to come and feel safe.  
4           And as we witness some of the acts of  
5           senseless gun violence that take place or  
6           have taken place in rec centers  
7           throughout the City, I just want to  
8           commend you for stepping up to the plate,  
9           making sure we document those incidents,  
10          making sure that we have a comprehensive  
11          strategy, working in partnership and  
12          conjunction with our Commissioner, Sue  
13          Slawson, who also has been doing a great  
14          job in the area of operating our  
15          recreation centers.

16                   And so I just want to let you  
17          know I'm on board. Any way I can be  
18          supportive as the Councilman in the 2nd  
19          Councilmanic District to make sure our  
20          young people are safe in our rec centers.  
21          So thank you. Keep up the good work.

22                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Thank you  
23          so much.

24                   Before we have the Clerk read  
25          the title of the bill, Councilman Oh.

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2                   COUNCILMAN OH: Well, I will  
3 say that I too certainly support and  
4 commend your efforts for making the  
5 community safer, and I am very interested  
6 in the testimony, as I am not clear and  
7 decided on that issue.

8                   I am for safety. I believe  
9 that ultimately the issue has to do with  
10 criminals, not necessarily people who  
11 have applied for and received lawful  
12 carry permits. But I am very interested  
13 to hear the evidence, and so I also  
14 appreciate your bringing this hearing  
15 forward.

16                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Thank you.  
17 Thank you so much for being here, and we  
18 look forward to having a very interesting  
19 conversation today about this issue.  
20 Obviously as the Chair of Parks and  
21 Recreation, the committee for City  
22 Council, this is something that's very,  
23 very important in terms of making sure  
24 that our young people are safe. As a  
25 mother, this is critically important to

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2       me. As I send my child, as she gets  
3       older, to her neighborhood park,  
4       recreation center, playground,  
5       what-have-you, I want to know that she's  
6       safe. I want to know that it's a safe  
7       environment and that people take it very,  
8       very seriously and that we have the  
9       proper legislation in place so that if  
10      someone does something that they should  
11      not do, we hold them accountable and that  
12      the word can spread that we're taking  
13      this very, very seriously.

14                So that being said, we're going  
15      to have the Clerk now read the title of  
16      Bills No. 120827 and 120828, which are  
17      pretty similar, but we're going to have  
18      him read both of the titles of those  
19      bills. Thank you.

20               THE CLERK: Bill No. 120827, an  
21      ordinance amending Chapter 15-600 of The  
22      Philadelphia Code, entitled "Parks and  
23      Playgrounds," by providing for an annual  
24      report containing details of any and all  
25      reported violations of Title 18 of the

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           Pennsylvania Consolidated Statutes and  
3           violations of Title 35 of the  
4           Pennsylvania Unconsolidated Statutes,  
5           Section 780-113, which take place on the  
6           grounds of any Park or Playground located  
7           in Philadelphia County; and

8                         Bill No. 120828, an ordinance  
9           amending Chapter 15-700 of The  
10          Philadelphia Code, entitled "Recreation  
11          Centers," by providing for an annual  
12          report containing details of any and all  
13          reported violations of Title 18 of the  
14          Pennsylvania Consolidated Statutes and  
15          violations of Title 35 of the  
16          Pennsylvania Unconsolidated Statutes,  
17          Section 780-113, which take place on the  
18          grounds of any Recreation Center, located  
19          in Philadelphia County.

20                        COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Thank you.

21                        I also want to make a note that  
22          the Administration has submitted  
23          amendments to these bills that are  
24          technical in nature. Copies of the  
25          proposed amendments can be found on the

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           table to my left. And I understand that  
3           there may be witnesses here today that  
4           wish to testify on all three bills that  
5           are being heard. If you wish to do so, I  
6           would ask that you hold your testimony  
7           until after the third bill is read if you  
8           haven't already signed up to do so. So  
9           you can still sign up to testify, but we  
10          ask that you would wait until after the  
11          third bill is read to then begin your  
12          testimony.

13                   And so with that, we're going  
14          to call the first witness to testify.

15                   THE CLERK: Susan Slawson.

16                   (Witness approached witness  
17          table.)

18                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Good  
19          afternoon.

20                   COMMISSIONER SLAWSON: Good  
21          afternoon.

22                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Before you  
23          begin your testimony, I do want to  
24          acknowledge that we've been joined by  
25          Councilwoman Blondell Reynolds Brown

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           today. Thank you for being here.

3                   And, Commissioner, if you want  
4           to state your name for the record and --

5                   COMMISSIONER SLAWSON: Susan  
6           Slawson.

7                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: And your  
8           title and begin your testimony.

9                   COMMISSIONER SLAWSON: First  
10          Deputy Commissioner for Recreation and  
11          Programs.

12                  COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Can you  
13          speak into the mic.

14                  COMMISSIONER SLAWSON: Is that  
15          better?

16                  COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Yes. Thank  
17          you.

18                  COMMISSIONER SLAWSON: Good  
19          afternoon, Chairwoman Bass and members of  
20          the Committee. My name is Susan Slawson,  
21          First Deputy Commissioner of Recreation  
22          and Programs for the Department of Parks  
23          and Recreation.

24                  I appear before you today to  
25          present testimony in support of Bills

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           120827 and 120828, which compels the  
3           Parks and Recreation Department to  
4           provide for an annual report detailing  
5           reported violations of Title 18 of the  
6           Pennsylvania Consolidated Statutes and  
7           violations of Title 35 of the  
8           Pennsylvania Unconsolidated Statutes,  
9           Section 780-113, which take place on the  
10          grounds of any park or playground or on  
11          the grounds of any recreation center.

12                   Working with the Philadelphia  
13          Police Department and our many partners,  
14          we believe these bills will be another  
15          tool to help make our parks, playgrounds,  
16          and recreation centers safer and free  
17          from dangerous controlled substances and  
18          drugs. We look forward to working with  
19          the Police Department as they provide the  
20          necessary public safety data based on  
21          this legislation to compile and respond  
22          to this annual report.

23                   Across the Parks and Recreation  
24          system, people of all ages are enjoying  
25          thousands of high-quality programming

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           occurring in our 160 recreation centers  
3           and facilities all across Philadelphia.  
4           As a department, Parks and Recreation  
5           takes the security and safety of citizens  
6           and staff very seriously. We are  
7           continually mindful, planning, and acting  
8           in collaboration with other City  
9           departments and the community for the  
10          safety of our staff and users.

11                       Currently, Park and Recreation  
12          maintains baseline information such as  
13          workplace safety and/or community  
14          complaints at a facility. Any criminal  
15          incident data is reported and maintained  
16          by the Police Department.

17                      While more work can always be  
18          done in these areas, I would appreciate  
19          an opportunity to briefly update you on  
20          some recent improvements and initiatives  
21          to improve safety.

22                      Parks and Recreation, working  
23          with the community and other City  
24          departments, continues with the  
25          installation of security cameras at 31

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2       recreation centers and facilities across  
3       the Park and Recreation system. We are  
4       funding the initiative with our own  
5       capital dollars and City Council capital  
6       dollars. We have also completed, with  
7       the Office of Risk Management, Licenses  
8       and Inspections, and the Police  
9       Department, an indoor and outdoor safety  
10      survey of our larger recreation centers  
11      to identify interior unsafe and isolated  
12      locations. These areas will be locked  
13      and off limits whenever possible and  
14      wherever possible.

15               With existing resources and  
16      engaging with the community and other  
17      City departments; namely, the Police  
18      Department, Parks and Recreation  
19      instituted several improvements and  
20      initiatives focused on staffed programmed  
21      Parks and Recreation facilities. Coming  
22      out of the Department's merger engagement  
23      process and after some violent incidents  
24      two summers ago, we have deepened our  
25      relationship with the Police Department

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           to have an ongoing presence at recreation  
3           centers, swimming pools, and during the  
4           adult athletic leagues across the Park  
5           and Recreation system. These combined  
6           actions have resulted in zero incidents  
7           to date and significantly reduced  
8           negative behaviors associated with the  
9           leagues the past summer.

10                       In addition, the closer  
11           interaction with the police has provided  
12           benefit beyond what we could have  
13           imagined. The leagues have been so much  
14           more improved. These successful safety  
15           improvements and initiatives will  
16           continue as we enter into the upcoming  
17           spring and summer programming season.

18                       With its hundreds of recreation  
19           facilities and over 10,000 acres of  
20           parkland woven throughout the City of  
21           Philadelphia, the Department of Parks and  
22           Recreation is deeply connected to  
23           citizens and communities, serving  
24           preschool age and senior citizens in each  
25           and every neighborhood in our city. It

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           is of most importance -- utmost  
3           importance to the Department that  
4           citizens and staff are safe while  
5           enjoying our parks and recreational  
6           facilities.

7                       Thank you for the opportunity  
8           for me to discuss this important issue  
9           with you today, and I look forward to any  
10          questions and how we can support this  
11          matter.

12                      COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Well, thank  
13          you for your testimony. I just had a  
14          couple things I wanted to ask, and the  
15          first was just in terms of -- well, the  
16          first is, I want to commend the Parks and  
17          Recreation Department for taking this  
18          issue so very seriously. I know  
19          particularly when it comes to our  
20          recreation centers and playgrounds, over  
21          the years we've seen activities that have  
22          ended violently. We've had basketball  
23          leagues, which I know you just mentioned,  
24          which unfortunately we've had a couple  
25          where someone was shot and people who

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           were not the intended targets, but who  
3           happened to be there at the game or  
4           somehow associated with the league and  
5           who have been targeted.

6                        So it's been -- in some areas,  
7           it hasn't been a problem. In some areas,  
8           it's been great concern. So I know that  
9           I met with Parks and Recreation several  
10          times last year to talk about how do we  
11          get in front of some of the changes and  
12          some of the issues that have been  
13          occurring.

14                       One of the things that I think  
15          that has happened is, I think you've done  
16          a great job in stemming some of those  
17          issues and getting in front of them and  
18          making sure we don't have them. I don't  
19          recall as many serious incidents. I know  
20          that the number has gone down  
21          dramatically.

22                       But one of the things that  
23          comes with this -- and I don't know if  
24          you're prepared to address this today or  
25          not, but one of the things I think that

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2 comes with this, when the Parks and  
3 Recreation Department has now sort of  
4 organized the leagues in the community,  
5 somehow in some neighborhoods people feel  
6 a little disjointed. They feel like they  
7 don't have as much involvement. Can you  
8 speak to that? How do we make sure that  
9 we have some control over what's  
10 happening, who is organizing it, making  
11 sure that we don't have these violent  
12 incidents and, at the same time, making  
13 sure that the community is involved, that  
14 they have representation in terms of  
15 being engaged in the activity in their  
16 community?

17                   COMMISSIONER SLAWSON: Well, we  
18 definitely need the community to support  
19 us in running these leagues. What we did  
20 last year is, we -- Parks and Recreation,  
21 for whatever reason, had become a little  
22 disjointed, and we weren't actively  
23 participating in these leagues. We  
24 didn't know for the most part, other than  
25 somebody coming and signing a permit, who

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           was running the league, the kids that  
3           were participating on the leagues. And  
4           so what we did last summer, we instituted  
5           some new rules and policies so we would  
6           be able to identify -- we want those same  
7           coaches that have been running the  
8           leagues years and years and years in the  
9           past. We want them to continue to run,  
10          but what we need them to do is run them  
11          along with our staff.

12                        So we want the community's  
13          involvement, but we also need to know who  
14          is participating in these leagues. One  
15          of the things we found out when we  
16          started going through the rosters of the  
17          leagues is that we were not getting  
18          names, actual names. We were getting  
19          nicknames. And so if anything were to  
20          happen on the basketball court, we had no  
21          idea. We can't tell who Boo-Boo is. We  
22          didn't have the correct date of births.  
23          We had all kind of names that just pretty  
24          much -- if we needed to turn it over to  
25          the Police Department, which is another

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           thing that we do now, we know we're  
3           having our leagues, they've asked us,  
4           Give us those rosters in advance, so they  
5           have an opportunity to know who is coming  
6           to these facilities before they send  
7           their staff there.

8                       So we didn't do that to turn  
9           the community members away. We did it  
10          to, one, get some control to identify who  
11          is going to be at our facilities and also  
12          to assist the Police Department in  
13          knowing what's going on when we are  
14          running these leagues.

15                      So we want their support, and  
16          some people chose not to participate  
17          after we started asking for a little more  
18          information.

19                      COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Okay. And  
20          so overall, you would say it's been  
21          successful and that -- are there  
22          additional changes that we might be able  
23          to expect this year, do you think? Is it  
24          a continual work in progress that we are  
25          organizing these leagues and activities

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           at rec centers to make sure that they're  
3           safer?

4                   COMMISSIONER SLAWSON: We're  
5           doing the same thing. I don't think  
6           we're going to make any changes that we  
7           didn't do last year. So the community  
8           members should expect pretty much the  
9           same, us being active, engaged, wanting  
10          their support, but also knowing who is  
11          coming, who is playing, getting proper  
12          identification of the young people that  
13          are on the courts playing.

14                   Even with our older young men  
15          and women that are playing basketball, we  
16          put this in place for them as well,  
17          because we want to know who is there.  
18          And that's usually when the incidents  
19          happen. It was usually the older men  
20          that were playing basketball if there was  
21          a shooting. It wasn't our 12 and under  
22          and 14 and under young people. It was  
23          usually that 21 and up and 18 and under  
24          leagues that were running in our  
25          communities.

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Okay. And  
3       can you talk a little bit more also --  
4       you mentioned the camera systems, and we  
5       had spoken -- I know we've spoken  
6       formally and informally also about  
7       cameras and the possibility of doing  
8       something with cameras here in our city's  
9       Parks and Recreation system on a much  
10      larger scale, but I know that you all  
11      have been really working hard on it. So  
12      can you talk about what you've done and  
13      what sort of impact that you feel that  
14      that's had so far.

15                  COMMISSIONER SLAWSON: We've  
16      committed 31 cameras thus far. We have  
17      56 large facilities. That's our "A"  
18      facility. That's where you may have  
19      three floors. Of course, you're going to  
20      have a basketball court inside and out  
21      and a swimming pool. Those were the  
22      locations that we focused on initially,  
23      but the goal is to outfit our entire  
24      system, because it's proven that if you  
25      have cameras at our facilities -- we can

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2       identify Vare in Councilman Johnson's  
3       district. Vare was having different type  
4       of criminal activities every day. Once  
5       they installed a camera system, it ended.  
6       And so we have evidence that if we have  
7       the proper security systems in place, it  
8       makes a difference at what's going on  
9       inside our facilities and outside of our  
10      facilities.

11                 So our goal is not to just do  
12      those large facilities -- and you all  
13      have been working great with us,  
14      supporting us, giving us the additional  
15      funding that we need to make sure that we  
16      can outfit our entire system. So the  
17      goal is with what you're doing here and  
18      what we're doing to try to outfit the  
19      system with the cameras and the security,  
20      I mean, we should really be able to, I  
21      want to say, eliminate, because that's  
22      our goal. It's not to just say we're  
23      going to have one shooting. The goal is  
24      to say we're not going to have any. And  
25      I believe with what we're doing here and

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           what we're trying to do with the camera  
3           system and our security surveys that  
4           we've done in our larger facilities, I  
5           think it's doable.

6                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Okay. And  
7           that's it. We'll open it up.

8                   Councilman Jones, I know you  
9           had some questions. The Chair recognizes  
10          Councilman Jones.

11                  COUNCILMAN JONES: Thank you,  
12          Madam Chair, and, again, this is good  
13          public work.

14                  Commissioner, just a few  
15          questions on the cameras. One, are they  
16          going to be a part of the SafeCam  
17          network?

18                  COMMISSIONER SLAWSON: I would  
19          say I don't know the answer to that  
20          question right now.

21                  COUNCILMAN JONES: Well, that's  
22          a fair answer. I would encourage that  
23          you consider it. And also in a proactive  
24          way, the Chairwoman and other members of  
25          Council went down to Baltimore, and we

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           just in fact left a briefing from the  
3           University of Penn, which has a series of  
4           modern cameras, Pan-Tilt-Zoom, digital,  
5           that give high resolution of these  
6           things. And one of the reasons that I am  
7           urging you to be a part of it is, there's  
8           a continuation of observation that can  
9           happen from a SEPTA stop to a rec center  
10          to a private business or entity like a  
11          university, so that when things happen,  
12          there is a command center behind us that  
13          can plug in and even help to guide boots  
14          on the ground, police officers, law  
15          enforcement officers, to apprehend. We  
16          just saw a demonstration where it works  
17          so well with the University of Penn.

18                        So as we try to get our camera  
19          act together, if you would, no pun  
20          intended, but to be able to get into  
21          SafeCam and install those cameras in your  
22          rec centers as a part of -- particularly  
23          the external ones, to be a part of a  
24          network of cameras that can be used in  
25          synchronization, and as we do that, as we

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           saw in Baltimore, they were able to  
3           reduce crime by 24 percent overall. And  
4           I think that's a staggering statistic and  
5           has monetary consequences too, because  
6           they were able to save money on  
7           prosecution, other things like that.  
8           It's a force multiplier, as they say.

9                        So by way of the stat of what  
10          type of camera and whether or not it  
11          could possibly potentially plug into  
12          SafeCam is something that we would like  
13          to have you explore.

14                      COMMISSIONER SLAWSON: We'll  
15          definitely look into it, SafeCam. Okay.

16                      COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Very good.  
17          Thank you.

18                      COUNCILMAN JONES: Thank you,  
19          Madam Chair.

20                      COUNCILWOMAN BASS: The Chair  
21          recognizes Councilwoman Blondell Reynolds  
22          Brown.

23                      COUNCILWOMAN BROWN: Good  
24          afternoon, Commissioner.

25                      COMMISSIONER SLAWSON: Good

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           afternoon.

3                   COUNCILWOMAN BROWN: Thank you  
4           always for the important work you're  
5           doing on behalf of young people, in  
6           particular at the centers.

7                   What would you say might be the  
8           percentage right now of rec centers that  
9           are covered by cameras? Just a round  
10          number.

11                   COMMISSIONER SLAWSON: Probably  
12          15.

13                   COUNCILWOMAN BROWN: Fifteen  
14          percent. And so if you had to wager --  
15          is it possible for there to be dollars  
16          put into the Rec Department's capital  
17          over the next five years or is that on  
18          the onus of the District Councilperson?  
19          I don't know. Tell me.

20                   COMMISSIONER SLAWSON: Well, I  
21          do know that our Chair is working with  
22          the various Councilmembers to come up  
23          with a plan with us to ensure that  
24          they're helping support us and ensuring  
25          that we install cameras in all of our

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           facilities. So that's exactly what we're  
3           doing.

4                   COUNCILWOMAN BROWN: And so  
5           recognizing that dollars are always  
6           scarce and needs are always exponentially  
7           higher than available revenue, give some  
8           consideration to -- I don't know how  
9           possible it is. Partnerships really are  
10          the way of the future, and since we have  
11          close to 90 higher ed institutions in  
12          this region, it might be useful to look  
13          to see where there might be potential  
14          linkages with higher ed institutions like  
15          the University of Pennsylvania who sit or  
16          reside in or around rec centers where  
17          there could be some sharing of their  
18          hardware with what's happening in rec  
19          departments, because the institutions win  
20          when young people are safe, if you will,  
21          in rec centers that sit in and around  
22          higher ed institutions.

23                   So that might be worth some  
24          conversation or discussion with those  
25          institutions who are in close proximity

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           to your rec centers. Just as an  
3           unorthodox way of approaching where there  
4           could be partnership.

5                   COMMISSIONER SLAWSON: That is  
6           a great idea for us to partner, because  
7           we're always looking for opportunities to  
8           reach out to whether it's Drexel,  
9           University of Penn or Temple, and we have  
10          quite a few facilities in all of those  
11          areas that we could partner with them.  
12          So we will look into that.

13                   COUNCILWOMAN BROWN: And then  
14          you have LaSalle and Eastern University  
15          in Councilwoman Sanchez's district and  
16          others.

17                   COMMISSIONER SLAWSON: Okay.

18                   COUNCILWOMAN BROWN: Thank you.

19                   COMMISSIONER SLAWSON: Thank  
20          you.

21                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Thank you.

22                   And Chair recognizes Councilman  
23          David Oh.

24                   COUNCILMAN OH: Thank you very  
25          much, Chairwoman.

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           Good afternoon.

3           COMMISSIONER SLAWSON: Good  
4           afternoon.

5           COUNCILMAN OH: Thank you for  
6           being here.

7           The issue of gun violence and  
8           violence and crime is probably the  
9           biggest issue in our city right now, and  
10          so there are many ideas on how to address  
11          this problem. One of the challenges that  
12          we face is, number one, the Second  
13          Amendment of the Constitution and, number  
14          two, the extent to which we can  
15          effectively regulate the wrongdoers in  
16          this process.

17          And so I have questions along  
18          those lines, which I'm not looking for  
19          any particular answers of any sort. If  
20          you don't know, I probably don't know  
21          either, unless I'm a constitutional  
22          scholar or something, but I'm going to  
23          ask them anyway.

24          First of all, I see from your  
25          testimony that you are addressing Bills

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           No. 120827 and 120828. It did not say  
3           that you're addressing Bill No. 130065.  
4           Is that accurate or are you addressing  
5           all three bills today?

6                   COMMISSIONER SLAWSON: I'm  
7           actually addressing all three bills. I  
8           didn't comment on that one because that  
9           one wasn't called as of yet. I do have  
10          testimony for that one as well.

11                  COUNCILMAN OH: All right.  
12          Then I have no questions on those two  
13          bills.

14                  Thank you.

15                  COMMISSIONER SLAWSON: Okay.

16                  COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Any  
17          additional questions?

18                  (No response.)

19                  COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Thank you,  
20          Commissioner.

21                  COMMISSIONER SLAWSON: Thank  
22          you.

23                  COUNCILWOMAN BASS: And can we  
24          have the Clerk call the next person to  
25          testify.

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2                   So there's no one else to  
3       testify on those two bills. So at this  
4       point, we're going to move on to Bill No.  
5       130065. And will the Clerk now read the  
6       title of Bill No. 130065.

7                   THE CLERK: Bill No. 130065, an  
8       ordinance amending Title 16 of The  
9       Philadelphia Code, entitled "Public  
10      Property," by providing for a prohibition  
11      on firearms and deadly weapons in or  
12      around City-owned or City-occupied  
13      facilities, under certain terms and  
14      conditions.

15                  COUNCILWOMAN BASS: And we're  
16      going to have the next panel come forward  
17      to testify, and that would be  
18      Commissioner Slawson and also why don't  
19      we also call up Mr. Michael Resnick,  
20      Director of Public Safety for the City of  
21      Philadelphia, and also Commander Verdell  
22      Johnson from the Philadelphia Police  
23      Department, if you could all come  
24      forward.

25                               (Witnesses approached witness

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           table.)

3                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: And if you  
4           could each once again please state your  
5           name for the record and then begin your  
6           testimony.

7                   MR. RESNICK: Good afternoon,  
8           Councilwoman.

9                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Good  
10          afternoon. Could you speak into the mic.

11                  MR. RESNICK: Sure. Good  
12          afternoon, Councilwoman. My name is  
13          Michael Resnick. I'm the Director of  
14          Public Safety for the City of  
15          Philadelphia.

16                  Good afternoon, Councilwoman  
17          Bass and members of the Committee on  
18          Parks and Recreation and Cultural  
19          Affairs. I appear before you today to  
20          offer testimony on Bill No. 130065, which  
21          was introduced by Council President  
22          Clarke. This bill has the potential to  
23          enhance public safety by authorizing the  
24          Departments of Public Property and Parks  
25          and Recreation to promulgate regulations

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           prohibiting the carrying of any firearm  
3           or deadly weapon upon City-owned or  
4           occupied property.

5                     The Nutter Administration  
6           shares your concerns for the well-being  
7           and safety of all Philadelphia residents,  
8           visitors, and employees. Additionally,  
9           we are fully committed to providing a  
10          safe and secure environment at all of our  
11          municipal facilities and facilities where  
12          City workers are employed, which include  
13          recreation centers, public libraries,  
14          fire stations, et cetera.

15                    We've been in this Chamber on  
16          previous occasions to discuss safety in  
17          our parks and rec centers, and this bill  
18          adds an additional tool to help us  
19          improve that safety.

20                    I want to thank Council  
21          President Clarke and members of the  
22          Committee for your commitment to ensuring  
23          the well-being and safety of all citizens  
24          and residents and visitors and City  
25          employees.

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           This concludes my testimony,  
3           and I'd be glad to address any questions  
4           you may have.

5           COUNCILWOMAN BASS: We're going  
6           to hold questions until we hear from all  
7           three of you.

8           And if you want to begin your  
9           testimony next, whoever.

10          COMMISSIONER SLAWSON: Good  
11          afternoon, Chairwoman Bass and members of  
12          the Committee. My name is Susan Slawson,  
13          First Deputy Commissioner of Recreation  
14          and Programs for the Department of Parks  
15          and Recreation. I appear before you  
16          again today to present testimony in  
17          support of Bill 130065, prohibiting  
18          firearms and deadly weapons in or around  
19          City-owned or City-occupied facilities,  
20          including on the grounds of any park or  
21          playground or on the grounds of any  
22          recreation center.

23          Working with the Philadelphia  
24          Police Department, Public Property, and  
25          our many partners, we believe this bill

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           will be another tool to help make our  
3           public spaces where children, youth, and  
4           families gather, play, and learn safely  
5           and free from firearms and deadly  
6           weapons.

7                       Across the Parks and Recreation  
8           system, people of all ages are enjoying  
9           thousands of high-quality programming  
10          occurring at over 160 recreation centers  
11          and facilities all across Philadelphia.  
12          As a department, Parks and Recreation  
13          takes the security and safety of citizens  
14          and staff very seriously. We are  
15          continually mindful, planning, and acting  
16          in collaboration with other City  
17          departments and the community for the  
18          safety of our staff and users.

19                      While the vast majority of  
20          people enjoy our parks and recreation  
21          system responsibly and safely, there are  
22          a small number of people who cause  
23          disruptions and disturbances with  
24          firearms and deadly weapons. This was  
25          most apparent two summers ago when there

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           was an unfortunate series of shootings at  
3           recreation centers, primarily, but not  
4           exclusively, tied to our outdoor adult  
5           athletic leagues.

6                     With existing resources and  
7           engaging with the community and other  
8           City departments; namely, the Police  
9           Department, Parks and Recreation  
10          responded by instituting several  
11          improvements and initiatives focused on  
12          staffed programming Parks and Recreation  
13          facilities and our adult athletic  
14          leagues.

15                    We look forward to working with  
16          the Police Department, Public Property,  
17          and this Committee to advance these  
18          regulations and determine appropriate  
19          enforcement mechanisms and engagement  
20          efforts.

21                    Thank you for the opportunity  
22          to discuss this important issue with you  
23          today, and I look forward to any  
24          questions.

25                    COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Thank you.

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2                   COMMANDER JOHNSON:   Good  
3   afternoon, Madam Chairwoman and members  
4   of City Council. My name is Inspector  
5   Verdell Johnson. I am currently the  
6   commanding officer of Southwest Police  
7   Division, which encompasses the 12th,  
8   16th, 18th, 19th in Southwest Detectives.

9                   I am coming here to support  
10   this bill. I'm going to bring up an  
11   incident that occurred two years ago. It  
12   occurred on April 2nd, 2010 at the Happy  
13   Hollow Playground. It was at 12:41 p.m.  
14   Thirty-Ninth District officers observed a  
15   male with a gun on the playground at  
16   12:41. It's in the middle of the day.  
17   The officers attempted to stop the male.  
18   He winds up shooting at the officers.  
19   The officers return fire, and the male  
20   wound up being pronounced at the scene  
21   once fire rescue came there.

22                   Incidents such as these  
23   continue to happen throughout our city,  
24   and the Police Department, along with the  
25   Recreation Department, we've developed a

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           great partnership. I'm a 24-year veteran  
3           of the Police Department. When I first  
4           started, we had basketball leagues. We  
5           had all types of activities inside the  
6           recreation centers that the police did  
7           not have no involvement in. Last year we  
8           started where the Recreation Department  
9           would give us the numbers to the  
10          recreation center leaders. They would  
11          give us the names, the date of births of  
12          the people that participated in these  
13          leagues. Actually, last year I was a  
14          captain. I was captain of the 39th  
15          District. When I called Happy Hollow  
16          Playground and spoke to the recreation  
17          leader, he was actually really amazed to  
18          hear from a police district captain in  
19          regards to what activities he has going  
20          on at his recreation center.

21                 With that, last year in the  
22          39th District, I can attest to, we had no  
23          problems whatsoever at our recreation  
24          centers. And since I've taken over  
25          Southwest Division, we have had no

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2       shootings or no problems in our  
3       recreation centers at all.

4                   So this bill would definitely  
5       help keep the recreation centers safe.  
6       It would give our children a place to  
7       play in a safe environment, and I am  
8       totally in support of this.

9                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Thank you  
10      so much.

11                   Thank you to each of you for  
12      being here today and for your testimony.  
13      I just think it's so important to hear  
14      all of your perspectives.

15                   I know, Mr. Resnick, obviously  
16      with your experience and all the things  
17      that you've done on behalf of public  
18      safety, it's always good to have your  
19      input.

20                   The Inspector, of course, and  
21      for your work. We used to work very  
22      closely together when you were in the 8th  
23      District, my Council District, and your  
24      work as heading the 39th Police District,  
25      which for many years had many different

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           issues, but has really turned around, and  
3           you, I know, are a big part of that. And  
4           the perception -- and the 4th District.  
5           Okay. The 4th District too. Councilman  
6           Jones wanted me to say that.

7                     But the work that you've done  
8           in the 39th District I think really  
9           speaks volumes. We've got a new team of  
10          leadership over there, which is doing a  
11          fantastic job, but I just wanted to  
12          commend you also for the work that you've  
13          done there, for your new work in the  
14          Southwest part of town, and for your work  
15          particularly at Happy Hollow, which is  
16          one of my recreation centers, that has  
17          needed to -- it's needed police attention  
18          on a number of different occasions, and  
19          we're working hard on it. But I think  
20          it's very important to have a police  
21          presence in and around our recreation  
22          centers as part of the feeling of safety,  
23          that parents can feel comfortable not  
24          only sending their children there but  
25          making it a family event.

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           Everyone should be able to go,  
3 whether you're a part of a young family  
4 with children or some of our senior  
5 citizens who would like to take advantage  
6 of some of the programs that are offered.

7           So I just wanted to thank you  
8 for being here as well and for your  
9 testimony.

10           I just wanted to go back to the  
11 incident at Happy Hollow and talk about  
12 that briefly, if you don't mind, because,  
13 like you said, that was in the middle of  
14 the day.

15           COMMANDER JOHNSON: Yes, it  
16 was.

17           COUNCILWOMAN BASS: And I  
18 believe it was during a weekday.

19           COMMANDER JOHNSON: It was a  
20 Friday.

21           COUNCILWOMAN BASS: It was a  
22 Friday, okay.

23           And so I remember when that  
24 incident occurred. I was not  
25 representing the 8th District at that

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           time, but I certainly remember it, and it  
3           was widely discussed. And I wanted to  
4           know if there was any additional light  
5           you could shed on that that in terms of  
6           if we were able to have cameras, let's  
7           say, at that facility, do you think that  
8           the incident could have, would have  
9           happened the same way, if you have any  
10          particular insight on what we could have  
11          done to prevent it in light of the  
12          measures that we're working on now.

13                   COMMANDER JOHNSON: Well, the  
14          thing is with that, the gentleman was  
15          observed with the gun. He had it out.  
16          So obviously if we had cameras, more than  
17          likely he probably would not have been so  
18          brazen to just be displaying a gun. And  
19          the officers were plain clothes at the  
20          time. They weren't uniformed officers.  
21          So when they rode by and they see him  
22          with the gun, they get out the car, they  
23          identify themselves, he runs, he takes a  
24          couple shots at them, and they return  
25          fire. But, like you said, it's in the

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           middle of the day. It was a Friday,  
3           12:41. It was in April. It was probably  
4           like 60, 70 degrees out, probably a lot  
5           of people out.

6                        So I think cameras would have  
7           hindered him from publicly displaying  
8           that gun. He probably still would have  
9           had the gun on him, but he wouldn't have  
10          had it out.

11                      COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Okay. All  
12          right.

13                      Councilman Johnson.

14                      COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Yes.

15          Thank you, Madam Chair.

16                      I just have some questions  
17          regarding Bill No. 130065. That's the  
18          prohibition of firearms inside a  
19          recreational park. So I just wanted some  
20          clarity in terms of the language. And so  
21          it says, "The regulations shall provide  
22          for appropriate exceptions, including for  
23          any duly-authorized law enforcement"  
24          official -- or "law enforcement officer."

25                      So I'm looking for clarity. I

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           think Mike or -- I think this is  
3           President Clarke's bill that you're  
4           supporting.

5                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Yes.

6                   COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: I'm just  
7           trying to find out what is those  
8           categories. Who should be allowed to  
9           come into the -- because I'm quite sure  
10          that young man who had that gun, that was  
11          an illegal gun. He didn't buy that gun.  
12          So I'm trying to figure out separate from  
13          the police officer, does Joe Public who  
14          has a permit, is he excluded as well from  
15          coming on the Park and the Recreation  
16          facility? He's legally allowed to  
17          carry -- you know, legally allowed to  
18          carry the permit, or a security officer,  
19          are they excluded? So I just want  
20          clarity on that component.

21                   MR. RESNICK: Obviously,  
22          Councilman, we haven't begun the process  
23          of promulgating the regulations or vetted  
24          them through the Law Department yet, but  
25          I would say if you're going to a rec

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           center to play basketball, I can't  
3           imagine there's a legitimate reason to  
4           bring a firearm, even if you are legally  
5           licensed to carry it. Obviously there is  
6           business that is transacted in other City  
7           buildings that this bill would apply to  
8           if it became an ordinance, and there are  
9           individuals who are legally licensed to  
10          carry firearms who go about their day  
11          carrying concealed weapons according to  
12          their permit, and if they came to a City  
13          facility to transact regular business,  
14          that's something that we would have to  
15          consider.

16                   COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: I just  
17          wanted to get additional clarity on that.  
18          And so you'll know, because I've been  
19          doing this for a while, like started  
20          Peace Not Guns in 1998 before it was the  
21          thing to be involved in. And so I've  
22          been involved in situations just as a  
23          spectator when the shooting takes place  
24          on various parks in South Philly.

25                   So I'm all for advocating

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           responsible, commonsense gun control. I  
3           just needed clarity on that component,  
4           because when you do have Joe Civilian who  
5           is legally allowed to carry, where does  
6           he stand in this situation? Obviously  
7           you come to play basketball. You can put  
8           it in your car, but that probably needs  
9           to be clarified.

10                   MR. RESNICK: You probably  
11           shouldn't put it in your car. You should  
12           probably leave it at home.

13                   COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Well,  
14           that's not really for me to, you know, go  
15           back and forth on. That's more of an  
16           opinion than anything else, but it  
17           probably still needs to be spelled out  
18           just clarity-wise. That just sticks out.  
19           Because here's where I'm at, and I've  
20           been doing this since 1998, right? Some  
21           of you might have been doing it longer.  
22           So I'm for responsible gun control,  
23           because I'm always trying to go after  
24           also that person who got the gun that  
25           came into Point Breeze or Richard Allen

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           without him going into the store and  
3           purchasing the gun. So I'm always trying  
4           to cut off that pipeline. And to be  
5           quite frank, those who shoot up inside  
6           the parks, they aren't legitimate  
7           license-carrying individuals.

8                       MR. RESNICK: I would bet the  
9           individual the Inspector is talking about  
10          probably didn't have a lawful permit to  
11          carry.

12                      COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Probably  
13          straw purchaser or got it on the street.

14                      That's just something to take a  
15          look at in the context of just  
16          clarifying -- and I don't want to get  
17          into the whole Second Amendment right. A  
18          person can carry and bear arms. And so  
19          I'm like really explaining this as being  
20          from a person who has been out there on  
21          the ground, really Peace Not Guns,  
22          advocating since I've been a young man,  
23          lost many friends to gun violence, but I  
24          also recognize in this context as well,  
25          just to pay attention when we are

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           regulating to really kind of look at at  
3           least clarity of information.

4                   The Section 2, in terms of the  
5           penalty for offense, Class III offense,  
6           what does that look like now? You get  
7           additional five years if you get caught  
8           inside the park? Ten years? It just  
9           says, "Penalties and Enforcement. Any  
10          violation of any regulations issued under  
11          this Section shall be a Class III  
12          offense, subject to penalties set forth  
13          in Section 1-109." And so if you don't  
14          have it right now, I'll have my policy  
15          guy look it up.

16                   MR. RESNICK: Penalties for  
17          code violations are monetary, Councilman.

18                   COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Monetary?

19                   MR. RESNICK: They're not  
20          incarceration. I believe this is  
21          probably \$2,000. I could be wrong.

22                   COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Okay. So  
23          probably for me -- and I'll follow up  
24          with the Madam Chair as the time goes  
25          along -- at least if somebody is shooting

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           in a recreation facility, then there  
3           should be an increased penalty. You want  
4           to carry guns around kids and shoot up  
5           playgrounds? You going to get ten years  
6           off the top, because that's the type of  
7           message a young person has to have, to be  
8           quite frank with you, to start thinking  
9           about if I get ten years for shooting up  
10          a playground, I might want to take that  
11          in consideration before I pull out this  
12          gun.

13                       And so that's just really what  
14          I'm getting at, you know, from reading  
15          this information, listening to the  
16          hearing. I'm 110 percent for safe  
17          recreation facilities and parks, so  
18          that's without question. I'm also  
19          looking at the public policy component of  
20          it.

21                       Thank you.

22                       COUNCILWOMAN BASS: And thank  
23          you.

24                       Councilman Oh. The Chair  
25          recognizes the Councilman.

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2                   COUNCILMAN OH: Thank you very  
3 much.

4                   I have similar questions for  
5 anybody on the panel. So let me start  
6 with this: To what extent, is there  
7 opinion back from the Law Department that  
8 this would be legal?

9                   MR. RESNICK: I believe,  
10 Councilman, that the Law Department's  
11 opinion is that we are regulating what  
12 can come -- who can come and what they  
13 can bring into City-owned properties,  
14 City facilities. It's not necessarily  
15 the regulation of guns or firearms, so  
16 it's not preempted by state law, but  
17 we're regulating what can and can't be  
18 brought into a City facility.

19                  COUNCILMAN OH: Could we  
20 regulate what's on a City street?

21                  MR. RESNICK: I'm sure we  
22 could, and I'm sure we do. If you took a  
23 look at the City Code, I'm sure we  
24 regulate activity that goes on on City  
25 streets and what can be placed on City

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           streets.

3                   COUNCILMAN OH: What I'm saying  
4           is, why could we not simply say once you  
5           come to the City limits of Philadelphia,  
6           you are on a City street, a City  
7           sidewalk, a City, park, a City  
8           playground, you have to disarm, you can't  
9           carry a weapon. I don't think it's  
10          legal. I don't know that we could do  
11          that.

12                   MR. RESNICK: No. That  
13          wouldn't be legal, Councilman. That  
14          would be preempted, I'm sure.

15                   COUNCILMAN OH: So that part I  
16          would think we would need some  
17          clarification from the Law Department.

18                   If it is possible, if it is  
19          proper and legal that you may not be able  
20          to regulate just the average street but  
21          you can do a municipal building, a  
22          recreation center, for example, certainly  
23          like a courtroom or things like that, but  
24          what does in and around mean as far as  
25          you conceptualize it? I mean, clearly on

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           the property. What is in and around?

3                   MR. RESNICK: I'll let the  
4           Commissioner speak to that, but I think  
5           in my mind it means actually inside the  
6           recreation center or perhaps the  
7           immediate property adjacent to that  
8           recreation center. So the sidewalk  
9           leading up to it off of the main sidewalk  
10          perhaps or the area just adjacent to the  
11          building where the rec center is.

12                   COUNCILMAN OH: I appreciate  
13          it. I'm not going to torture anybody. I  
14          think once again that becomes a legal  
15          issue, but if you would like to answer  
16          that to kind of add to it, but I'm not  
17          trying to make you give a legal opinion  
18          that you don't know.

19                   Okay. And then I will kind  
20          of -- once again, you already said that  
21          you would have to take a look at the  
22          regulations, but to kind of expound on  
23          who is included in this, I think  
24          obviously police officers, FBI. What  
25          about off-duty police officers? What

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           about assistant district attorneys? What  
3           about court staff? What about private  
4           security, drivers? You know, what about  
5           sergeant-at-arms in City Council that  
6           have carry permits?

7                     You know, there's a list of  
8           people who officially do carry firearms,  
9           and at what point are we going to  
10          distinguish or not distinguish that? I'm  
11          not saying that's an insurmountable task.  
12          I think those are just some of the  
13          questions and practically implementing  
14          around what's practical and also the  
15          Second Amendment and some of these  
16          issues.

17                    I am a lawyer and I was in the  
18          District Attorney's Office, but some of  
19          these constitutional issues I'm not  
20          really that clear on and I'm trying to  
21          get up to speed on it. But at the end of  
22          the day, it also appears to me to be  
23          important to provide some incidents that  
24          perhaps the Inspector would be aware of  
25          or others in the Police Department, not

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           just simply of people who shot guns or  
3           whatnot and created havoc, but also where  
4           someone who has applied for a carry  
5           permit, a private citizen, could be a  
6           victim of rape, could have been a  
7           victim -- a senior citizen who walks  
8           through the park at night with her dog,  
9           someone who has had a traumatic  
10          experience and is licensed to carry and  
11          would not otherwise go outside without  
12          that firearm. If they're not violating  
13          the law, will -- I mean, at what -- kind  
14          of what causes us to think that by  
15          preventing that person from going to  
16          public grounds that somehow our city  
17          would be safer.

18                        If there were incidents of  
19          people with legal firearms that got into  
20          altercations and there was kind of a  
21          record of lack of safety or enhanced  
22          danger, but kind of -- while I understand  
23          that nobody generally kind of likes  
24          firearms around places, it is in the  
25          Constitution and, second of all, the

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           Inspector has indicated that without  
3           those type of laws, he has been able to  
4           dramatically reduce violent crimes in his  
5           area, I would suppose through better  
6           management, more astute police work,  
7           those type of things.

8                       So the question for me is, as  
9           we approach the Second Amendment  
10          issues -- and I believe we can regulate  
11          in certain instances, but how do we do  
12          that in and across the board out in the  
13          public manner? So that's what I'm  
14          looking for to give me guidance in this.

15                     MR. RESNICK: I understand,  
16          Councilman. The information that I have  
17          shows we've had 54 shootings in our rec  
18          centers and playground areas since  
19          calendar year 2010. But the points you  
20          raise are all valid concerns, and we  
21          obviously need to keep those in mind,  
22          protecting the constitutional rights of  
23          citizens but balancing it between the  
24          safety of those who use our parks and rec  
25          facilities.

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           So the ordinance just allows us  
3           to promulgate those regulations, but as I  
4           said earlier, we don't have a form of  
5           what that regulation would look like. We  
6           would have to work on that, but this will  
7           allow us to add another tool perhaps to  
8           the good works that the Inspector has  
9           already talked about and how they've  
10          reduced violence and crime in those  
11          areas.

12                   COUNCILMAN OH: Thank you very  
13          much.

14                   Thank you, Madam Chairman.

15                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: And the  
16          Chair recognizes Councilman Johnson.

17                   COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Just one  
18          last question, and I think this would be  
19          for Commander Verdell Johnson and also  
20          public safety liaison, Mike Resnick, and  
21          Commissioner Slawson.

22                   So how often do the three  
23          stakeholders work in partnership from a  
24          preventive standpoint when it comes to --  
25          I like the concept of when the basketball

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           games are organized, you have the list so  
3           you can kind of figure out who is coming  
4           to the games.

5                       I say all that to say a lot of  
6           it, at least what I've recognized in  
7           working on the ground and worked with  
8           PAAN before or my own organization, Peace  
9           Not Guns, from a community organizing  
10          standpoint is really gathering the  
11          intelligence about who is participating  
12          in that basketball game, who is coming to  
13          the game, if it's 13th Street projects  
14          and Tasker Street projects and Wilson  
15          Park projects, who all have friends or  
16          buddies playing on these -- playing in  
17          these leagues that draw crowds in  
18          neighborhoods from all across  
19          Philadelphia to come see these games.  
20          And so I just want to really point toward  
21          the intelligent component, who is coming,  
22          who is betting on the basketball games,  
23          who has a stake on this young person who  
24          may be going to the league and then the  
25          dynamics of those relationships,

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           because -- I'm just talking about overall  
3           safety now, with the cameras and the  
4           intelligent component is really -- and  
5           hopefully, Mike, on the Administration  
6           side as we move forward, and I have to  
7           put it out there, we need those programs  
8           like PAAN getting additional funding to  
9           do grassroots outreach work, the  
10          Adolescents Violence Reduction  
11          Partnership to go out there and do  
12          outreach work. Those programs are very,  
13          very successful. With all due respect,  
14          PhillyRising is a good program, but those  
15          programs were tailored specifically  
16          toward -- Adolescents Violence Reduction  
17          program was going after those who carry  
18          the guns, the most dangerous juveniles  
19          who are located in a particular  
20          geographical area. And once you target  
21          them, you can kind of suppress who the  
22          troublemakers are. And then the other  
23          component was that outreach component  
24          where people were on the ground with the  
25          know-how to know that tonight at

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           such-and-such a game, this is going to  
3           jump off, and hopefully that information  
4           is filtered to the commanding officer or  
5           the captains to say, Hey, look, it's  
6           going to be a shootout tonight or 13th  
7           Street is beefing with Tasker projects,  
8           what's the plan.

9                       And so I just want to kind of  
10          get an idea as we talk about public  
11          safety, what's the coordinated effort to  
12          be proactive so we can like address the  
13          issue before the gun is even pulled out.

14                      COMMISSIONER SLAWSON:  
15          Councilman, if it's okay, if I can start  
16          responding to that question.

17                      COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Yes.

18                      COMMISSIONER SLAWSON: So what  
19          we did last year is, I had an initial  
20          meeting with both of the Deputy  
21          Commissioners North and South. After I  
22          met with them, I asked them to bring all  
23          the command staff together so we could  
24          present them with some of this data that  
25          you're talking about, data that we were

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           able to put our hands on, the information  
3           that I shared earlier, our leagues, where  
4           ATVs were going to be bringing about  
5           problems for us.

6                     Our rec leaders are in the  
7           communities. The supervisors in the  
8           districts, the district managers, are  
9           pretty much charged to meet with these  
10          captains on a regular basis, because  
11          they're working with these leaders and  
12          they know, as you're saying, they know  
13          what's going on in these communities. So  
14          they're responsible to have monthly  
15          meetings with the captains, and they do  
16          it all year round, but it picks up right  
17          about now, because this is when it's warm  
18          and things start changing in all  
19          communities.

20                    And so the intel that we get,  
21          we get it from our staff. We pass it on  
22          to the captain. And we're actually  
23          scheduled to meet with Deputy  
24          Commissioner Bethel and his team on March  
25          the 14th to get prepared for this

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           upcoming season.

3                       So we have been doing that.

4           And I pick the phone up. Inspector will

5           tell -- if I know something is going on.

6           There are times where leagues kick off in

7           our -- in various districts and we know

8           nothing about it, and I might stumble

9           upon it, and I'm going to pick the phone

10          up and call and ask for some support for

11          the let-out, for -- if there are two or

12          three hundred young people out at a

13          league, if there's no police presence,

14          something is going to happen. And so

15          there are opportunities like that that

16          our district managers also have

17          relationships with these commanding

18          officers where they can also do the same

19          thing, pick the phone up and say, I heard

20          this is happening, I need some support

21          here. So we've actually been actively

22          doing that.

23                       COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Thank you.

24                       MR. RESNICK: And really that's

25          the boots on the ground level.

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           Commissioner and I and Deputy Mayor  
3           DiBerardinis, Deputy Bethel, the ROC  
4           North and South chiefs, we've met when  
5           there are issues, as the Commissioner  
6           stated, with respect to ATVs, some of the  
7           violence that was plaguing the rec  
8           centers years past. We've met. We've  
9           discussed those issues. And just from  
10          our perspective, making sure that there  
11          is that environment in the Police  
12          Department that's receptive, that they  
13          pick up the phone. They're there, they  
14          listen, they respond. Not that they have  
15          to be convinced because, you know, we're  
16          all in the City together. We want to see  
17          that the parks and recs particularly are  
18          safe places, but just to keep the  
19          pressure on to make sure that that  
20          relationship exists, and we're responding  
21          when they call and just to be open to  
22          whatever their needs are.

23                   COMMANDER JOHNSON: And like  
24                   the Commissioner said, she calls. It  
25                   would be 9:00, 9:30. They're starting a

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           league, I see a game going on, could you  
3           send a police officer out there. And  
4           having just been a captain -- about  
5           three, four months ago I got promoted --  
6           we constantly coordinate with the  
7           recreation leaders. They call us. They  
8           e-mail us. And I think it was last April  
9           when we had that big meeting with her and  
10          her staff, and then that's when we were  
11          able to get the contact information.

12                        So that happens, like you said.  
13          I filled in for Tony down in the 17th.  
14          You remember that.

15                       COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Yes.

16                       COMMANDER JOHNSON: That one  
17          side of the tracks, other side of the  
18          tracks.

19                       So most of the captains are  
20          really aware of that and they step right  
21          on it right away. As soon as they hear  
22          any information, they are right on it,  
23          and the cops that they usually put out at  
24          the games are cops that really actively  
25          engage the community so they can get

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           information back to the captain, and we  
3           got our Criminal Intelligence Unit. So  
4           we're on it. It's way better than when I  
5           started back in '89, trust me.

6                   MR. RESNICK: And just to pick  
7           up on the last thing the Inspector said,  
8           we do have criminal intel officers  
9           imbedded in each of the districts. So  
10          not only are we getting information from  
11          Parks and Rec, they're developing it  
12          themselves in the district. And since we  
13          have that communication that goes two  
14          ways, it works out.

15                   COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Thank you,  
16          Mike.

17                   I want to thank all of you.  
18          And I'm going to wrap up on this one last  
19          note. I'm so supportive of PhillyRising.  
20          I think it's a good program. We do some  
21          partnerships. And I'm speaking to  
22          probably more to my comments which was  
23          based upon an environment I came up in  
24          working with the 17th, working with  
25          Bethel at a particular time, and noticed

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           the importance of eliminating the  
3           potential threat for something to happen  
4           really comes down to intelligence and the  
5           interaction with the neighborhood. Yes,  
6           your rec leader, who is there 24/7 for  
7           the most part working, knows who is who,  
8           what's what, who the new people are  
9           coming and really get the intel.

10                   And so I just wanted to -- I  
11           commend you that there is a coordinated  
12           effort thus far, and I'll continue to  
13           advocate and I'll work with the Public  
14           Safety Chairman that those grassroots  
15           supported organizations like your PAANs,  
16           like your Adolescents Violence Reduction  
17           programs hopefully focus -- the TURN when  
18           that's rolled out. Those type of  
19           initiatives keep the pressure on those  
20           who at the end of the day don't have the  
21           community's best interest at heart. And  
22           that's pretty much how my position has  
23           been, because God forbid, one of my  
24           family members come in the house because  
25           somebody just decided -- most of them

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           can't even aim these days, so it's like,  
3           you know, we want to stop it.

4                     But thank you, though,  
5           Commissioner Slawson, for giving me  
6           clarity on your coordinated preventative  
7           approach to this issue.

8                     COMMISSIONER SLAWSON:  If I  
9           can, just one other thing, your comments  
10          about PAAN.  We have them -- and my  
11          numbers may be a little off.  They're in  
12          six of our facilities, and we've been  
13          working with them lately and we're trying  
14          to get them in more of our facilities,  
15          because they are really important to have  
16          with our young people.  They know what's  
17          going on in the communities, and they  
18          bring something that the rec leaders,  
19          one, they don't have the time to do; and,  
20          two, there's an expertise that they have  
21          that we don't have.  And so we are trying  
22          very hard to work with them even more in  
23          our facilities.

24                     COUNCILWOMAN BASS:  Thank you.

25                     And Chair recognizes Councilman

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           Jones.

3                   COUNCILMAN JONES: Just one  
4           comment. The only good thing about  
5           limited resources and budget crises is it  
6           makes us break down silos and start to  
7           talk to each other and start to use those  
8           resources that we do still have together  
9           in a coordinated effort. And I see it in  
10          the testimony, hear it in the testimony I  
11          heard today, because we're all for one  
12          purpose, us on this side of the table,  
13          you're on that side of the table. None  
14          of us want to come to a crime scene, and  
15          the only prevention is by us working with  
16          community organizations, law enforcement,  
17          recreation, and often elected officials  
18          to come up with solutions that take what  
19          we have to make what is necessary.

20                   So cameras are a part of it,  
21          good commonsense laws that say do not  
22          bring a gun to a basketball game just  
23          makes all the sense in the world to me.  
24          And as we work on the nuances of what is  
25          defined as in or around, which is

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           legitimate, because some smart lawyer  
3           will, no pun intended, smart lawyer will  
4           come up and say that. But what we need  
5           to know is that we need to define that.  
6           It can simply mean on public property.  
7           Just as the minute you come in a park,  
8           the minute you walk on a baseball field,  
9           the minute you walk in one of our  
10          structures, you are violating the intent  
11          of this legislation.

12                        So we'll smooth out the rough  
13          edges, Madam Chair, but this is well in  
14          the right direction, well in the right  
15          direction.

16                        COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Thank you.

17                        And I just want to echo those  
18          sentiments, because I think that we are  
19          moving in the right direction and that --  
20          there have been a number of questions  
21          that have been asked today in terms of  
22          the legality and making sure that we  
23          don't violate anyone's constitutional  
24          rights. And, of course, that's not what  
25          we're intending to do, but we need to get

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           it clarified. We need to make sure that  
3           if we catch someone doing something  
4           foolish, that we can actually -- we don't  
5           want to waste the police time. We don't  
6           want to waste the court's time. We want  
7           to make sure that we do our legwork up  
8           front and that we get it right from the  
9           very beginning.

10                        So I think that having criminal  
11           penalties sends a significant message.  
12           If anyone would suggest that if you put  
13           these penalties out there and people  
14           don't make decisions based on what the  
15           potential penalties are, I would suggest  
16           otherwise. I think if you look at, say,  
17           a city like New York where they have over  
18           eight million people and they have a  
19           homicide rate that's so much lower than  
20           the City of Philadelphia's, people pay  
21           attention. They know that if you get  
22           caught with a firearm, you're in serious  
23           trouble and you're going to do time in  
24           New York. So I think the tougher we can  
25           make the penalties, the stronger we can

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           send the message. It's going to go a  
3           long way.

4                   And so we look forward to  
5           working with Mr. Resnick, and your office  
6           will maybe get together with Council  
7           President Clarke and also the  
8           Commissioner and the Police Department to  
9           make sure that we're all on the same page  
10          as we move forward. So thank you for  
11          your testimony.

12                   MR. RESNICK: Thank you.

13                   COMMISSIONER SLAWSON: Thank  
14          you.

15                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Next we're  
16          going to have our next panel. Will the  
17          Clerk read the names.

18                   THE CLERK: Michael Harris,  
19          Rudy Johnson.

20                   (Witnesses approached witness  
21          table.)

22                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Thank you  
23          for your patience, gentlemen, and for  
24          being here today. If you could state  
25          your name for the record and begin your

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           testimony.

3                   MR. HARRIS: To the Honorable  
4           Chairperson of this Committee and other  
5           distinguished members of City Council, I  
6           count it both as an honor and a privilege  
7           to sit before you this afternoon. My  
8           name is Michael C. Harris. I'm the  
9           Director of Field Operations and Manager  
10          of YVRP for the Philadelphia Anti-Drug/  
11          Anti-Violence Network, better known as  
12          PAAN.

13                   Today I'm here to support the  
14          bills and the efforts put forth around  
15          safety issues that affect the quality of  
16          life and services that impact our  
17          recreation centers. Recreation centers  
18          are not just a place where young people  
19          play games, play ball, swim, and jump  
20          rope or just hang out to have fun, but  
21          they are and must be a vital part of our  
22          communities. But if we fail to keep them  
23          alive and active, then just as any other  
24          abandoned area, they will turn into trash  
25          dumps, drug havens, and shooting ranges

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2       where guns can wreak havoc and eventually  
3       become the graveyards of our future young  
4       people where they will be buried.

5                   It's time to change that. We  
6       must all help to put an end to these  
7       senseless acts of violence by saving and  
8       protecting our children and youth, who  
9       are our most valuable resources for  
10      future generations. Rules and  
11      regulations must be put in place and  
12      enforced when someone commits a crime,  
13      especially with a gun, within the  
14      boundaries of any of our recreation  
15      centers. These places should be safe  
16      havens for our children, youth, and  
17      families for them to come to have fun,  
18      play games, sports, swim, jog or just  
19      relax without the fear of becoming an  
20      innocent victim of a senseless act of  
21      violence.

22                   To effectively address the  
23      rising levels of this type of  
24      behavior/crime, especially dealing with  
25      the problem of youth gun violence,

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2 participants from all communities,  
3 sectors, both public and private, must  
4 work collaboratively and comprehensively  
5 together in order to reduce the episodes  
6 of violence that occur in our  
7 communities, recreation centers, and  
8 schools.

9                       To that end, there are a number  
10 of approaches that can be taken to help  
11 support what needs to be done, things  
12 such as prevention programs, intervention  
13 programs, comprehensive initiatives, and  
14 enrichment programs geared not only  
15 towards our children and youth but our  
16 parents and families as well.

17                      Let me just say in closing, as  
18 an agency for the past 24 years, the  
19 Philadelphia Anti-Drug/Anti-Violence  
20 Network, better known as PAAN, has always  
21 had a motto that we will never cheat a  
22 child, their siblings or their families  
23 out of the services or the resources that  
24 they need to be supported with, and also  
25 that we will work collectively with any

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           positive efforts to reduce violence, gun  
3           violence that impacts and directly  
4           affects the children and their families  
5           and that impacts the quality of life in  
6           our neighborhoods, communities we  
7           service.

8                        Again, I thank you for your  
9           time and your attention concerning this.

10                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Thank you  
11           so much for your testimony. And we're  
12           going to hold questions until we hear  
13           from our next speaker.

14                   MR. JOHNSON: Yes. How ya  
15           doing? My name is Rudy Johnson. I'm the  
16           Director of Programs with the  
17           Philadelphia Anti-Drug/Anti-Violence  
18           Network.

19                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Did you  
20           have additional testimony?

21                   MR. JOHNSON: No. I'm just --

22                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: You're here  
23           for support?

24                   MR. JOHNSON: We're all one.

25                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: All right.

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           Thank you so much for being here.

3                   Any questions -- the Chair  
4           recognizes Councilwoman Blondell Reynolds  
5           Brown.

6                   COUNCILWOMAN BROWN: Good  
7           afternoon, gentlemen.

8                   (Good afternoon.)

9                   COUNCILWOMAN BROWN: And let us  
10          underscore the important work you've been  
11          doing for decades.

12                   Just give us an update on the  
13          status of the organization staff-wise,  
14          funding-wise, and reach, the reach that  
15          you have.

16                   MR. JOHNSON: Well, we are  
17          still a citywide organization. Right  
18          now, funding-wise I'm not really too  
19          familiar with, but in regards to  
20          programming, we're --

21                   MR. HARRIS: We have been very  
22          substantial with programming such as our  
23          Youth Violence Reduction Partnership and  
24          working now in new collaboration with the  
25          Rec Department. We're looking to do what

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           we call an OPT, which is On the Parent  
3           Tip. We want to start a program at the  
4           King Center as a pilot that works with  
5           first-time fathers to help them enrich  
6           their ability to know how to become a  
7           father and what it is to be a father.  
8           Not only that, but we also are doing  
9           youth enrichment programs with some of  
10          our YPs at different rec centers across  
11          the City.

12                       One thing in general that I  
13          recognize is that through our partnership  
14          with our brother agency, NuSigma Youth  
15          Services, we also run the Sigma Shark  
16          Football program down at the Chew  
17          Recreation Center that encompasses over a  
18          hundred of young people and help them.  
19          But, again, our main focus and always has  
20          been our focus is to try to help with the  
21          quality of life and the quality of  
22          services across the City, and especially  
23          those things that impact on our young  
24          people and families.

25                       COUNCILWOMAN BROWN: Any

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           linkages with Big Brother/Big Sisters?  
3           Because they are desperate and hungry for  
4           big brothers.

5                   MR. JOHNSON: We've actually  
6           referred some people to Big Brothers  
7           through our truancy program, our  
8           prevention service program. We do have a  
9           relationship with them. We've done some  
10          in the past. But many of our mentoring  
11          systems that we connect to will be  
12          through NuSigma Youth Services. They  
13          have a mentoring program as well.

14                   COUNCILWOMAN BROWN: Okay.  
15          Thank you.

16                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Thank you.  
17                   The Chair recognizes Councilman  
18          Johnson.

19                   COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Yes. So  
20          in terms of your budget, do you know the  
21          percentage of your budget that comes  
22          through contracts with the City?

23                   MR. JOHNSON: I don't have that  
24          information at this time.

25                   COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Okay.

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           Hopefully as we move forward -- and I'm  
3           not one of those elected officials that  
4           can talk about ideas without really  
5           recognizing there's a cost to every idea,  
6           but I also do recognize that you judge a  
7           person's character based upon how they  
8           spend their budget. It will tell you  
9           what your priorities are. And when we  
10          talk about the issue of public safety, we  
11          talk about the issue of youth gun  
12          violence, and we're caught up in a  
13          variety of other different issues that  
14          we're focusing on right now, but this is  
15          one of these -- this is one of those  
16          pressing issues that impacts a  
17          significant population of young people in  
18          the City of Philadelphia. It keeps us on  
19          the national map for not a good thing but  
20          something that's negative, and hopefully  
21          as we move forward -- I'm one of them  
22          people who look at this issue -- and  
23          everybody have their own approach, but I  
24          definitely know that grassroots  
25          component, that mentorship component,

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           those putting those options out there and  
3           in front of young people that deter some.  
4           Because you're going to have some that's  
5           just going to want to do what they want  
6           to do, but you're going to have some  
7           that's just hanging around that needs  
8           somebody like PAAN intervening, coming up  
9           to my school, stopping a fight from  
10          happening so it won't be gunplay after  
11          the fight, just the need to continue  
12          supporting organizations such as your  
13          own.

14                       And so that's just something I  
15          want to put out there for the record.  
16          I'm going to pay close attention to as  
17          you move forward not only today but just  
18          in general because of the need that's out  
19          there.

20                       Thank you.

21                       MR. JOHNSON: Thank you.

22                       COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Thank you,  
23          Councilman.

24                       And Chair recognizes Councilman  
25          Jones.

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2                   COUNCILMAN JONES: While I have  
3           an opportunity to give you platitudes  
4           while the sun is shining and you can  
5           smell the roses, I too want to echo my  
6           colleague and the sentiment that we need  
7           to know what you need, because you on a  
8           daily basis make a difference in all of  
9           our districts, particularly mine. There  
10          are lots that are cleaned, graffiti that  
11          is removed, sites that I would be afraid  
12          to walk in by myself that your guys have  
13          gone into and taken care of for us. And,  
14          therefore, we want to know what we can do  
15          in the upcoming budget for you.

16                   Councilman Johnson is right, we  
17          are -- we can say what we want, but we're  
18          judged by what we fund. And he's  
19          absolutely right about that. And so I  
20          don't know what you need. You need to  
21          know what you need. And I will join with  
22          my colleagues in fighting for that,  
23          because I understand you had some  
24          cutbacks recently?

25                   MR. HARRIS: Yes.

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           COUNCILMAN JONES: I don't like  
3           that. I'm just going to say that for the  
4           record. So whatever it is -- and I know  
5           that's a reality of the world we live in,  
6           but we're going to put our money where  
7           our mouth is. So we're with you.

8           MR. HARRIS: And I also just  
9           want to say thank you, Councilman. The  
10          impact that you made on the lives of the  
11          young people over the past summer when we  
12          had our summer job project and especially  
13          in your district where they were able to  
14          help beautify some of the neighborhoods  
15          in that area, but when you brought them  
16          down here to City Council and afforded  
17          them the opportunity to stand in front of  
18          the whole City Council and to be  
19          recognized for the work that they did  
20          made a difference in their lives and it  
21          has impacted on them tremendously, and we  
22          say thank you.

23          COUNCILMAN JONES: You're  
24          welcome.

25          COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Thank you.

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2                   And Chair recognizes Councilman  
3 Johnson.

4                   COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Thank you,  
5 Madam Chair. Just the last thing.

6                   So you're working with the  
7 Department of Recreation, correct?

8                   MR. JOHNSON: Yes.

9                   COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: So this is  
10 just a partnership, but no resources come  
11 from the Department of Rec. It's just  
12 more of a communication that you guys  
13 should be working together?

14                  MR. JOHNSON: Yes.

15                  MR. HARRIS: That's correct.

16                  COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Thank you.

17                  COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Thank you  
18 very much.

19                  I think that that's very  
20 interesting and that's something that we  
21 should have some further dialogue and  
22 conversation about, particularly in light  
23 of the work you do. I want to thank you  
24 for all that you do and, in particular,  
25 your work with young people, which goes a

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           really long way in our neighborhoods,  
3           because as you just mentioned, having  
4           Councilman Curtis Jones interact with the  
5           programs that you're running and having  
6           the young people come down here, it goes  
7           a long way.

8                       When I was a young person, I  
9           was in one of those programs that  
10          supported the activities in my community  
11          at my local playground, at Whittier  
12          Playground, and without the interaction  
13          of people like you who run programs like  
14          this and someone like a Councilman Jones,  
15          there's a lot of us who would be -- would  
16          have been lost along the way. So I just,  
17          again, want to thank you for all that you  
18          do.

19                      MR. HARRIS: Thank you.

20                      COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Thank you  
21          for being here.

22                      MR. HARRIS: Thank you.

23                      COUNCILWOMAN BASS: And with  
24          that, we're going to have our next panel.

25                      THE CLERK: Shira Goodman,

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           Jeffrey Hackett.

3                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: And while  
4           they're coming forward, I would like to  
5           state that Lauren Bornfriend, who is the  
6           Executive Director of the Philadelphia  
7           Parks Alliance, and Robert P. Thomas, who  
8           is the Board President, have submitted  
9           written testimony to be added to the  
10          record. And actually we have written  
11          testimony from the District Attorney as  
12          well.

13                   (Witnesses approached witness  
14          table.)

15                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: And with  
16          that, would you like to state your name  
17          and begin your testimony.

18                   MS. GOODMAN: Thank you. Shira  
19          Goodman. I'm the Director of CeaseFire  
20          Pennsylvania. Thank you for having me  
21          today.

22                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Thank you  
23          for being here.

24                   MS. GOODMAN: CeaseFire PA is a  
25          statewide coalition of over 50,000

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           Pennsylvanians - mayors, police chiefs,  
3           faith leaders, and community  
4           organizations - working together to take  
5           a stand against gun violence. We do that  
6           through education, outreach, coalition  
7           building, and advocacy. We've partnered  
8           with cities and with members of this  
9           Council and with Philadelphia especially  
10          to take action. And I'd like today to  
11          just note that the bills that are being  
12          considered are part of a long history in  
13          Philadelphia of taking action where the  
14          state would not take action to protect  
15          our communities.

16                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Yes.

17                   MS. GOODMAN: And we've worked  
18          with Philadelphia and almost 50 other  
19          communities, towns, and municipalities  
20          across the state to take action where the  
21          state has failed to. So we commend the  
22          Council for doing that.

23                   I will just note that as a  
24          lawyer, I don't have concerns that these  
25          bills are problematic under the Second

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           Amendment or the Pennsylvania  
3           Constitution, because I think it's clear  
4           that although there is a right to bear  
5           arms, that right, like our other  
6           constitutional freedoms, is subject to  
7           reasonable restriction.

8                       I do share Councilman Oh's  
9           questions about preemption, but the Law  
10          Department's explanation as explained by  
11          the prior panel I think is something that  
12          the courts could determine, and I think  
13          it is a logical argument, and  
14          Philadelphia especially has never shied  
15          away from this fight. I think that  
16          together we need to keep working to  
17          convince our state to take action, and if  
18          it will not, to let our cities and towns  
19          take action to protect our communities.

20                      And I'm happy to take more  
21          questions, but I commend you on the  
22          effort, and we stand as a willing partner  
23          to work with you.

24                      COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Thank you  
25          very much.

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2                   MR. HACKETT: Good afternoon,  
3 Council President and members of the  
4 Council. My name is Jeffrey Hackett. I  
5 come here with 24 years of uninterrupted  
6 volunteer services to our youth.

7                   I'd like to state that I take  
8 pleasure in this opportunity to address  
9 this wonderful group of Councilpeople,  
10 and I say wonderful group because anybody  
11 that comes out of their self to recognize  
12 children puts a down payment on our  
13 future. So I commend you guys on that  
14 part always, and that's where my charge  
15 comes from. Where it came from, I don't  
16 know. I don't question it anymore. I  
17 just know that's my charge.

18                   I currently sit as President of  
19 the Helen G. Sturgis Playground Advisory  
20 Board, Chair of the 35th District Police  
21 District Advisory Council, and I also sit  
22 as a Commissioner on the Park and  
23 Recreation's Board. But I come to you  
24 today as more so a PDAC member, a parent,  
25 and a grandfather because of the concerns

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           that we have about the gun issues and the  
3           gunplay. So my statement is more of a  
4           citizen's point of view than anything  
5           else that I do.

6                       I take great pride in my  
7           advocacy for children and young adults  
8           that seek direction in our great parks  
9           and recreation system. We try to  
10          reintroduce our sometimes troubled youth  
11          back into the community by providing  
12          activities that include dealing with  
13          seniors, parents, and concerned singles  
14          to address their needs. We have found  
15          the grassroots approach to be very  
16          effective. We go hands-on by first  
17          rebuilding trust and consistency in their  
18          lives. We offer a choice, but include  
19          community impact in that offer.

20                      All that we offer is attached  
21          to a zero tolerance practice that  
22          includes the adults as well as the youth.  
23          We lead by example.

24                      I heard somebody talking about  
25          this. Last year we did not do our adult

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           and young adult basketball league because  
3           of rumor of retaliatory behaviors between  
4           two drug factions. So we opted not to do  
5           the league, and believe it or not, at the  
6           request of some of the players. It  
7           didn't come from adults. They respect  
8           what we do. They look forward for what  
9           we do, because this is the only  
10          camaraderie they have that they can let  
11          their guard down because of our zero  
12          tolerance. And they didn't want to ruin  
13          the system that we have in play and the  
14          group activity.

15                 We've had up to 500 youth up  
16          there, and for seven years, we haven't  
17          had any incidents, because I personally  
18          have sent about 20 guns home. We walk  
19          around, we look, we see. You just put a  
20          gun in your car. Man, take that home.  
21          Get that gun out your gym bag. We get to  
22          know who is who.

23                 So I stand strong with my  
24          commitment with this, and I support this  
25          a hundred percent.

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           Yes, some of our youth are  
3       troubled, but we feel none are lost. So  
4       we give them the opportunity to reinvent  
5       themselves by not judging their past, but  
6       concentrating on their presents to build  
7       hope for their future.

8           Gunplay is a serious issue that  
9       calls for all of our attention and the  
10      support of every concerned citizen in our  
11      beautiful city. I believe every possible  
12      measure to keep all involved informed  
13      about any incident that can negatively  
14      impact the precious balance of harmony in  
15      our parks and recreation systems and the  
16      City as well be reported to all  
17      concerned, thus creating a network of  
18      leaders that will be able to address  
19      these issues as they develop. An  
20      informed mind is an equipped mind.

21           I stand in support of any  
22      effort that will help curb the growing  
23      activity of gunplay in our city. Guns  
24      are nothing to play with, and we must act  
25      now or face a rough and painful road.

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2                   I'd like to thank everyone that  
3 chooses to stand up for cooperation and  
4 safety. And I would also like to  
5 submit -- I had short notice, but I have  
6 DC numbers of incidents that happened in  
7 or around rec centers in the 35th  
8 District where I'm Chair of the Police  
9 Advisory Board. These are things that we  
10 address, but also I didn't hear --  
11 there's something called Night Rec. A  
12 couple of these incidents were around  
13 schools where we partner with the school  
14 to have activities inside of school  
15 buildings.

16                   So I would like to -- what I do  
17 includes, because we deal with a lot of  
18 schools too in our area, try to introduce  
19 something that would include no  
20 boundaries for the Department of Rec to  
21 have jurisdiction on putting the rules on  
22 anything that's attached to the  
23 Department of Rec's name since I  
24 represent the Department of Rec in my  
25 personal behaviors, you know. So that I

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2       would just like to introduce that that be  
3       looked at to expand upon their control  
4       over the type of programs that are run,  
5       because Commissioner Slawson talked about  
6       sometimes programs develop and nobody  
7       knows about it, but they're using the use  
8       of activity, building activity, for a  
9       program and then you find out there's a  
10      game in this gym under the name of the  
11      Department of Rec, and it may be a  
12      game -- and I think Councilman Johnson  
13      talked about when you have these betting  
14      games, we've broken up games because the  
15      drug dealers sponsored teams. And it's a  
16      different type of basketball game, and  
17      not to mention areas, but we all know  
18      some of the areas where they're turned  
19      into just a drug dealer's haven and  
20      everyone that's participating is at risk.  
21      So I don't advocate for that. I advocate  
22      that we do have some control or sanction  
23      over who has a permit to operate anything  
24      that has to do with the Department of Rec  
25      in any activity, not just basketball but

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           any activity, but certainly our youth and  
3           children.

4                     Thank you guys.

5                     COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Absolutely.

6                     The Chair recognizes Councilman  
7           Johnson.

8                     COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: I just  
9           want to wrap up on this note.

10          Ms. Goodman, I just want to commend you  
11          on your efforts in advocating for  
12          responsible, commonsense gun laws, not  
13          only in the City of Philadelphia but also  
14          throughout the State of Pennsylvania.  
15          And so I just want to tell you keep up  
16          the good work as well.

17                    Mr. Hackett, your grassroots  
18          approach -- and I remember when you came  
19          here and did the hearing when we were  
20          vetting individuals to sit on the Parks  
21          and Rec Commission. I just want to tell  
22          you to keep up the passion, keep up the  
23          commitment.

24                    Our young people, I don't  
25          believe that there are any throwaway

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2       kids. Somebody took some time with me  
3       early on and my little -- somebody took  
4       some time with me, I'm going to just  
5       leave it like that, early on. And even  
6       Curtis Jones, my Majority Leader, took  
7       some time when I was like in between grad  
8       school and trying to figure out what I  
9       wanted to do, gave me a shot.

10                   And so just keep up that  
11       commitment, that passion. This is a  
12       very, very complex issue that we're  
13       dealing with, because we're dealing with  
14       lives, and at the end of the day, you  
15       know, I'm one to believe that like no  
16       person is an island. So what impacts one  
17       person directly still has an impact on  
18       all of us indirectly, rather you're  
19       sitting home watching TV and you're  
20       hearing about something or you're  
21       directly in the line of fire or related  
22       to someone. So I just want to commend  
23       both of you. Keep up the good fight.

24                   MS. GOODMAN: Thank you.

25                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Thank you,

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           Councilman.

3                   The Chair recognizes Councilman

4           Oh.

5                   COUNCILMAN OH: Thank you very  
6           much, Chairwoman.

7                   I do also commend and  
8           appreciate all your hard work. I will  
9           have questions, not to be kind of devil's  
10          advocate, but just to throw and get your  
11          opinions.

12                   The issue of good and  
13          commonsense gun laws and a lot of the  
14          incidents that I've heard about today  
15          involve illegal guns, guns that were not  
16          purchased by responsible persons in a  
17          lawful manner, that type of thing, and  
18          ultimately there is an issue of harsh,  
19          strict penalties for people with illegal  
20          guns.

21                   What part of the protection and  
22          safety do you believe, if you believe --  
23          I don't know that you believe -- have to  
24          do with regulating or restricting the  
25          persons with lawful permits from going to

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           public areas?

3                   MS. GOODMAN: Well, I think  
4           you're right that we have a very big  
5           problem with illegal guns, and many of  
6           the incidences we heard about, even if  
7           these laws had been in effect, they would  
8           have already been legal violations.

9                   I think that the issue -- and,  
10          again, this would probably be subject to  
11          court challenge and it would determine  
12          what our courts decided, but we live in a  
13          society where unfortunately small  
14          disagreements escalate, and because of  
15          easy access to guns, they become lethal,  
16          where they might have just been a fight.  
17          That still would have been a problem, but  
18          wouldn't have been deadly.

19                  So the fact that we live in a  
20          society that does allow people, even  
21          law-abiding gun owners, to get permits  
22          like that. And so that access is  
23          problematic and that there's ready access  
24          creates and exacerbates those tensions.

25                  I think if we are identifying

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           different places in our society where  
3           people shouldn't have such access -- and  
4           certain private institutions can do that  
5           and certainly you can't bring a gun into  
6           this building and our schools -- I think  
7           that that's part of what this Council is  
8           determining, are there other places where  
9           we think tensions can escalate quickly or  
10          where there's big crowds that we don't  
11          think even law-abiding gun owners should  
12          be having permits. I think that's  
13          something that you need to take testimony  
14          on and decide, but I think that's the  
15          question here. And we know that what the  
16          state law says is, they don't -- they're  
17          trying to preempt the regulation of the  
18          legal use of guns. So other things that  
19          this Council has done and the City has  
20          done have directly affected illegal use.  
21          And so I think that the theory that the  
22          Law Department is saying is that this  
23          isn't about the use of guns, but it's  
24          about public property is an interesting  
25          one that holds water. But I do think

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           that that's the broader question is, are  
3           there places in our society where we  
4           think that the access to guns exacerbates  
5           tension.

6                       COUNCILMAN OH: So if there are  
7           youth that have illegal guns and they are  
8           turned away because somebody knows them  
9           and some person has determined that it is  
10          best to turn them away as opposed to  
11          having them arrested and prosecuted and  
12          incarcerated, but that means those  
13          illegal guns are still on the streets.  
14          Whereas you can regulate legal guns,  
15          you're not regulating illegal guns in  
16          this process.

17                      MS. GOODMAN: Right. I mean, I  
18          think that raises a good question, and I  
19          think they go hand in hand. Some of the  
20          people who are working daily with youth  
21          might agree. I think if somebody knows  
22          that there's a youth there with an  
23          illegal gun, that the answer isn't just  
24          you can't play basketball tonight. I  
25          think the authority should be alerted. I

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           think that people need to know that  
3           carrying illegal guns on the streets of  
4           Philadelphia are going to have serious  
5           consequences, that the police are going  
6           to arrest them, that the prosecutors are  
7           going to ask for serious jail time and  
8           judges are going to give it. That's why  
9           we bring people into the courts through  
10          Court Watch to testify about the impact  
11          on our community. Those cases where  
12          we're invited, usually the gun is not  
13          fired. They're possession or  
14          trafficking, and people come up and say,  
15          Just because that gun wasn't fired  
16          doesn't mean that's not doing harm to my  
17          community. I can't have my kids outside.  
18          I don't feel safe to sit out on the  
19          stoop.

20                        I think that we do need to  
21          change that culture, the answer there,  
22          and I know that there is an issue of what  
23          about -- what are you doing to a kid who  
24          you're now putting in jail, but what are  
25          you doing -- where's he going with that

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           gun when he gets kicked out of the  
3           basketball game.

4                       So I think if a responsible  
5           adult knows there's an illegal gun, they  
6           have to do something to get that gun off  
7           the street, and there have to be serious  
8           consequences. And I think serious  
9           consequences will have an impact down the  
10          road that people know that carrying those  
11          guns, you're not just getting a slap on  
12          the wrist.

13                      COUNCILMAN OH: I do agree, and  
14          while we're not all of the same opinion,  
15          I have been in support of serious  
16          consequences for carrying illegal weapons  
17          and particularly using illegal weapons,  
18          but there are differences of opinions as  
19          to how to effectively do this, which are  
20          opinions different from mine, which I do  
21          respect. And so I do appreciate and  
22          thank you for your testimony.

23                      I always kind of hesitate a  
24          little bit and I'd like to share that as  
25          to what kind of I think about, because

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           I'd like to get responses, maybe not  
3           today, but I'll just publicly say that  
4           many Philadelphians, not every  
5           Philadelphian obviously, but many  
6           Philadelphians are experienced in living  
7           in neighborhoods where most of the  
8           neighborhood folk don't come out, and the  
9           reason they don't come out is because  
10          it's unsafe and they're afraid to come  
11          out, and because there are armed and  
12          dangerous people in the community that  
13          occupy the parks and the playgrounds and  
14          the corners and sometimes even the front  
15          of your steps. They may sit on your car.  
16          They may sit on your porch, and they  
17          challenge you to do anything about it.

18                       And as many -- as people try to  
19          contact the police or do things like  
20          that, it's been, not everyone's, but many  
21          people's experience that there's a lack  
22          of adequate law enforcement that is  
23          responsive and capable, and there is  
24          retribution for anything that a person  
25          may do.

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2                   In those situations, I am very  
3       sympathetic, I will say, to those people  
4       who do get out of their house and go to  
5       the playground and sit in the parks. And  
6       I will say that some of them are armed,  
7       and that's why they go out, and they let  
8       everybody know they're armed. And people  
9       who have guns are aware of that. There's  
10      a danger of escalation, that's true, but  
11      they are exercising their rights in a  
12      legal way. They have the right to do  
13      that, and if not for that gun, they would  
14      not be going out.

15                  I think about the people who  
16      have been victims of crime, who are weak  
17      and frail, be it a woman who has been a  
18      victim of a serious rape or an elderly  
19      person, and if they say to me that they  
20      have a legal right, that they are  
21      properly licensed, that they would like  
22      to go out and go about -- I'm not saying  
23      they could go anywhere. I'm not saying  
24      that. I'm saying I would like those type  
25      of issues kind of brought into this

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2       perspective when we are trying to  
3       regulate illegal and criminal behavior as  
4       opposed to particularly the guns. And I  
5       do agree that it makes sense to limit the  
6       guns. The question is, can you limit all  
7       the guns? Can you enforce those criminal  
8       laws with the same level of energy that  
9       you can take things from law-abiding  
10      citizens?

11                   And that's just an issue that I  
12      think about that I would like to -- and  
13      I'm certainly open for any other types of  
14      input as well.

15                   Thank you very much.

16                   MS. GOODMAN: I think it's a  
17      fair question, and certainly we don't  
18      want -- I don't think Council wants to be  
19      passing ordinances or laws in the City  
20      that deter law-abiding people from being  
21      part of the city and being part of the  
22      community, and I think it's a fair  
23      question. The idea that only -- we hear  
24      all the time -- only the law-abiding  
25      citizens follow the law about guns.

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2                   I also don't think more guns is  
3       the answer. I think it's something we  
4       have to figure out, and maybe we do need  
5       to talk about stronger police presence  
6       and more resources for them to enforce it  
7       and, again, stronger penalties and no  
8       deals with prosecutors and the judges.

9                   So I think they go hand in  
10      hand, regulatory measures and criminal  
11      enforcement. But it's a challenge, and  
12      we live in a challenging society. And I  
13      want to be clear that we respect the  
14      Second Amendment. I have gun owners on  
15      my staff. We partner with gun owners.  
16      We believe that we want the same things  
17      as law-abiding gun owners, which is  
18      safety in our society and people not  
19      needing to resort to guns to feel safe,  
20      but having the right to. But, again,  
21      it's that issue of are there places where  
22      the presence of guns -- does it make  
23      people safer or does it make people less  
24      safe.

25                   COUNCILMAN OH: Thank you very

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           much.

3                       MS. GOODMAN: Thank you.

4                       COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Thank you.

5                       I just want to add on to that  
6           too, because I think that -- I understand  
7           the Councilman's issues and concerns, but  
8           I think that there is very much a  
9           targeted population that we're going  
10          after when we talk about you can't carry  
11          a gun into a recreation center, and that  
12          I think the first step is to make sure  
13          that if you're carrying an illegal  
14          handgun, that you know that there are  
15          penalties associated and we are going to  
16          prosecute to the fullest extent of the  
17          law. So that's not everybody who is  
18          carrying a gun.

19                      But at the same time, as we  
20          talk about public locations, when we meet  
21          here every Thursday in City Council, you  
22          can't just come in here with a gun. When  
23          you go into the State Capitol, when you  
24          go into the Capitol in Washington or any  
25          of these government institutions where

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           there are legislators, despite the fact  
3           that you may have been the victim of a  
4           crime, you can't walk in with a handgun.

5                       And so I certainly understand  
6           your concern. We don't want to do  
7           anything illegal, but there is a certain  
8           population that we are targeting. And if  
9           it's good enough for legislators, then it  
10          certainly should be good enough for our  
11          children in playgrounds and recreation  
12          centers. So we should just continue to  
13          have that conversation. So we're going  
14          to work on it, Councilman. We're working  
15          on it.

16                      But we do want to do what's  
17          legal. So we don't want to have a  
18          lawsuit against the City of Philadelphia  
19          because we violated someone's  
20          constitutional right. So we certainly  
21          don't want to do that, and that should be  
22          a part of the conversation.

23                      Councilman Johnson.

24                      COUNCILMAN JOHNSON: Yes.

25          Thank you, Madam Chair, and I'll wrap up

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           again on this last note. But I do thank  
3           you for the clarity, because even as I  
4           was sitting here and going through the  
5           legislation, I know I had some questions  
6           earlier, but you also put things in  
7           context in terms of what publicly  
8           regulated space is, that you can't come  
9           in and -- you can have a legitimate  
10          permit, but it's just on this day when  
11          you come inside this building, you're not  
12          bringing your gun inside this building.  
13          So you're going to have to leave it in  
14          the car, take care of your business,  
15          rather it's the State Capitol, rather  
16          it's the federal building on 6th Street,  
17          leave it outside and you can get it when  
18          you come back outside. So you did put  
19          some clarity in the context of this  
20          conversation. I just wanted to say thank  
21          you. Duly noted.

22                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Thank you.  
23          Thank you.

24                   Is there anyone else here to  
25          testify?

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           (No response.)

3           COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Well, thank  
4           you very much for your testimony, and  
5           thank you for staying. I know that you  
6           have a train to catch.

7           Sir, you wanted to make a  
8           statement?

9           MR. SAVAGE: Yes.

10          COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Feel free  
11          to come forward and state your name for  
12          the record.

13          (Witness approached witness  
14          table.)

15          MR. SAVAGE: Good afternoon,  
16          Councilwoman and Councilmen. I am just  
17          an average --

18          COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Please  
19          state your name for the record.

20          MR. SAVAGE: I'm sorry. Wick  
21          Savage.

22          COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Thank you.

23          MR. SAVAGE: I've been walking  
24          in these halls for about 30 years. This  
25          is the first time I've ever come to any

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           committee meeting or Council meeting.  
3           And I'm here for some other matters, but  
4           I just happened to stick my head in the  
5           door and I saw the Council body --  
6           members of the Council body hard at work.

7                     I first want to recognize  
8           Chairman -- the Chairwoman. I also want  
9           to recognize Councilman Jones, which is  
10          the Public Safety Chairman, and I want to  
11          also recognize Councilwoman Brown, and I  
12          also want to recognize Councilman  
13          Kenyatta Johnson, which is Councilman in  
14          my family's, one of my family's,  
15          district. And also I want to recognize  
16          the new recent Councilman Chung, is it?

17                    COUNCILMAN OH: Oh.

18                    COUNCILWOMAN BASS: David Oh.

19                    MR. SAVAGE: I'm sorry.

20          There's a host of things that I can just  
21          spend some time talking about and it  
22          starts with the gun and it also starts  
23          with recreation. And recreation is based  
24          on I have six young grandsons, one  
25          granddaughter. They all across this

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           country, two of them in Rhode Island,  
3           three of them in Councilman Johnson's  
4           district, two of them in here in  
5           Councilman Jones' district, and I also  
6           have a residence in Councilman Jones'  
7           district.

8                       I did a report in 1991  
9           pertaining to resources for young people,  
10          and in that vast report, the one thing  
11          that it said very clear, that this  
12          behavior of young people is a social  
13          issue.

14                      There are hundreds and hundreds  
15          of young people go to Disney World every  
16          year. Their parents save up for it. My  
17          kids have went. Some of your kids might  
18          have went. But there's a vast amount of  
19          young people that never could afford to  
20          go to Disney World.

21                      When I was a young man in this  
22          city, my recreation facility was very,  
23          very important to me, partially standing  
24          now, which was the Strawberry Mansion  
25          Recreation Center on the Strawberry

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           Mansion mansion grounds across from Robin  
3           Hood Dell. It is no longer in the  
4           condition to function. It taught me  
5           everything from making a pothole to  
6           sewing basket weaving baskets to take  
7           home to my family. And I was very proud  
8           of those accomplishments.

9                     Young people today are just  
10          barely looking for something to do. They  
11          are competing with all sorts of other  
12          matters in their life. Some of them are  
13          raising their family at 16, 15. I never  
14          had that problem. I had two parents that  
15          tried to show me the good things of life.  
16          They sacrificed. Young people's parents  
17          today, they can't even sacrifice because  
18          they're busy trying to survive.

19                    So I think it's very important  
20          to this body here to take its vast  
21          resources, which the City has, and try  
22          their best to think outside the box to  
23          help these young people make better  
24          decisions. Because the gun -- this is  
25          like in the old Wild Wild West. The

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           sheriff used to say, Stop right here,  
3           give me your gun. There's only going to  
4           be one gun in this town, the sheriff's  
5           gun.

6                       Young people are in love with  
7           the gun because they're not in love with  
8           themselves. And we hear all kind of  
9           remarks and all kind of issues pertaining  
10          to the gun. It's my right to have the  
11          gun. Sleep with your gun. What does the  
12          Army tell you when you go to the  
13          military? Love your gun.

14                      You don't think young people  
15          don't have the same beliefs? They love  
16          that gun, because that gun gives them  
17          respect. And once they go to jail for  
18          life or take someone's life, they realize  
19          the gun isn't what it's been built up to  
20          be.

21                      There's a way with some  
22          creative thinking to employ at least 500  
23          young people in this city. They have to  
24          feel as though they have a part of  
25          ownership. And that young person is

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           going to tell that guy that got a gun,  
3           Hey, man, you can't come here. Hey, man,  
4           you can't come around. You're affecting  
5           my ability to earn income for my family  
6           and my loved ones.

7                     You know, my mother and a dear  
8           friend of probably a few Councilmembers  
9           was very close to Edwina Baker. Edwina  
10          Baker was my godmother. They was  
11          determined --

12                    COUNCILWOMAN BROWN: Sir, point  
13          of information. There are many who miss  
14          the voice of Edwina Baker.

15                    MR. SAVAGE: I'm quite sure.  
16          Thank you, Councilwoman.

17                    I'm quite sure the same concept  
18          that Edwina Baker had among other women  
19          in this town when they said they were  
20          going to stop the gang violence, the same  
21          approach can happen here in the City  
22          pertaining to violence on young people.

23                    You know, the X Games, it's no  
24          different than what these guys are doing  
25          here in the City of Philadelphia on their

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           mopeds and their dirt bikes. The

3           difference is the X Games are organized.

4           Why can't we have a Vet right here in

5           downtown Philadelphia for the young

6           people of the City to show their skills?

7           Because I'mma tell you, whether it's in

8           North Philly, South Philly, Southwest

9           Philly, they doing things with those

10          bikes that I could never imagine doing.

11          Why can't we take that energy and make it

12          a positive thing?

13                        I'm done.

14                        COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Thank you

15          for your testimony.

16                        MR. SAVAGE: Thank you very

17          much.

18                        COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Good to see

19          you. I've known you for a long time and

20          I know that you used -- I notice you said

21          you're a resident of another district,

22          but you used to be a resident of the 8th

23          District.

24                        MR. SAVAGE: Yes.

25                        COUNCILWOMAN BASS: We're going

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           to work to bring you back.

3                   MR. SAVAGE: Well, you have to  
4           speak to Councilman Jones about that.

5                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: We'll work  
6           on him.

7                   But I know that you have been  
8           involved with the community for a long  
9           time, and also I remember many years ago  
10          that you had a community plan which would  
11          have developed sort of like a youth  
12          entertainment center in a particular part  
13          of Northwest Philadelphia, and people  
14          didn't want it. People didn't want -- it  
15          was sort of like, as I remember, it was  
16          like roller skating and video arcade  
17          and --

18                   MR. SAVAGE: You have a very  
19          good memory.

20                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Thank you.  
21          But I just remember that it was something  
22          that would have really been fantastic,  
23          and people didn't want it because, Well,  
24          we don't know who is coming, we don't  
25          know who is coming from outside the

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           neighborhood. And it became a little bit  
3           controversial for all the wrong reasons.  
4           So now if I live in Northwest  
5           Philadelphia or North Philadelphia and I  
6           want to take my daughter roller skating,  
7           I have to go out Roosevelt Boulevard to  
8           the Northeast to go roller skating. So  
9           there's nothing in our area for our young  
10          people to do.

11                       And so there needs to be many  
12          more opportunities for our young people  
13          to have activities in their communities,  
14          and I think that that will go a long way  
15          to stemming this culture of violence that  
16          we see that our young people have, when  
17          you talk about love your guns and -- that  
18          stuff is real. Our young people don't --  
19          it's different from when I was coming up,  
20          and having a gun was certainly a taboo  
21          and where did you get that and how did  
22          you get that? Now it's just so  
23          commonplace that it's hard to recognize  
24          or hard to understand and realize just  
25          how easy it is to obtain a gun, to use a

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           gun. It's almost like buying candy from  
3           the candy store.

4                   And so I just wanted to thank  
5           you for being here, number one, and for  
6           your statements and, number two, for the  
7           work that you have done and have also  
8           attempted to do on behalf of our young  
9           people for a very long time. So thank  
10          you.

11                   MR. SAVAGE: Council Chair,  
12          thank you very much for them compliments.  
13          And I just want to say one more closing  
14          statement. Councilman Chinchéz?

15                   COUNCILWOMAN SANCHEZ: Sanchez.

16                   MR. SAVAGE: Sanchez is also  
17          the Councilwoman in my granddaughter's  
18          district. She had came to my  
19          granddaughter's dance recital sometime  
20          ago and she was introduced to my  
21          granddaughter -- or my granddaughter was  
22          introduced to her.

23                   This is not rocket science.  
24          This is not rocket science. If we -- if  
25          young people do not get any direction in

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2           their history, they're going to lose  
3           their future.

4                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Absolutely.  
5           Well, I want to thank you for being here.  
6           I also, before you go, I want to  
7           acknowledge for the record that we've  
8           been joined by Councilwoman Maria  
9           Quinones-Sanchez. And I won't hold it  
10          against you that you got members and  
11          family in every other district except  
12          mine. So we'll work on that. We're  
13          going to work on that. But thank you  
14          very much for your testimony today.

15                   MR. SAVAGE: I want to also  
16          thank this body for taking the time out  
17          to listen to my running-off rhetoric  
18          pertaining to the City of Philadelphia,  
19          and I hope I can be of some use to anyone  
20          that is sitting on this panel.

21                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Thank you  
22          very much. We'll find a way to make use  
23          of you. Thank you very much for being  
24          here.

25                   And with that, is there anyone

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           else here to testify?

3                   (No response.)

4                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: And with  
5           that, that concludes testimony on Bills  
6           No. 120827, 120828, and 130065. This now  
7           concludes the public hearing of the  
8           Committee on Parks, Recreation and  
9           Cultural Affairs, and we will now go into  
10          our public meeting shortly.

11                  The Chair now recognizes  
12          Councilmember Jones for a motion on Bill  
13          No. 120827.

14                  COUNCILMAN JONES: Thank you,  
15          Madam Chair. I offer an amendment to  
16          Bill No. 120827. These amendments  
17          submitted by the Law Department are  
18          technical in nature, and I move for Bill  
19          No. 120827 to be amended as proposed by  
20          the Law Department.

21                  (Duly seconded.)

22                  COUNCILWOMAN BASS: It's been  
23          moved and properly seconded that Bill No.  
24          120827 be amended to allow for technical  
25          amendments as proposed by the Law

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           Department.

3                   All those in favor say aye.

4                   (Aye.)

5                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Those

6           opposed?

7                   (No response.)

8                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: The motion

9           carries. Bill No. 120827 is amended.

10                   The Chair now recognizes

11          Councilmember Jones for a motion on Bill

12          No. 120827.

13                   COUNCILMAN JONES: Thank you,

14          Madam Chair. I move that Bill No.

15          120827, as amended, be reported from this

16          committee with a favorable recommendation

17          and further move that the rules of

18          Council be suspended to permit first

19          reading of this bill at our next session

20          of Council.

21                   (Duly seconded.)

22                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: It's moved

23          and properly seconded that Bill No.

24          120827, as amended, be reported from this

25          Committee with a favorable recommendation

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           and further moved that the rules of  
3           Council be suspended as to permit first  
4           reading at the next scheduled session of  
5           City Council.

6                     All those in favor say aye.

7                     (Aye.)

8                     COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Those  
9           opposed?

10                    (No response.)

11                    COUNCILWOMAN BASS: The motion  
12           carries. Bill No. 120827, as amended,  
13           will be reported from this Committee with  
14           a favorable recommendation with a request  
15           that the rules of Council be suspended to  
16           permit first reading at the next session  
17           of Council.

18                    The Chair now recognizes  
19           Councilmember Jones for a motion on Bill  
20           No. 120829 (sic).

21                    COUNCILMAN JONES: Thank you,  
22           Madam Chair. I offer an amendment to  
23           Bill No. 120828.

24                    COUNCILWOMAN BASS: I'm sorry.

25           The Chair now recognizes Councilmember

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           Jones for a motion on Bill No. 120828.

3                   COUNCILMAN JONES: Thank you  
4           again, Madam Chair. I offer an amendment  
5           to Bill No. 120828. These amendments are  
6           submitted by the Law Department and are  
7           technical in nature. I move that Bill  
8           No. 120828 be amended as proposed by the  
9           Law Department.

10                   (Duly seconded.)

11                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: It's been  
12           moved and properly seconded that Bill No.  
13           120828 be amended to allow technical  
14           amendments as proposed by the Law  
15           Department.

16                   All those in favor say aye.

17                   (Aye.)

18                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Those  
19           opposed?

20                   (No response.)

21                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: The motion  
22           carries. Bill No. 120828 is amended.

23                   The Chair now recognizes  
24           Councilmember Jones for a motion on Bill  
25           No. 120828.

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2                   COUNCILMAN JONES: Thanks  
3           again, Madam Chair. I move that Bill No.  
4           120828, as amended, be reported from this  
5           Committee with a favorable recommendation  
6           and further move that the rules of  
7           Council be suspended to permit first  
8           reading of this bill at our next session  
9           of Council.

10                   (Duly seconded.)

11                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: It's been  
12           moved and properly seconded that Bill No.  
13           120828, as amended, be reported from this  
14           Committee with a favorable recommendation  
15           and further moved that the rules of  
16           Council be suspended as to permit first  
17           reading at the next scheduled session of  
18           City Council.

19                   All those in favor say aye.

20                   (Aye.)

21                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Those  
22           opposed?

23                   (No response.)

24                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: The motion  
25           carries. Bill No. 120828 will be

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2       reported from this Committee with a  
3       favorable recommendation with a request  
4       that the rules of Council be suspended to  
5       permit first reading at the next session  
6       of Council.

7                   The Chair now recognizes  
8       Councilmember Jones for a motion on Bill  
9       No. 130065.

10                   COUNCILMAN JONES: Thank you,  
11       Madam Chair. I move that Bill No. 130065  
12       be reported from this Committee with a  
13       favorable recommendation and further move  
14       that the rules of Council be suspended to  
15       permit first reading of this bill at our  
16       next session of Council.

17                   (Duly seconded.)

18                   COUNCILWOMAN BASS: It's been  
19       moved and properly seconded that Bill No.  
20       130065 be reported from this Committee  
21       with a favorable recommendation and  
22       further moved that the rules of Council  
23       be suspended as to permit first reading  
24       at the next scheduled session of City  
25       Council.

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.

2           All those in favor say aye.

3           (Aye.)

4           COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Those

5           opposed?

6           COUNCILMAN OH: I have an

7           opposition just from the fact that -- and

8           a request, which does not have to be -- I

9           just make the request. I am very

10          interested in hearing on the legal issue,

11          myself being an attorney. So I have an

12          issue, but if the Committee wants to move

13          forward, that certainly can be raised at

14          another time to get additional testimony

15          from the Law Department.

16          COUNCILWOMAN BASS: Okay. So

17          that's an aye?

18          COUNCILMAN OH: It's kind of

19          more of a question before I vote, because

20          I don't know that I can vote aye, as I'm

21          not really clear on that. So I'll

22          abstain at this point in time based on

23          further information.

24          COUNCILWOMAN BASS: All right.

25          So we have one who is abstaining and the

1           3/7/13 - PARKS - BILL 120827, etc.  
2       ayes have it. The motion carries. Bill  
3       No. 130065 will be reported from this  
4       Committee with a favorable recommendation  
5       with a request that the rules of Council  
6       be suspended to permit first reading at  
7       the next session of Council.

8                       With that, the business of this  
9       Committee is concluded, and thank you so  
10      much to everyone for being here today.

11                      Thank you.

12                      (Committee on Parks, Recreation  
13      and Cultural Affairs concluded at 3:20  
14      p.m.)

15                      - - -

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

1  
2  
3  
4  
5  
6  
7  
8  
9  
10  
11  
12  
13  
14  
15  
16  
17  
18  
19  
20  
21  
22  
23  
24  
25

CERTIFICATE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the  
proceedings, evidence and objections are  
contained fully and accurately in the  
stenographic notes taken by me upon the  
foregoing matter, and that this is a true and  
correct transcript of same.

-----  
MICHELE L. MURPHY  
RPR-Notary Public

(The foregoing certification of this  
transcript does not apply to any reproduction  
of the same by any means, unless under the  
direct control and/or supervision of the  
certifying reporter.)

| A                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| <b>abandoned</b> 70:24<br><b>ability</b> 75:6 112:5<br><b>able</b> 4:3 17:6<br>18:22 21:20<br>23:20 24:2,6<br>40:2 41:6 50:19<br>54:3 59:2 62:11<br>80:13 89:18<br><b>absolutely</b> 79:19<br>92:5 117:4<br><b>abstain</b> 124:22<br><b>abstaining</b> 124:25<br><b>access</b> 95:15,22<br>95:23 96:3 97:4<br><b>accomplishments</b><br>110:8<br><b>accountable</b> 6:11<br><b>accurate</b> 29:4<br><b>accurately</b> 126:5<br><b>acknowledge</b> 8:24<br>117:7<br><b>acres</b> 13:19<br><b>act</b> 23:19 71:20<br>89:24<br><b>acting</b> 11:7 34:15<br><b>action</b> 84:10,13<br>84:14,20 85:17<br>85:19<br><b>actions</b> 13:6<br><b>active</b> 19:9 70:23<br><b>actively</b> 16:22<br>60:21 62:24<br><b>activities</b> 14:21<br>18:25 21:4 37:5<br>37:19 82:10<br>87:12 90:14<br>115:13<br><b>activity</b> 16:15<br>49:24 88:14<br>89:23 91:8,8,25<br>92:2<br><b>acts</b> 4:4 71:7<br><b>actual</b> 17:18<br><b>add</b> 51:16 55:7<br>104:5<br><b>added</b> 83:9 | <b>addition</b> 13:10<br><b>additional</b> 18:22<br>21:14 29:17<br>32:18 41:4<br>44:17 47:7 57:8<br>73:20 124:14<br><b>Additionally</b> 32:8<br><b>address</b> 3:12<br>15:24 28:10<br>33:3 58:12<br>71:22 86:8<br>87:14 89:18<br>90:10<br><b>addressing</b> 28:25<br>29:3,4,7<br><b>adds</b> 32:18<br><b>adequate</b> 100:22<br><b>adjacent</b> 51:7,10<br><b>Administration</b><br>7:22 32:5 57:5<br><b>Adolescents</b><br>57:10,16 64:16<br><b>adult</b> 13:4 35:4,13<br>87:25 88:2 99:5<br><b>adults</b> 87:7,22<br>88:7<br><b>advance</b> 18:4<br>35:17<br><b>advantage</b> 40:5<br><b>Advisory</b> 86:19<br>86:21 90:9<br><b>advocacy</b> 84:7<br>87:7<br><b>advocate</b> 64:13<br>91:21,21 94:10<br><b>advocating</b> 44:25<br>46:22 92:11<br><b>Affairs</b> 1:4 2:6<br>31:19 118:9<br>125:13<br><b>affect</b> 70:15<br><b>afford</b> 109:19<br><b>afforded</b> 80:16<br><b>afraid</b> 79:11<br>100:10<br><b>afternoon</b> 2:3<br>8:19,21 9:19 | 24:24 25:2 28:2<br>28:4 31:7,10,12<br>31:16 33:11<br>36:3 70:7 74:7,8<br>86:2 107:15<br><b>age</b> 13:24<br><b>agency</b> 72:18<br>75:14<br><b>ages</b> 10:24 34:8<br><b>ago</b> 12:24 34:25<br>36:11 62:5<br>114:9 116:20<br><b>agree</b> 97:21 99:13<br>102:5<br><b>aim</b> 65:2<br><b>alerted</b> 97:25<br><b>alive</b> 70:23<br><b>Allen</b> 45:25<br><b>Alliance</b> 83:7<br><b>allow</b> 55:7 95:20<br>118:24 121:13<br><b>allowed</b> 43:8,16<br>43:17 45:5<br><b>allows</b> 55:2<br><b>altercations</b> 53:20<br><b>amazed</b> 37:17<br><b>amended</b> 118:19<br>118:24 119:9,15<br>119:24 120:12<br>121:8,13,22<br>122:4,13<br><b>amending</b> 1:15,18<br>1:21 6:21 7:9<br>30:8<br><b>amendment</b><br>28:13 46:17<br>52:15 54:9 85:2<br>103:14 118:15<br>120:22 121:4<br><b>amendments</b> 7:23<br>7:25 118:16,25<br>121:5,14<br><b>amount</b> 109:18<br><b>and/or</b> 11:13<br>126:22<br><b>annual</b> 1:16,19<br>6:23 7:11 10:4 | 10:22<br><b>answer</b> 22:19,22<br>51:15 97:23<br>98:21 103:3<br><b>answers</b> 28:19<br><b>Anti-Drug</b> 70:10<br><b>Anti-Drug/Anti...</b><br>72:19 73:17<br><b>Anti-Violence</b><br>70:11<br><b>anybody</b> 49:5<br>51:13 86:10<br><b>anymore</b> 86:16<br><b>anyone's</b> 67:23<br><b>anyway</b> 28:23<br><b>apparent</b> 34:25<br><b>appear</b> 9:24 31:19<br>33:15<br><b>appears</b> 52:22<br><b>applaud</b> 3:3<br><b>applied</b> 5:11 53:4<br><b>apply</b> 44:7 126:20<br><b>appreciate</b> 5:14<br>11:18 51:12<br>94:8 99:21<br><b>apprehend</b> 23:15<br><b>approach</b> 54:9<br>65:7 77:23<br>87:15 92:18<br>112:21<br><b>approached</b> 8:16<br>30:25 69:20<br>83:13 107:13<br><b>approaches</b> 72:10<br><b>approaching</b> 27:3<br><b>appropriate</b><br>35:18 42:22<br><b>April</b> 36:12 42:3<br>62:8<br><b>arcade</b> 114:16<br><b>area</b> 4:14 51:10<br>54:5 57:20<br>70:24 80:15<br>90:18 115:9<br><b>areas</b> 3:24 11:18<br>12:12 15:6,7<br>27:11 54:18 | 55:11 91:17,18<br>95:2<br><b>argument</b> 85:13<br><b>armed</b> 100:11<br>101:6,8<br><b>arms</b> 46:18 85:5<br><b>Army</b> 111:12<br><b>arrest</b> 98:6<br><b>arrested</b> 97:11<br><b>asked</b> 18:3 58:22<br>67:21<br><b>asking</b> 2:19 18:17<br><b>assist</b> 18:12<br><b>assistant</b> 52:2<br><b>associated</b> 13:8<br>15:4 104:15<br><b>astute</b> 54:6<br><b>athletic</b> 13:4 35:5<br>35:13<br><b>attached</b> 87:20<br>90:22<br><b>attempted</b> 36:17<br>116:8<br><b>attendance</b> 2:12<br><b>attention</b> 39:17<br>46:25 68:21<br>73:9 78:16 89:9<br><b>attest</b> 37:22<br><b>attorney</b> 83:11<br>124:11<br><b>attorneys</b> 52:2<br><b>Attorney's</b> 52:18<br><b>ATVs</b> 59:4 61:6<br><b>authority</b> 97:25<br><b>authorizing</b> 31:23<br><b>available</b> 26:7<br><b>average</b> 50:20<br>107:17<br><b>aware</b> 52:24<br>62:20 101:9<br><b>aye</b> 119:3,4 120:6<br>120:7 121:16,17<br>122:19,20 124:2<br>124:3,17,20<br><b>ayes</b> 125:2 |
|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              | <b>B</b>                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            |

|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| <b>back</b> 40:10 45:15<br>49:7 63:2,5<br>87:11 106:18<br>114:2<br><b>bag</b> 88:21<br><b>Baker</b> 112:9,10<br>112:14,18<br><b>balance</b> 89:14<br><b>balancing</b> 54:23<br><b>ball</b> 70:19<br><b>Baltimore</b> 22:25<br>24:2<br><b>barely</b> 110:10<br><b>baseball</b> 67:8<br><b>based</b> 10:20 63:23<br>68:14 77:7<br>108:23 124:22<br><b>baseline</b> 11:12<br><b>basis</b> 59:10 79:8<br><b>basket</b> 110:6<br><b>basketball</b> 14:22<br>17:20 19:15,20<br>20:20 37:4 44:2<br>45:7 55:25<br>56:12,22 66:22<br>88:2 91:16,25<br>97:24 99:3<br><b>baskets</b> 110:6<br><b>Bass</b> 1:10 2:2,23<br>3:16 4:22 5:16<br>7:20 8:18,22 9:7<br>9:12,16,19<br>14:12 18:19<br>20:2 22:6 24:16<br>24:20 27:21<br>29:16,19,23<br>30:15 31:3,9,17<br>33:5,11 35:25<br>38:9 40:17,21<br>42:11 43:5<br>48:22 55:15<br>65:24 67:16<br>69:15,22 73:10<br>73:19,22,25<br>76:16 78:22<br>80:25 81:17<br>82:20,23 83:3 | 83:15,22 84:16<br>85:24 92:5<br>93:25 104:4<br>106:22 107:3,10<br>107:18,22<br>108:18 113:14<br>113:18,25 114:5<br>114:20 117:4,21<br>118:4,22 119:5<br>119:8,22 120:8<br>120:11,24<br>121:11,18,21<br>122:11,21,24<br>123:18 124:4,16<br>124:24<br><b>bear</b> 46:18 85:4<br><b>beautiful</b> 89:11<br><b>beautify</b> 80:14<br><b>becoming</b> 71:19<br><b>beefing</b> 58:7<br><b>beginning</b> 68:9<br><b>begun</b> 43:22<br><b>behalf</b> 25:5 38:17<br>116:8<br><b>behavior</b> 102:3<br>109:12<br><b>behaviors</b> 13:8<br>88:3 90:25<br><b>behavior/crime</b><br>71:24<br><b>beliefs</b> 111:15<br><b>believe</b> 5:8 10:14<br>21:25 33:25<br>40:18 47:20<br>49:9 54:10 88:5<br>89:11 92:25<br>93:15 94:22,22<br>94:23 103:16<br><b>benefit</b> 13:12<br><b>best</b> 64:21 97:10<br>110:22<br><b>bet</b> 46:8<br><b>Bethel</b> 59:24 61:3<br>63:25<br><b>better</b> 9:15 54:5<br>63:4 70:11<br>72:20 110:23 | <b>betting</b> 56:22<br>91:13<br><b>beyond</b> 13:12<br><b>big</b> 39:3 62:9 76:2<br>76:4,6 95:4<br>96:10<br><b>biggest</b> 28:9<br><b>bikes</b> 113:2,10<br><b>bill</b> 1:15,18,21 3:1<br>4:1,25 5:1 6:1<br>6:20 7:1,8 8:1,7<br>8:11 9:1 10:1<br>11:1 12:1 13:1<br>14:1 15:1 16:1<br>17:1 18:1 19:1<br>20:1 21:1 22:1<br>23:1 24:1 25:1<br>26:1 27:1 28:1<br>29:1,3 30:1,4,6<br>30:7 31:1,20,22<br>32:1,17 33:1,17<br>33:25 34:1 35:1<br>36:1,10 37:1<br>38:1,4 39:1 40:1<br>41:1 42:1,17<br>43:1,3 44:1,7<br>45:1 46:1 47:1<br>48:1 49:1 50:1<br>51:1 52:1 53:1<br>54:1 55:1 56:1<br>57:1 58:1 59:1<br>60:1 61:1 62:1<br>63:1 64:1 65:1<br>66:1 67:1 68:1<br>69:1 70:1 71:1<br>72:1 73:1 74:1<br>75:1 76:1 77:1<br>78:1 79:1 80:1<br>81:1 82:1 83:1<br>84:1 85:1 86:1<br>87:1 88:1 89:1<br>90:1 91:1 92:1<br>93:1 94:1 95:1<br>96:1 97:1 98:1<br>99:1 100:1<br>101:1 102:1<br>103:1 104:1 | 105:1 106:1<br>107:1 108:1<br>109:1 110:1<br>111:1 112:1<br>113:1 114:1<br>115:1 116:1<br>117:1 118:1,12<br>118:16,18,23<br>119:1,9,11,14<br>119:19,23 120:1<br>120:12,19,23<br>121:1,2,5,7,12<br>121:22,24 122:1<br>122:3,8,12,25<br>123:1,8,11,15<br>123:19 124:1<br>125:1,2<br><b>bills</b> 2:8 6:16,19<br>7:23 8:4 9:25<br>10:14 28:25<br>29:5,7,13 30:3<br>70:14 84:11,25<br>118:5<br><b>births</b> 17:22<br>37:11<br><b>bit</b> 20:3 99:24<br>115:2<br><b>Blondell</b> 1:13<br>8:25 24:21 74:4<br><b>board</b> 4:17 54:12<br>83:8 86:20,23<br>90:9<br><b>body</b> 108:5,6<br>110:20 117:16<br><b>boots</b> 23:13 60:25<br><b>Boo-Boo</b> 17:21<br><b>Bornfriend</b> 83:5<br><b>Boulevard</b> 115:7<br><b>boundaries</b> 71:14<br>90:20<br><b>box</b> 110:22<br><b>brazen</b> 41:18<br><b>break</b> 66:6<br><b>Breeze</b> 45:25<br><b>briefing</b> 23:2<br><b>briefly</b> 11:19<br>40:12 | <b>bring</b> 36:10 44:4<br>49:13 58:22<br>65:18 66:22<br>96:5 98:9 114:2<br><b>bringing</b> 5:14<br>59:4 106:12<br><b>broader</b> 97:2<br><b>broken</b> 91:14<br><b>brother</b> 75:14<br><b>brothers</b> 76:4,6<br><b>Brother/Big</b> 76:2<br><b>brought</b> 49:18<br>80:15 101:25<br><b>Brown</b> 1:13 8:25<br>24:22,23 25:3<br>25:13 26:4<br>27:13,18 74:5,6<br>74:9 75:25<br>76:14 108:11<br>112:12<br><b>buddies</b> 56:16<br><b>budget</b> 66:5 76:20<br>76:21 77:8<br>79:15<br><b>build</b> 89:6<br><b>building</b> 50:21<br>51:11 84:7 91:8<br>96:6 106:11,12<br>106:16<br><b>buildings</b> 44:7<br>90:15<br><b>built</b> 111:19<br><b>buried</b> 71:4<br><b>business</b> 23:10<br>44:6,13 106:14<br>125:8<br><b>busy</b> 110:18<br><b>buy</b> 43:11<br><b>buying</b> 116:2 |
| <b>C</b>                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |
| <b>C</b> 70:8<br><b>calendar</b> 54:19<br><b>call</b> 8:14 29:24<br>30:19 60:10<br>61:21 62:7 75:2<br><b>called</b> 2:3 29:9                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |

|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| 37:15 90:11<br><b>calls</b> 61:24 89:9<br><b>camaraderie</b><br>88:10<br><b>camera</b> 20:4 21:5<br>22:2 23:18<br>24:10<br><b>cameras</b> 11:25<br>20:7,8,16,25<br>21:19 22:15<br>23:4,21,24 25:9<br>25:25 41:6,16<br>42:6 57:3 66:20<br><b>candy</b> 116:2,3<br><b>capable</b> 100:23<br><b>capital</b> 12:5,5<br>25:16<br><b>Capitol</b> 104:23,24<br>106:15<br><b>captain</b> 37:14,14<br>37:18 59:22<br>62:4 63:2<br><b>captains</b> 58:5<br>59:10,15 62:19<br><b>car</b> 41:22 45:8,11<br>88:20 100:15<br>106:14<br><b>care</b> 79:13 106:14<br><b>carries</b> 119:9<br>120:12 121:22<br>122:25 125:2<br><b>carry</b> 5:12 43:17<br>43:18 44:5,10<br>45:5 46:11,18<br>48:4 50:9 52:6,8<br>53:4,10 57:17<br>104:10<br><b>carrying</b> 32:2<br>44:11 98:3<br>99:10,16 104:13<br>104:18<br><b>cases</b> 98:11<br><b>catch</b> 68:3 107:6<br><b>categories</b> 43:8<br><b>caught</b> 47:7 68:22<br>77:12<br><b>cause</b> 34:22 | <b>causes</b> 53:14<br><b>CeaseFire</b> 83:19<br>83:24<br><b>center</b> 6:4 7:18<br>10:11 23:9,12<br>33:22 37:10,20<br>44:2 50:22 51:6<br>51:8,11 75:4,17<br>104:11 109:25<br>114:12<br><b>centers</b> 1:19 3:15<br>4:6,15,20 7:11<br>10:16 11:2 12:2<br>12:10 13:3<br>14:20 19:2<br>23:22 25:6,8<br>26:16,21 27:2<br>32:13,17 34:10<br>35:3 37:6,24<br>38:3,5 39:16,22<br>54:18 61:8<br>70:17,17 71:15<br>72:7 75:10 90:7<br>105:12<br><b>certain</b> 30:13<br>54:11 96:4<br>105:7<br><b>certainly</b> 5:3 41:2<br>50:22 92:2 96:5<br>102:13,17 105:5<br>105:10,20<br>115:20 124:13<br><b>CERTIFICATE</b><br>126:2<br><b>certification</b><br>126:19<br><b>CERTIFY</b> 126:3<br><b>certifying</b> 126:23<br><b>cetera</b> 32:14<br><b>Chair</b> 1:10 3:21<br>5:20 22:9,12<br>24:19,20 25:21<br>27:22 42:15<br>47:24 48:24<br>55:16 65:25<br>67:13 74:3<br>76:17 78:24 | 81:2,5 86:20<br>90:8 92:6 94:3<br>105:25 116:11<br>118:11,15<br>119:10,14<br>120:18,22,25<br>121:4,23 122:3<br>123:7,11<br><b>Chairman</b> 3:2<br>55:14 64:14<br>108:8,10<br><b>Chairperson</b> 70:4<br><b>Chairwoman</b><br>9:19 22:24<br>27:25 33:11<br>36:3 94:6 108:8<br><b>challenge</b> 95:11<br>100:17 103:11<br><b>challenges</b> 28:11<br><b>challenging</b><br>103:12<br><b>Chamber</b> 32:15<br><b>change</b> 71:5 98:21<br><b>changes</b> 15:11<br>18:22 19:6<br><b>changing</b> 59:18<br><b>Chapter</b> 1:15,18<br>6:21 7:9<br><b>character</b> 77:7<br><b>charge</b> 86:14,17<br><b>charged</b> 59:9<br><b>cheat</b> 72:21<br><b>Chew</b> 75:16<br><b>chiefs</b> 61:4 84:2<br><b>child</b> 6:2 72:22<br><b>children</b> 34:3<br>38:6 39:24 40:4<br>71:8,16 72:15<br>73:4 86:12 87:7<br>92:3 105:11<br><b>Chinchez</b> 116:14<br><b>choice</b> 87:18<br><b>chooses</b> 90:3<br><b>chose</b> 18:16<br><b>Chung</b> 108:16<br><b>CINDY</b> 1:10<br><b>cities</b> 84:8 85:18 | <b>citizen</b> 53:5,7<br>89:10<br><b>citizens</b> 11:5<br>13:23,24 14:4<br>32:23 34:13<br>40:5 54:23<br>102:10,25<br><b>citizen's</b> 87:4<br><b>city</b> 1:2,7 2:5 4:7<br>5:21 11:8,23<br>12:5,17 13:20<br>13:25 28:9<br>30:20 31:14<br>32:12,24 34:16<br>35:8 36:4,23<br>44:6,12 49:14<br>49:18,20,23,24<br>49:25 50:5,6,6,7<br>50:7 52:5 53:16<br>61:16 68:17,20<br>70:5 75:11,22<br>76:22 77:18<br>80:16,18 89:11<br>89:16,23 92:13<br>96:19 102:19,21<br>104:21 105:18<br>109:22 110:21<br>111:23 112:21<br>112:25 113:6<br>117:18 120:5<br>122:18 123:24<br><b>citywide</b> 74:17<br><b>city's</b> 20:8<br><b>City-occupied</b><br>1:23 30:12<br>33:19<br><b>City-owned</b> 1:23<br>30:12 32:3<br>33:19 49:13<br><b>Civilian</b> 45:4<br><b>clarification</b><br>50:17<br><b>clarified</b> 45:9<br>68:2<br><b>clarifying</b> 46:16<br><b>clarity</b> 42:20,25<br>43:20 44:17 | 45:3 47:3 65:6<br>106:3,19<br><b>clarity-wise</b> 45:18<br><b>Clarke</b> 31:22<br>32:21 69:7<br><b>Clarke's</b> 43:3<br><b>Class</b> 47:5,11<br><b>cleaned</b> 79:10<br><b>clear</b> 5:6 52:20<br>85:3 103:13<br>109:11 124:21<br><b>clearly</b> 50:25<br><b>Clerk</b> 4:24 6:15<br>6:20 8:15 29:24<br>30:5,7 69:17,18<br>82:25<br><b>close</b> 26:11,25<br>78:16 112:9<br><b>closely</b> 38:22<br><b>closer</b> 13:10<br><b>closing</b> 72:17<br>116:13<br><b>clothes</b> 41:19<br><b>coaches</b> 17:7<br><b>coalition</b> 83:25<br>84:6<br><b>code</b> 1:15,18,21<br>6:22 7:10 30:9<br>47:17 49:23<br><b>collaboration</b><br>11:8 34:16<br>74:24<br><b>collaboratively</b><br>72:4<br><b>colleague</b> 3:22<br>79:6<br><b>colleagues</b> 79:22<br><b>collectively</b> 72:25<br><b>combined</b> 13:5<br><b>come</b> 4:2,3 25:22<br>30:16,23 43:9<br>45:7 49:12,12<br>50:5 56:19<br>64:24 66:14,18<br>67:4,7 71:17<br>81:10 82:6 86:5<br>86:23 88:7 |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|

|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| 98:14 100:8,9<br>100:10 104:22<br>106:8,11,18<br>107:11,25 112:3<br>112:4<br><b>comes</b> 14:19<br>15:23 16:2<br>55:24 64:4<br>76:21 86:11,15<br><b>comfortable</b><br>39:23<br><b>coming</b> 12:21<br>16:25 18:5<br>19:11 36:9<br>43:15 56:3,12<br>56:21 64:9 78:8<br>83:4 114:24,25<br>115:19<br><b>command</b> 23:12<br>58:23<br><b>Commander</b><br>30:21 36:2<br>40:15,19 41:13<br>55:19 61:23<br>62:16<br><b>commanding</b><br>36:6 58:4 60:17<br><b>commend</b> 4:8 5:4<br>14:16 39:12<br>64:11 84:21<br>85:21 86:13<br>92:10 93:22<br>94:7<br><b>comment</b> 29:8<br>66:4<br><b>comments</b> 63:22<br>65:9<br><b>Commission</b><br>92:21<br><b>Commissioner</b><br>4:12 8:20 9:3,5<br>9:9,10,14,18,21<br>16:17 19:4<br>20:15 22:14,18<br>24:14,24,25<br>25:11,20 27:5<br>27:17,19 28:3 | 29:6,15,20,21<br>30:18 33:10,13<br>51:4 55:21<br>58:14,18 59:24<br>61:2,5,24 65:5,8<br>69:8,13 86:22<br>91:5<br><b>Commissioners</b><br>58:21<br><b>commitment</b><br>32:22 88:24<br>92:23 93:11<br><b>commits</b> 71:12<br><b>committed</b> 20:16<br>32:9<br><b>committee</b> 1:3 2:5<br>2:11 5:21 9:20<br>31:17 32:22<br>33:12 35:17<br>70:4 108:2<br>118:8 119:16,25<br>120:13 122:5,14<br>123:2,12,20<br>124:12 125:4,9<br>125:12<br><b>commonplace</b><br>115:23<br><b>commonsense</b> 3:4<br>45:2 66:21<br>92:12 94:13<br><b>communication</b><br>63:13 81:12<br><b>communities</b><br>13:23 19:25<br>59:7,13,19<br>65:17 70:22<br>72:2,7 73:6<br>84:15,19 85:19<br>115:13<br><b>community</b> 5:5<br>11:9,13,23<br>12:16 16:4,13<br>16:16,18 18:9<br>19:7 34:17 35:7<br>56:9 62:25<br>66:16 82:10<br>84:3 87:11,19 | 98:11,17 100:12<br>102:22 114:8,10<br><b>community's</b><br>17:12 64:21<br><b>compels</b> 10:2<br><b>competing</b> 110:11<br><b>compile</b> 10:21<br><b>complaints</b> 11:14<br><b>completed</b> 12:6<br><b>complex</b> 93:12<br><b>compliments</b><br>116:12<br><b>component</b> 43:20<br>45:3 48:19<br>56:21 57:4,23<br>57:23 77:25,25<br><b>comprehensive</b><br>4:10 72:13<br><b>comprehensively</b><br>72:4<br><b>concealed</b> 44:11<br><b>concentrating</b><br>89:6<br><b>concept</b> 55:25<br>112:17<br><b>conceptualize</b><br>50:25<br><b>concern</b> 15:8<br>105:6<br><b>concerned</b> 87:13<br>89:10,17<br><b>concerning</b> 73:9<br><b>concerns</b> 32:6<br>54:20 84:24<br>86:25 104:7<br><b>concluded</b> 125:9<br>125:13<br><b>concludes</b> 33:2<br>118:5,7<br><b>condition</b> 110:4<br><b>conditions</b> 30:14<br><b>conjunction</b> 4:12<br><b>connect</b> 76:11<br><b>connected</b> 13:22<br><b>consequences</b><br>24:5 98:5 99:8,9<br>99:16 | <b>consider</b> 22:23<br>44:15<br><b>consideration</b><br>26:8 48:11<br><b>considered</b> 84:12<br><b>consistency</b> 87:17<br><b>Consolidated</b> 7:2<br>7:14 10:6<br><b>constantly</b> 62:6<br><b>Constitution</b><br>28:13 53:25<br>85:3<br><b>constitutional</b><br>28:21 52:19<br>54:22 67:23<br>85:6 105:20<br><b>contact</b> 62:11<br>100:19<br><b>contained</b> 126:5<br><b>containing</b> 1:16<br>1:19 6:24 7:12<br><b>context</b> 46:15,24<br>106:7,19<br><b>continual</b> 18:24<br><b>continually</b> 11:7<br>34:15<br><b>continuation</b> 23:8<br><b>continue</b> 13:16<br>17:9 36:23<br>64:12 78:11<br>105:12<br><b>continues</b> 11:24<br><b>continuing</b> 3:14<br><b>contracts</b> 76:22<br><b>control</b> 16:9<br>18:10 45:2,22<br>91:3,22 126:22<br><b>controlled</b> 10:17<br><b>controversial</b><br>115:3<br><b>conversation</b> 5:19<br>26:24 81:22<br>105:13,22<br>106:20<br><b>convince</b> 85:17<br><b>convinced</b> 61:15<br><b>cooperation</b> 90:3 | <b>coordinate</b> 62:6<br><b>coordinated</b><br>58:11 64:11<br>65:6 66:9<br><b>Copies</b> 7:24<br><b>cops</b> 62:23,24<br><b>corners</b> 100:14<br><b>correct</b> 17:22<br>81:7,15 126:8<br><b>cost</b> 77:5<br><b>Council</b> 1:2 2:5<br>5:22 12:5 22:25<br>31:21 32:20<br>36:4 38:23 52:5<br>69:6 70:5 80:16<br>80:18 84:9,22<br>86:3,4,21 96:7<br>96:19 102:18<br>104:21 108:2,5<br>108:6 116:11<br>119:18,20 120:3<br>120:5,15,17<br>122:7,9,16,18<br>123:4,6,14,16<br>123:22,25 125:5<br>125:7<br><b>Councilman</b> 1:11<br>1:11,12,12 2:13<br>2:14,15,17,22<br>2:23,25 3:18,20<br>3:22 4:18,25 5:2<br>21:2 22:8,10,11<br>22:21 24:18<br>27:22,24 28:5<br>29:11 39:5<br>42:13,14 43:6<br>43:22 44:16<br>45:13 46:12<br>47:17,18,22<br>48:24,25 49:2<br>49:10,19 50:3<br>50:13,15 51:12<br>54:16 55:12,16<br>55:17 58:15,17<br>60:23 62:15<br>63:15 65:25<br>66:3 76:17,19 |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|

|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| 76:25 78:23,24<br>79:2,16 80:2,9<br>80:23 81:2,4,9<br>81:16 82:4,14<br>85:8 91:12 92:6<br>92:8 94:2,3,5<br>97:6 99:13<br>103:25 105:14<br>105:23,24 108:9<br>108:12,13,16,17<br>109:3,5,6 114:4<br>116:14 118:14<br>119:13 120:21<br>121:3 122:2<br>123:10 124:6,18<br><b>Councilmanic</b><br>4:19<br><b>Councilman's</b><br>104:7<br><b>Councilmember</b><br>118:12 119:11<br>120:19,25<br>121:24 123:8<br><b>Councilmembers</b><br>25:22 112:8<br><b>Councilmen</b><br>107:16<br><b>Councilpeople</b><br>86:9<br><b>Councilperson</b><br>25:18<br><b>Councilwoman</b><br>1:10,13,13 2:2<br>2:23 3:16 4:22<br>5:16 7:20 8:18<br>8:22,25 9:7,12<br>9:16 14:12<br>18:19 20:2 22:6<br>24:16,20,21,23<br>25:3,13 26:4<br>27:13,15,18,21<br>29:16,19,23<br>30:15 31:3,8,9<br>31:12,16 33:5<br>35:25 38:9<br>40:17,21 42:11<br>43:5 48:22 | 55:15 65:24<br>67:16 69:15,22<br>73:10,19,22,25<br>74:4,6,9 75:25<br>76:14,16 78:22<br>80:25 81:17<br>82:20,23 83:3<br>83:15,22 84:16<br>85:24 92:5<br>93:25 104:4<br>106:22 107:3,10<br>107:16,18,22<br>108:11,18<br>112:12,16<br>113:14,18,25<br>114:5,20 116:15<br>116:17 117:4,8<br>117:21 118:4,22<br>119:5,8,22<br>120:8,11,24<br>121:11,18,21<br>122:11,21,24<br>123:18 124:4,16<br>124:24<br><b>count</b> 70:6<br><b>country</b> 109:2<br><b>County</b> 7:7,19<br><b>couple</b> 14:14,24<br>41:24 90:12<br><b>course</b> 20:19<br>38:20 67:24<br><b>court</b> 17:20 20:20<br>52:3 95:11<br>98:10<br><b>courtroom</b> 50:23<br><b>courts</b> 19:13<br>85:12 95:12<br>98:9<br><b>court's</b> 68:6<br><b>covered</b> 25:9<br><b>created</b> 53:3<br><b>creates</b> 95:24<br><b>creating</b> 89:17<br><b>creative</b> 111:22<br><b>crime</b> 3:7,12 24:3<br>28:8 55:10<br>66:14 71:12 | 101:16 105:4<br><b>crimes</b> 3:10 54:4<br><b>criminal</b> 11:14<br>21:4 63:3,8<br>68:10 102:3,7<br>103:10<br><b>criminals</b> 5:10<br><b>crises</b> 66:5<br><b>critically</b> 5:25<br><b>crowds</b> 56:17<br>96:10<br><b>Cultural</b> 1:4 2:6<br>31:18 118:9<br>125:13<br><b>culture</b> 98:21<br>115:15<br><b>curb</b> 89:22<br><b>currently</b> 11:11<br>36:5 86:18<br><b>Curtis</b> 1:11 2:13<br>2:14 3:23 82:4<br>93:6<br><b>cut</b> 46:4<br><b>cutbacks</b> 79:24 | <b>deadly</b> 1:22 30:11<br>32:3 33:18 34:5<br>34:24 95:18<br><b>deal</b> 90:17<br><b>dealers</b> 91:15<br><b>dealer's</b> 91:19<br><b>dealing</b> 71:24<br>87:12 93:13,13<br><b>deals</b> 103:8<br><b>dear</b> 112:7<br><b>decades</b> 74:11<br><b>decide</b> 96:14<br><b>decided</b> 5:7 64:25<br>95:12<br><b>decisions</b> 68:14<br>110:24<br><b>deepened</b> 12:24<br><b>deeply</b> 13:22<br><b>define</b> 67:5<br><b>defined</b> 66:25<br><b>definitely</b> 16:18<br>24:15 38:4<br>77:24<br><b>degrees</b> 42:4<br><b>Dell</b> 110:3<br><b>demonstration</b><br>23:16<br><b>DENNIS</b> 1:12<br><b>Denny</b> 2:17<br><b>department</b> 9:22<br>10:3,13,19 11:4<br>11:16 12:9,18<br>12:25 13:21<br>14:3,17 16:3<br>17:25 18:12<br>30:23 33:14,24<br>34:12 35:9,16<br>36:24,25 37:3,8<br>43:24 49:7<br>50:17 52:25<br>61:12 69:8<br>74:25 81:7,11<br>90:20,23,24<br>91:11,24 96:22<br>118:17,20 119:2<br>121:6,9,15<br>124:15 | <b>departments</b> 11:9<br>11:24 12:17<br>26:19 31:24<br>34:17 35:8<br><b>Department's</b><br>12:22 25:16<br>49:10 85:10<br><b>Deputy</b> 9:10,21<br>33:13 58:20<br>59:23 61:2,3<br><b>desperate</b> 76:3<br><b>despite</b> 105:2<br><b>detailing</b> 10:4<br><b>details</b> 1:16,19<br>6:24 7:12<br><b>Detectives</b> 36:8<br><b>deter</b> 78:3 102:20<br><b>determine</b> 35:18<br>85:12 95:11<br><b>determined</b> 97:9<br>112:11<br><b>determining</b> 96:8<br><b>develop</b> 89:19<br>91:6<br><b>developed</b> 36:25<br>114:11<br><b>developing</b> 63:11<br><b>devil's</b> 94:9<br><b>dialogue</b> 81:21<br><b>DiBerardinis</b><br>61:3<br><b>difference</b> 21:8<br>79:8 80:20<br>113:3<br><b>differences</b> 99:18<br><b>different</b> 21:3<br>38:25 39:18<br>75:10 77:13<br>91:16 96:2<br>99:20 112:24<br>115:19<br><b>digital</b> 23:4<br><b>direct</b> 126:22<br><b>direction</b> 67:14<br>67:15,19 87:8<br>116:25<br><b>directly</b> 73:3 |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|

|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| <p>93:17,21 96:20<br/> <b>Director</b> 30:20<br/> 31:13 70:9<br/> 73:16 83:6,19<br/> <b>dirt</b> 113:2<br/> <b>disagreements</b><br/> 95:14<br/> <b>disarm</b> 50:8<br/> <b>discuss</b> 14:8 32:16<br/> 35:22<br/> <b>discussed</b> 41:3<br/> 61:9<br/> <b>discussion</b> 26:24<br/> <b>disjointed</b> 16:6,22<br/> <b>Disney</b> 109:15,20<br/> <b>displaying</b> 41:18<br/> 42:7<br/> <b>disruptions</b> 34:23<br/> <b>distinguish</b> 52:10<br/> 52:10<br/> <b>distinguished</b><br/> 70:5<br/> <b>district</b> 4:19 21:3<br/> 25:18 27:15<br/> 36:14 37:15,18<br/> 37:22 38:23,23<br/> 38:24 39:4,5,8<br/> 40:25 52:2,18<br/> 59:8 60:16<br/> 63:12 80:13<br/> 83:11 86:20,21<br/> 90:8 108:15<br/> 109:4,5,7<br/> 113:21,23<br/> 116:18 117:11<br/> <b>districts</b> 59:8 60:7<br/> 63:9 79:9<br/> <b>disturbances</b><br/> 34:23<br/> <b>Division</b> 36:7<br/> 37:25<br/> <b>doable</b> 22:5<br/> <b>document</b> 4:9<br/> <b>dog</b> 53:8<br/> <b>doing</b> 4:13 19:5<br/> 20:7 21:17,18<br/> 21:25 25:5 26:3</p> | <p>39:10 44:19<br/> 45:20,21 60:3<br/> 60:22 68:3<br/> 73:15 74:11<br/> 75:8 84:22<br/> 98:16,23,25<br/> 112:24 113:9,10<br/> <b>dollars</b> 12:5,6<br/> 25:15 26:5<br/> <b>door</b> 108:5<br/> <b>downtown</b> 113:5<br/> <b>dramatically</b><br/> 15:21 54:4<br/> <b>draw</b> 56:17<br/> <b>Drexel</b> 27:8<br/> <b>drivers</b> 52:4<br/> <b>drug</b> 70:25 88:4<br/> 91:15,19<br/> <b>drugs</b> 10:18<br/> <b>due</b> 57:13<br/> <b>Duly</b> 106:21<br/> 118:21 119:21<br/> 121:10 122:10<br/> 123:17<br/> <b>duly-authorized</b><br/> 42:23<br/> <b>dumps</b> 70:25<br/> <b>dynamics</b> 56:25</p> <hr/> <p style="text-align: center;"><b>E</b></p> <p><b>earlier</b> 55:4 59:3<br/> 106:6<br/> <b>early</b> 93:3,5<br/> <b>earn</b> 112:5<br/> <b>Eastern</b> 27:14<br/> <b>easy</b> 95:15 115:25<br/> <b>echo</b> 3:21 67:17<br/> 79:5<br/> <b>ed</b> 26:11,14,22<br/> <b>edges</b> 67:13<br/> <b>education</b> 84:6<br/> <b>Edwina</b> 112:9,9<br/> 112:14,18<br/> <b>effect</b> 95:7<br/> <b>effective</b> 87:16<br/> <b>effectively</b> 28:15<br/> 71:22 99:19</p> | <p><b>effort</b> 3:14 58:11<br/> 64:12 66:9<br/> 85:22 89:22<br/> <b>efforts</b> 5:4 35:20<br/> 70:14 73:2<br/> 92:11<br/> <b>eight</b> 68:18<br/> <b>either</b> 28:21<br/> <b>elderly</b> 101:18<br/> <b>elected</b> 66:17 77:3<br/> <b>eliminate</b> 21:21<br/> <b>eliminating</b> 64:2<br/> <b>employ</b> 111:22<br/> <b>employed</b> 32:12<br/> <b>employees</b> 32:8<br/> 32:25<br/> <b>encompasses</b> 36:7<br/> 75:17<br/> <b>encourage</b> 22:22<br/> <b>ended</b> 14:22 21:5<br/> <b>energy</b> 102:8<br/> 113:11<br/> <b>enforce</b> 102:7<br/> 103:6<br/> <b>enforced</b> 71:12<br/> <b>enforcement</b><br/> 23:15 35:19<br/> 42:23,24 47:9<br/> 66:16 100:22<br/> 103:11<br/> <b>engage</b> 62:25<br/> <b>engaged</b> 16:15<br/> 19:9<br/> <b>engagement</b><br/> 12:22 35:19<br/> <b>engaging</b> 12:16<br/> 35:7<br/> <b>enhance</b> 31:23<br/> <b>enhanced</b> 53:21<br/> <b>enjoy</b> 34:20<br/> <b>enjoying</b> 10:24<br/> 14:5 34:8<br/> <b>enrich</b> 75:5<br/> <b>enrichment</b> 72:14<br/> 75:9<br/> <b>ensure</b> 25:23<br/> <b>ensuring</b> 25:24</p> | <p>32:22<br/> <b>enter</b> 13:16<br/> <b>entertainment</b><br/> 114:12<br/> <b>entire</b> 20:23 21:16<br/> <b>entitled</b> 1:15,18<br/> 1:21 6:22 7:10<br/> 30:9<br/> <b>entity</b> 23:10<br/> <b>environment</b> 6:7<br/> 32:10 38:7<br/> 61:11 63:23<br/> <b>episodes</b> 72:5<br/> <b>equipped</b> 89:20<br/> <b>escalate</b> 95:14<br/> 96:9<br/> <b>escalation</b> 101:10<br/> <b>especially</b> 71:13<br/> 71:24 75:22<br/> 80:12 84:9<br/> 85:14<br/> <b>et</b> 32:14<br/> <b>event</b> 39:25<br/> <b>eventually</b> 71:2<br/> <b>everybody</b> 77:23<br/> 101:8 104:17<br/> <b>everyone's</b> 100:20<br/> <b>evidence</b> 5:13<br/> 21:6 126:4<br/> <b>exacerbates</b> 95:24<br/> 97:4<br/> <b>exactly</b> 26:2<br/> <b>example</b> 50:22<br/> 87:23<br/> <b>exceptions</b> 42:22<br/> <b>excluded</b> 43:14,19<br/> <b>exclusively</b> 35:4<br/> <b>Executive</b> 83:6<br/> <b>exercising</b> 101:11<br/> <b>existing</b> 12:15<br/> 35:6<br/> <b>exists</b> 61:20<br/> <b>expand</b> 91:3<br/> <b>expect</b> 18:23 19:8<br/> <b>experience</b> 38:16<br/> 53:10 100:21<br/> <b>experienced</b></p> | <p>100:6<br/> <b>expertise</b> 65:20<br/> <b>explained</b> 85:10<br/> <b>explaining</b> 46:19<br/> <b>explanation</b> 85:10<br/> <b>explore</b> 24:13<br/> <b>exponentially</b><br/> 26:6<br/> <b>expound</b> 51:22<br/> <b>extent</b> 28:14 49:6<br/> 104:16<br/> <b>external</b> 23:23<br/> <b>e-mail</b> 62:8</p> <hr/> <p style="text-align: center;"><b>F</b></p> <p><b>face</b> 28:12 89:25<br/> <b>facilities</b> 1:23<br/> 3:24 11:3 12:2<br/> 12:21 13:19<br/> 14:6 18:6,11<br/> 20:17,25 21:9<br/> 21:10,12 22:4<br/> 26:2 27:10<br/> 30:13 32:11,11<br/> 33:19 34:11<br/> 35:13 48:17<br/> 49:14 54:25<br/> 65:12,14,23<br/> <b>facility</b> 11:14<br/> 20:18 41:7<br/> 43:16 44:13<br/> 48:2 49:18<br/> 109:22<br/> <b>fact</b> 23:2 95:19<br/> 105:2 124:7<br/> <b>factions</b> 88:4<br/> <b>fail</b> 70:22<br/> <b>failed</b> 84:21<br/> <b>fair</b> 22:22 102:17<br/> 102:22<br/> <b>faith</b> 84:3<br/> <b>familiar</b> 74:19<br/> <b>families</b> 34:4<br/> 71:17 72:16,22<br/> 73:4 75:24<br/> <b>family</b> 39:25 40:3<br/> 64:24 110:7,13</p> |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|

|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| 112:5 117:11<br><b>family's</b> 108:14<br>108:14<br><b>fantastic</b> 39:11<br>114:22<br><b>far</b> 20:14,16<br>50:24 64:12<br><b>father</b> 75:7,7<br><b>fathers</b> 75:5<br><b>favor</b> 119:3 120:6<br>121:16 122:19<br>124:2<br><b>favorable</b> 119:16<br>119:25 120:14<br>122:5,14 123:3<br>123:13,21 125:4<br><b>FBI</b> 51:24<br><b>fear</b> 71:19<br><b>federal</b> 106:16<br><b>feel</b> 3:25 4:3 16:5<br>16:6 20:13<br>39:23 89:3<br>98:18 103:19<br>107:10 111:24<br><b>feeling</b> 39:22<br><b>field</b> 67:8 70:9<br><b>Fifteen</b> 25:13<br><b>fight</b> 78:9,11<br>85:15 93:23<br>95:16<br><b>fighting</b> 79:22<br><b>figure</b> 43:12 56:3<br>93:8 103:4<br><b>filled</b> 62:13<br><b>filtered</b> 58:4<br><b>find</b> 43:7 91:9<br>117:22<br><b>fire</b> 32:14 36:19<br>36:21 41:25<br>93:21<br><b>firearm</b> 32:2 44:4<br>53:12 68:22<br><b>firearms</b> 1:22<br>30:11 33:18<br>34:5,24 42:18<br>44:10 49:15<br>52:8 53:19,24 | <b>fired</b> 98:13,15<br><b>first</b> 8:14 9:9,21<br>14:15,16 28:24<br>33:13 37:3<br>87:16 104:12<br>107:25 108:7<br>119:18 120:3,16<br>122:7,16 123:5<br>123:15,23 125:6<br><b>first-time</b> 75:5<br><b>five</b> 25:17 47:7<br><b>floors</b> 20:19<br><b>focus</b> 64:17 75:19<br>75:20<br><b>focused</b> 12:20<br>20:22 35:11<br><b>focusing</b> 77:14<br><b>folk</b> 100:8<br><b>follow</b> 47:23<br>102:25<br><b>foolish</b> 68:4<br><b>Football</b> 75:16<br><b>forbid</b> 64:23<br><b>force</b> 24:8<br><b>foregoing</b> 126:7<br>126:19<br><b>form</b> 55:4<br><b>formally</b> 20:6<br><b>forth</b> 45:15 47:12<br>70:14<br><b>forward</b> 5:15,18<br>10:18 14:9<br>30:16,24 35:15<br>35:23 57:6 69:4<br>69:10 77:2,21<br>78:17 83:4 88:8<br>107:11 124:13<br><b>found</b> 7:25 17:15<br>87:14<br><b>four</b> 62:5<br><b>frail</b> 101:17<br><b>frank</b> 46:5 48:8<br><b>free</b> 10:16 34:5<br>107:10<br><b>freedoms</b> 85:6<br><b>Friday</b> 40:20,22<br>42:2 | <b>friend</b> 112:8<br><b>friends</b> 46:23<br>56:15<br><b>front</b> 15:11,17<br>68:8 78:3 80:17<br>100:14<br><b>fullest</b> 104:16<br><b>fully</b> 32:9 126:5<br><b>fun</b> 70:20 71:17<br><b>function</b> 110:4<br><b>fund</b> 79:18<br><b>funding</b> 12:4<br>21:15 57:8<br><b>funding-wise</b><br>74:14,18<br><b>further</b> 81:21<br>119:17 120:2<br>122:6,15 123:13<br>123:22 124:23<br><b>future</b> 3:9 26:10<br>71:3,10 86:13<br>89:7 117:3 | <b>geography</b> 3:6<br><b>getting</b> 15:17<br>17:17,18 19:11<br>48:14 57:8<br>63:10 99:11<br><b>give</b> 18:4 23:5<br>26:7 37:9,11<br>38:6 51:17<br>54:14 74:12<br>79:3 89:4 98:8<br>111:3<br><b>gives</b> 111:16<br><b>giving</b> 21:14 65:5<br><b>glad</b> 33:3<br><b>go</b> 40:2,10 44:10<br>45:14,23 53:11<br>57:11 69:2<br>87:16 97:19<br>101:4,7,22,22<br>101:23 103:9<br>104:23,24<br>109:15,20<br>111:12,17 115:7<br>115:8,14 117:6<br>118:9<br><b>goal</b> 20:23 21:11<br>21:17,22,23<br><b>God</b> 64:23<br><b>godmother</b><br>112:10<br><b>goes</b> 47:24 49:24<br>63:13 81:25<br>82:6<br><b>going</b> 6:14,17<br>8:13 17:16<br>18:11,13 19:6<br>20:19 21:8,23<br>21:24 22:16<br>28:22 30:4,16<br>33:5 36:10<br>37:19 43:25<br>46:2 48:5 51:13<br>52:9 53:15<br>56:24 57:17<br>58:2,6 59:4,13<br>60:5,9,14 62:2<br>63:18 65:17 | 68:23 69:2,16<br>73:12 78:4,5,6<br>78:16 80:3,6<br>82:24 93:4<br>94:25 98:4,5,7,8<br>98:25 101:14<br>104:9,15 105:13<br>106:4,13 111:3<br>112:2,20 113:25<br>117:2,13<br><b>good</b> 2:2 4:2,21<br>8:18,20 9:18<br>22:12 24:16,23<br>24:25 28:2,3<br>31:7,9,11,16<br>33:10 36:2<br>38:18 55:8<br>57:14 63:20<br>66:4,21 74:6,8<br>77:19 86:2<br>92:16 93:23<br>94:12 97:18<br>105:9,10 107:15<br>110:15 113:18<br>114:19<br><b>Goodman</b> 82:25<br>83:18,19,24<br>84:17 92:10<br>93:24 95:3<br>97:17 102:16<br>104:3<br><b>government</b><br>104:25<br><b>grad</b> 93:7<br><b>graffiti</b> 79:10<br><b>granddaughter</b><br>108:25 116:21<br>116:21<br><b>granddaughter's</b><br>116:17,19<br><b>grandfather</b><br>86:25<br><b>grandsons</b> 108:24<br><b>grassroots</b> 57:9<br>64:14 77:24<br>87:15 92:17<br><b>graveyards</b> 71:3 |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|

|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| <b>great</b> 4:13 15:8,16<br>21:13 27:6 37:2<br>87:6,8<br><b>ground</b> 23:14<br>46:21 56:7<br>57:24 60:25<br><b>grounds</b> 7:6,18<br>10:10,11 33:20<br>33:21 53:16<br>110:2<br><b>group</b> 86:9,10<br>88:14<br><b>growing</b> 89:22<br><b>guard</b> 88:11<br><b>guidance</b> 54:14<br><b>guide</b> 23:13<br><b>gun</b> 4:5 28:7<br>36:15 41:15,18<br>41:22 42:8,9<br>43:10,11,11<br>45:2,22,24 46:3<br>46:23 48:12<br>58:13 66:22<br>71:13,25 73:2<br>77:11 84:5 87:2<br>88:20,21 92:12<br>94:13 95:21<br>96:5,11 97:23<br>98:12,15 99:2,5<br>99:6 101:13<br>103:14,15,17<br>104:11,18,22<br>106:12 108:22<br>110:24 111:3,4<br>111:5,7,10,11<br>111:11,13,16,16<br>111:19 112:2<br>115:20,25 116:2<br><b>gunplay</b> 78:10<br>87:3 89:8,23<br><b>guns</b> 44:20 46:21<br>48:4 49:15 53:2<br>56:9 57:18 71:2<br>88:18 89:23<br>94:15,15,20<br>95:5,15 96:18<br>96:23 97:4,7,13 | 97:14,15 98:3<br>99:11 101:9<br>102:4,6,7,25<br>103:2,19,22<br>115:17<br><b>guy</b> 47:15 112:2<br><b>guys</b> 79:12 81:12<br>86:13 92:4<br>112:24<br><b>gym</b> 88:21 91:10<br><hr/> <b>H</b><br><b>Hackett</b> 83:2 86:2<br>86:4 92:17<br><b>Hall</b> 1:7<br><b>halls</b> 107:24<br><b>hand</b> 97:19,19<br>103:9,10<br><b>handgun</b> 104:14<br>105:4<br><b>hands</b> 59:2<br><b>hands-on</b> 87:16<br><b>hang</b> 70:20<br><b>hanging</b> 78:7<br><b>happen</b> 17:20<br>19:19 23:9,11<br>36:23 60:14<br>64:3 112:21<br><b>happened</b> 15:3,15<br>41:9 90:6 108:4<br><b>happening</b> 16:10<br>26:18 60:20<br>78:10<br><b>happens</b> 62:12<br><b>happy</b> 36:12<br>37:15 39:15<br>40:11 85:20<br><b>hard</b> 20:11 39:19<br>65:22 94:8<br>108:6 115:23,24<br><b>hardware</b> 26:18<br><b>harm</b> 98:16<br><b>harmony</b> 89:14<br><b>Harris</b> 69:18 70:3<br>70:8 74:21<br>79:25 80:8<br>81:15 82:19,22 | <b>harsh</b> 94:18<br><b>haven</b> 91:19<br><b>havens</b> 70:25<br>71:16<br><b>havoc</b> 53:3 71:2<br><b>head</b> 108:4<br><b>heading</b> 38:24<br><b>hear</b> 2:7 5:13 33:6<br>37:18 38:13<br>62:21 66:10<br>73:12 90:10<br>102:23 111:8<br><b>heard</b> 8:5 60:19<br>66:11 87:24<br>94:14 95:6<br><b>hearing</b> 2:3,4,7<br>5:14 48:16<br>92:19 93:20<br>118:7 124:10<br><b>heart</b> 64:21<br><b>Helen</b> 86:19<br><b>help</b> 10:15 23:13<br>32:18 34:2 38:5<br>71:6 72:10 75:5<br>75:18,20 80:14<br>89:22 110:23<br><b>helping</b> 25:24<br><b>helps</b> 3:9<br><b>hesitate</b> 99:23<br><b>Hey</b> 58:5 112:3,3<br><b>high</b> 23:5<br><b>higher</b> 26:7,11,14<br>26:22<br><b>high-quality</b><br>10:25 34:9<br><b>hindered</b> 42:7<br><b>history</b> 84:12<br>117:2<br><b>hold</b> 6:11 8:6 33:6<br>73:12 117:9<br><b>holds</b> 96:25<br><b>Hollow</b> 36:13<br>37:15 39:15<br>40:11<br><b>home</b> 45:12 88:18<br>88:20 93:19<br>110:7 | <b>homicide</b> 68:19<br><b>honor</b> 70:6<br><b>Honorable</b> 70:3<br><b>Hood</b> 110:3<br><b>hope</b> 89:7 117:19<br><b>hopefully</b> 57:5<br>58:3 64:17 77:2<br>77:20<br><b>host</b> 108:20<br><b>house</b> 64:24 101:4<br><b>hundred</b> 60:12<br>75:18 88:25<br><b>hundreds</b> 13:18<br>109:14,14<br><b>hungry</b> 76:3<br><hr/> <b>I</b><br><b>idea</b> 17:21 27:6<br>58:10 77:5<br>102:23<br><b>ideas</b> 28:10 77:4<br><b>identification</b><br>19:12<br><b>identify</b> 12:11<br>17:6 18:10 21:2<br>41:23<br><b>identifying</b> 95:25<br><b>III</b> 47:5,11<br><b>illegal</b> 43:11<br>94:15,19 95:5<br>96:20 97:7,13<br>97:15,23 98:3<br>99:5,16,17<br>102:3 104:13<br>105:7<br><b>imagine</b> 44:3<br>113:10<br><b>imagined</b> 13:13<br><b>imbedded</b> 63:9<br><b>immediate</b> 51:7<br><b>impact</b> 20:13<br>70:16 75:23<br>80:10 87:19<br>89:14 93:17<br>98:10 99:9<br><b>impacted</b> 80:21<br><b>impacts</b> 73:3,5 | 77:16 93:16<br><b>implementing</b><br>52:13<br><b>importance</b> 14:2<br>14:3 64:2<br><b>important</b> 3:6,7<br>3:11 5:23,25<br>14:8 25:4 35:22<br>38:13 39:20<br>52:23 65:15<br>74:10 109:23<br>110:19<br><b>improve</b> 11:21<br>32:19<br><b>improved</b> 13:14<br><b>improvements</b><br>11:20 12:19<br>13:15 35:11<br><b>incarcerated</b><br>97:12<br><b>incarceration</b><br>47:20<br><b>incidences</b> 95:6<br><b>incident</b> 11:15<br>36:11 40:11,24<br>41:8 89:13<br><b>incidents</b> 4:9<br>12:23 13:6<br>15:19 16:12<br>19:18 36:22<br>52:23 53:18<br>88:17 90:6,12<br>94:14<br><b>include</b> 32:12<br>87:12,18 90:19<br><b>included</b> 51:23<br><b>includes</b> 87:22<br>90:17<br><b>including</b> 33:20<br>42:22<br><b>income</b> 112:5<br><b>increased</b> 48:3<br><b>indicated</b> 54:2<br><b>indirectly</b> 93:18<br><b>individual</b> 46:9<br><b>individuals</b> 44:9<br>46:7 92:20 |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|

|                           |                          |                          |                           |                          |
|---------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|---------------------------|--------------------------|
| <b>indoor</b> 12:9        | 63:3 64:4                | 54:10 61:5,9             | 109:5,6 114:4             | 28:20,20 38:15           |
| <b>informally</b> 20:6    | <b>intelligent</b> 56:21 | 70:15 77:13,16           | 118:12,14                 | 39:3 41:4 43:17          |
| <b>information</b> 3:9    | 57:4                     | 87:2 89:19               | 119:11,13                 | 44:18 45:14              |
| 11:12 18:18               | <b>intended</b> 15:2     | 101:25 104:7             | 120:19,21 121:2           | 48:14 50:10              |
| 47:3 48:15                | 23:20 67:3               | 111:9                    | 121:3,24 122:2            | 51:18 52:4,7             |
| 54:16 58:3 59:2           | <b>intending</b> 67:25   | <b>I'mma</b> 113:7       | 123:8,10                  | 57:25 59:12,12           |
| 62:11,22 63:2             | <b>intent</b> 67:10      |                          | <b>Jr</b> 1:11 2:14 3:23  | 60:5,7 61:15             |
| 63:10 76:24               | <b>interact</b> 82:4     | <b>J</b>                 | <b>judge</b> 77:6         | 65:3,16 67:5             |
| 112:13 124:23             | <b>interaction</b> 13:11 | <b>jail</b> 98:7,24      | <b>judged</b> 79:18       | 68:21 75:6               |
| <b>informed</b> 89:12     | 64:5 82:12               | 111:17                   | <b>judges</b> 98:8 103:8  | 76:20 77:24              |
| 89:20                     | <b>interest</b> 64:21    | <b>Jeffrey</b> 83:2 86:4 | <b>judging</b> 89:5       | 79:7,14,20,21            |
| <b>initial</b> 58:19      | <b>interested</b> 5:5,12 | <b>job</b> 4:14 15:16    | <b>jump</b> 58:3 70:19    | 80:4 86:16,17            |
| <b>initially</b> 20:22    | 124:10                   | 39:11 80:12              | <b>jurisdiction</b> 90:21 | 88:22 90:25              |
| <b>initiative</b> 12:4    | <b>interesting</b> 5:18  | <b>Joe</b> 43:13 45:4    | <b>juveniles</b> 57:18    | 91:17 93:15              |
| <b>initiatives</b> 11:20  | 81:20 96:24              | <b>jog</b> 71:18         |                           | 94:23 96:15              |
| 12:20 13:15               | <b>interior</b> 12:11    | <b>Johnson</b> 1:11      | <b>K</b>                  | 98:2,22 99:10            |
| 35:11 64:19               | <b>intervening</b> 78:8  | 2:16 3:19,20             | <b>keep</b> 4:21 38:5     | 101:8 104:14             |
| 72:13                     | <b>intervention</b>      | 30:22 36:2,5             | 54:21 61:18               | 106:5 107:5              |
| <b>innocent</b> 71:20     | 72:12                    | 40:15,19 41:13           | 64:19 70:22               | 112:7,23 113:20          |
| <b>input</b> 38:19        | <b>introduce</b> 90:18   | 42:13,14 43:6            | 85:16 89:12               | 114:7,24,25              |
| 102:14                    | 91:2                     | 44:16 45:13              | 92:15,22,22               | 124:20                   |
| <b>inside</b> 20:20 21:9  | <b>introduced</b> 31:21  | 46:12 47:18,22           | 93:10,23                  | <b>knowing</b> 18:13     |
| 37:5 42:18 46:5           | 116:20,22                | 55:16,17,19              | <b>keeps</b> 77:18        | 19:10                    |
| 47:8 51:5 90:14           | <b>introducing</b> 3:4   | 58:17 60:23              | <b>Kenyatta</b> 1:11      | <b>known</b> 70:11       |
| 106:11,12                 | <b>invited</b> 98:12     | 61:23 62:15,16           | 2:15 3:18                 | 72:20 113:19             |
| <b>insight</b> 41:10      | <b>involve</b> 94:15     | 63:15 69:19              | 108:13                    | <b>knows</b> 64:7 91:7   |
| <b>Inspections</b> 12:8   | <b>involved</b> 16:13    | 73:14,15,21,24           | <b>kick</b> 60:6          | 97:8,21 99:5             |
| <b>Inspector</b> 36:4     | 44:21,22 89:12           | 74:16 76:5,18            | <b>kicked</b> 99:2        | <b>know-how</b> 57:25    |
| 38:20 46:9                | 114:8                    | 76:19,23,25              | <b>kid</b> 98:23          |                          |
| 52:24 54:2 55:8           | <b>involvement</b> 16:7  | 78:21 79:16              | <b>kids</b> 17:2 48:4     | <b>L</b>                 |
| 60:4 63:7                 | 17:13 37:7               | 81:3,4,8,9,14,16         | 93:2 98:17                | <b>L</b> 126:14          |
| <b>install</b> 23:21      | <b>island</b> 93:16      | 91:12 92:7,8             | 109:17,17                 | <b>lack</b> 53:21 100:21 |
| 25:25                     | 109:2                    | 105:23,24                | <b>kind</b> 3:14 17:23    | <b>language</b> 42:20    |
| <b>installation</b> 11:25 | <b>isolated</b> 12:11    | 108:13                   | 47:2 51:16,19             | <b>large</b> 20:17 21:12 |
| <b>installed</b> 21:5     | <b>issue</b> 5:7,9,19    | <b>Johnson's</b> 21:2    | 51:22 53:13,20            | <b>larger</b> 12:10      |
| <b>instances</b> 54:11    | 14:8,18 28:7,9           | 109:3                    | 53:22,23 56:3             | 20:10 22:4               |
| <b>instituted</b> 12:19   | 35:22 51:15              | <b>join</b> 79:21        | 57:21 58:9 94:9           | <b>LaSalle</b> 27:14     |
| 17:4                      | 58:13 65:7               | <b>joined</b> 8:24 117:8 | 99:23,25 101:25           | <b>lately</b> 65:13      |
| <b>instituting</b> 35:10  | 77:10,11,22              | <b>joining</b> 2:16      | 111:8,9 124:18            | <b>Lauren</b> 83:5       |
| <b>institutions</b> 26:11 | 89:8 93:12               | <b>Jones</b> 1:11 2:13   | <b>King</b> 75:4          | <b>law</b> 23:14 42:23   |
| 26:14,19,22,25            | 94:12,18 95:9            | 2:14,22,24,25            | <b>know</b> 4:17 6:5,6    | 42:24 43:24              |
| 96:4 104:25               | 98:22 102:11             | 3:17,23 22:8,10          | 14:18,23 15:8             | 49:7,10,16               |
| <b>insurmountable</b>     | 103:21 109:13            | 22:11,21 24:18           | 15:19,23 16:24            | 50:17 53:13              |
| 52:11                     | 124:10,12                | 39:6 66:2,3              | 17:13 18:2,5              | 66:16 85:9               |
| <b>intel</b> 59:20 63:8   | <b>issued</b> 47:10      | 78:25 79:2 80:2          | 19:17 20:5,10             | 96:16,22 100:22          |
| 64:9                      | <b>issues</b> 15:12,17   | 80:23 82:4,14            | 22:8,19 25:19             | 102:25 104:17            |
| <b>intelligence</b> 56:11 | 39:2 52:16,19            | 93:6 108:9               | 25:21 26:8                | 118:17,20,25             |

|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| 121:6,9,14<br>124:15<br><b>lawful</b> 5:11 46:10<br>94:17,25<br><b>laws</b> 54:3 66:21<br>92:12 94:13<br>95:7 102:8,19<br><b>lawsuit</b> 105:18<br><b>lawyer</b> 52:17 67:2<br>67:3 84:24<br><b>law-abiding</b><br>95:21 96:11<br>102:9,20,24<br>103:17<br><b>lead</b> 87:23<br><b>leader</b> 2:13 37:17<br>64:6 93:6<br><b>leaders</b> 37:10<br>59:6,11 62:7<br>65:18 84:3<br>89:18<br><b>leadership</b> 3:3<br>39:10<br><b>leading</b> 51:9<br><b>league</b> 15:4 17:2<br>56:24 60:13<br>62:2 88:2,5<br><b>leagues</b> 13:4,9,13<br>14:23 16:4,19<br>16:23 17:3,8,14<br>17:17 18:3,14<br>18:25 19:24<br>35:5,14 37:4,13<br>56:17 59:3 60:6<br><b>learn</b> 34:4<br><b>leave</b> 45:12 93:5<br>106:13,17<br><b>left</b> 8:2 23:2<br><b>legal</b> 49:8 50:10<br>50:13,19 51:14<br>51:17 53:19<br>95:8 96:18<br>97:14 101:12,20<br>105:17 124:10<br><b>legality</b> 67:22<br><b>legally</b> 43:16,17<br>44:4,9 45:5 | <b>legislation</b> 3:4 6:9<br>10:21 67:11<br>106:5<br><b>legislators</b> 105:2<br>105:9<br><b>legitimate</b> 44:3<br>46:6 67:2 106:9<br><b>legwork</b> 68:7<br><b>lethal</b> 95:15<br><b>let's</b> 41:6<br><b>let-out</b> 60:11<br><b>level</b> 60:25 102:8<br><b>levels</b> 71:23<br><b>liaison</b> 55:20<br><b>libraries</b> 32:13<br><b>licensed</b> 44:5,9<br>53:10 101:21<br><b>Licenses</b> 12:7<br><b>license-carrying</b><br>46:7<br><b>life</b> 70:16 73:5<br>75:21 110:12,15<br>111:18,18<br><b>light</b> 41:4,11<br>81:22<br><b>likes</b> 53:23<br><b>limit</b> 102:5,6<br><b>limited</b> 66:5<br><b>limits</b> 12:13 50:5<br><b>line</b> 93:21<br><b>lines</b> 28:18<br><b>linkages</b> 26:14<br>76:2<br><b>list</b> 52:7 56:2<br><b>listen</b> 61:14<br>117:17<br><b>listening</b> 48:15<br><b>little</b> 16:6,21<br>18:17 20:3<br>65:11 93:3<br>99:24 115:2<br><b>live</b> 80:5 95:12,19<br>103:12 115:4<br><b>lives</b> 80:10,20<br>87:18 93:14<br><b>living</b> 100:6<br><b>local</b> 82:11 | <b>located</b> 7:6,18<br>57:19<br><b>location</b> 3:8<br><b>locations</b> 12:12<br>20:22 104:20<br><b>locked</b> 12:12<br><b>logical</b> 85:13<br><b>long</b> 69:3 82:2,7<br>84:12 113:19<br>114:8 115:14<br>116:9<br><b>longer</b> 45:21<br>110:3<br><b>look</b> 5:18 10:18<br>14:9 24:15<br>26:12 27:12<br>35:15,23 46:15<br>47:2,6,15 49:23<br>51:21 55:5 58:5<br>68:16 69:4<br>77:22 88:8,19<br><b>looked</b> 91:3<br><b>looking</b> 27:7<br>28:18 42:25<br>48:19 54:14<br>74:25 110:10<br><b>lose</b> 117:2<br><b>lost</b> 46:23 82:16<br>89:3<br><b>lot</b> 42:4 56:5<br>82:15 90:17<br>94:13<br><b>lots</b> 79:10<br><b>love</b> 111:6,7,13,15<br>115:17<br><b>loved</b> 112:6<br><b>lower</b> 68:19 | 123:11<br><b>main</b> 51:9 75:19<br><b>maintained</b> 11:15<br><b>maintains</b> 11:12<br><b>majority</b> 2:13<br>34:19 93:6<br><b>making</b> 4:9,10 5:4<br>5:23 15:18<br>16:10,12 39:25<br>61:10 67:22<br>110:5<br><b>male</b> 36:15,17,19<br><b>man</b> 43:10 46:22<br>88:20 109:21<br>112:3,3<br><b>management</b> 12:7<br>54:6<br><b>Manager</b> 70:9<br><b>managers</b> 59:8<br>60:16<br><b>manner</b> 54:13<br>94:17<br><b>mansion</b> 109:24<br>110:2,2<br><b>map</b> 77:19<br><b>March</b> 1:8 59:24<br><b>Maria</b> 1:13 117:8<br><b>matter</b> 14:11<br>126:7<br><b>matters</b> 108:3<br>110:12<br><b>Mayor</b> 61:2<br><b>mayors</b> 84:2<br><b>mean</b> 21:20 50:24<br>50:25 53:13<br>67:6 97:17<br>98:16<br><b>means</b> 51:5 97:12<br>126:21<br><b>measure</b> 89:12<br><b>measures</b> 41:12<br>103:10<br><b>mechanisms</b><br>35:19<br><b>meet</b> 59:9,23<br>104:20<br><b>meeting</b> 58:20 | 62:9 108:2,2<br>118:10<br><b>meetings</b> 59:15<br><b>member</b> 86:24<br><b>members</b> 2:12,20<br>9:19 18:9 19:8<br>22:24 31:17<br>32:21 33:11<br>36:3 64:24 70:5<br>84:8 86:3 108:6<br>117:10<br><b>memory</b> 114:19<br><b>men</b> 19:14,19<br><b>mention</b> 91:17<br><b>mentioned</b> 14:23<br>20:4 82:3<br><b>mentoring</b> 76:10<br>76:13<br><b>mentorship</b> 77:25<br><b>merger</b> 12:22<br><b>message</b> 48:7<br>68:11 69:2<br><b>met</b> 15:9 58:22<br>61:4,8<br><b>mic</b> 9:13 31:10<br><b>Michael</b> 30:19<br>31:13 69:18<br>70:8<br><b>MICHELE</b><br>126:14<br><b>middle</b> 36:16<br>40:13 42:2<br><b>Mike</b> 43:2 55:20<br>57:5 63:16<br><b>military</b> 111:13<br><b>million</b> 68:18<br><b>mind</b> 40:12 51:5<br>54:21 89:20,20<br><b>mindful</b> 11:7<br>34:15<br><b>mine</b> 79:9 99:20<br>117:12<br><b>minute</b> 67:7,8,9<br><b>modern</b> 23:4<br><b>monetary</b> 24:5<br>47:17,18<br><b>money</b> 24:6 80:6 |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|

|                         |                          |                           |                           |                           |
|-------------------------|--------------------------|---------------------------|---------------------------|---------------------------|
| <b>monthly</b> 59:14    | 66:19                    | <b>noted</b> 106:21       | <b>officers</b> 23:14,15  | 99:18,20                  |
| <b>months</b> 62:5      | <b>need</b> 16:18 17:10  | <b>notes</b> 126:6        | 36:14,17,18,19            | <b>opportunities</b>      |
| <b>mopeds</b> 113:2     | 17:13 21:15              | <b>notice</b> 90:5        | 41:19,20 51:24            | 27:7 60:15                |
| <b>mother</b> 5:25      | 50:16 54:21              | 113:20                    | 51:25 60:18               | 115:12                    |
| 112:7                   | 57:7 60:20 67:4          | <b>noticed</b> 63:25      | 63:8                      | <b>opportunity</b>        |
| <b>motion</b> 118:12    | 67:5,25 68:2             | <b>nuances</b> 66:24      | <b>official</b> 42:24     | 11:19 14:7 18:5           |
| 119:8,11 120:11         | 72:24 78:11,18           | <b>number</b> 15:20       | <b>officially</b> 52:8    | 35:21 79:3                |
| 120:19 121:2,21         | 79:6,7,20,20,21          | 25:10 28:12,13            | <b>officials</b> 66:17    | 80:17 86:8 89:4           |
| 121:24 122:24           | 85:16 96:13              | 34:22 39:18               | 77:3                      | <b>opposed</b> 97:10      |
| 123:8 125:2             | 98:2,20 103:4            | 67:20 72:9                | <b>off-duty</b> 51:25     | 102:4 119:6               |
| <b>motto</b> 72:21      | <b>needed</b> 17:24      | 116:5,6                   | <b>Oh</b> 1:12 2:15 4:25  | 120:9 121:19              |
| <b>mouth</b> 80:7       | 39:17,17 45:3            | <b>numbers</b> 37:9       | 5:2 27:23,24              | 122:22 124:5              |
| <b>move</b> 30:4 57:6   | <b>needing</b> 103:19    | 65:11 90:6                | 28:5 29:11                | <b>opposition</b> 124:7   |
| 69:10 77:2,21           | <b>needs</b> 26:6 45:8   | <b>NuSigma</b> 75:14      | 48:24 49:2,19             | <b>OPT</b> 75:2           |
| 78:17 118:18            | 45:17 61:22              | 76:12                     | 50:3,15 51:12             | <b>opted</b> 88:4         |
| 119:14,17 121:7         | 72:11 78:7               | <b>Nutter</b> 32:5        | 55:12 94:4,5              | <b>options</b> 78:2       |
| 122:3,6 123:11          | 87:14 115:11             |                           | 97:6 99:13                | <b>order</b> 2:4 72:5     |
| 123:13 124:12           | <b>negative</b> 13:8     | <b>O</b>                  | 103:25 108:17             | <b>ordinance</b> 1:15,18  |
| <b>moved</b> 118:23     | 77:20                    | <b>objections</b> 126:4   | 108:17,18 124:6           | 1:21 6:21 7:8             |
| 119:22 120:2            | <b>negatively</b> 89:13  | <b>observation</b> 23:8   | 124:18                    | 30:8 44:8 55:2            |
| 121:12 122:12           | <b>neighborhood</b> 6:3  | <b>observed</b> 36:14     | <b>Oh's</b> 85:8          | <b>ordinances</b>         |
| 122:15 123:19           | 13:25 64:5               | 41:15                     | <b>okay</b> 18:19 20:2    | 102:19                    |
| 123:22                  | 100:8 115:2              | <b>obtain</b> 115:25      | 22:6 24:15                | <b>organization</b> 56:8  |
| <b>moving</b> 67:19     | <b>neighborhoods</b>     | <b>obviously</b> 5:20     | 27:17 29:15               | 74:13,17                  |
| <b>multiplier</b> 24:8  | 16:5 56:18 73:6          | 38:15 41:16               | 39:5 40:22                | <b>organizations</b>      |
| <b>municipal</b> 32:11  | 80:14 82:2               | 43:21 44:5 45:6           | 42:11 47:22               | 64:15 66:16               |
| 50:21                   | 100:7                    | 51:24 54:21               | 51:19 58:15               | 78:12 84:4                |
| <b>municipalities</b>   | <b>network</b> 22:17     | 100:5                     | 76:14,25 124:16           | <b>organized</b> 16:4     |
| 84:19                   | 23:24 70:11              | <b>occasions</b> 32:16    | <b>old</b> 110:25         | 56:2 113:3                |
| <b>MURPHY</b> 126:14    | 72:20 73:18              | 39:18                     | <b>older</b> 6:3 19:14,19 | <b>organizing</b> 16:10   |
|                         | 89:17                    | <b>occupied</b> 32:4      | <b>once</b> 21:4 31:4     | 18:25 56:9                |
| <b>N</b>                | <b>never</b> 72:21 85:14 | <b>occupy</b> 100:13      | 36:21 50:4                | <b>outdoor</b> 12:9 35:4  |
| <b>name</b> 9:4,20 31:5 | 109:19 110:13            | <b>occur</b> 72:6         | 51:14,20 57:20            | <b>outfit</b> 20:23 21:16 |
| 31:12 33:12             | 113:10                   | <b>occurred</b> 36:11     | 111:17                    | 21:18                     |
| 36:4 69:25 70:8         | <b>new</b> 17:5 39:9,13  | 36:12 40:24               | <b>ones</b> 23:23 112:6   | <b>outreach</b> 57:9,12   |
| 73:15 83:16             | 64:8 68:17,24            | <b>occurring</b> 11:2     | <b>ongoing</b> 13:2       | 57:23 84:6                |
| 86:4 90:23              | 74:24 108:16             | 15:13 34:10               | <b>onus</b> 25:18         | <b>outside</b> 21:9       |
| 91:10 107:11,19         | <b>nicknames</b> 17:19   | <b>offense</b> 47:5,5,12  | <b>open</b> 22:7 61:21    | 53:11 98:17               |
| <b>names</b> 17:18,18   | <b>night</b> 53:8 90:11  | <b>offer</b> 31:20 87:18  | 102:13                    | 106:17,18                 |
| 17:23 37:11             | <b>North</b> 58:21 61:4  | 87:19,20 118:15           | <b>opening</b> 2:20       | 110:22 114:25             |
| 69:17                   | 113:8 115:5              | 120:22 121:4              | <b>operate</b> 91:23      | <b>overall</b> 18:20 24:3 |
| <b>national</b> 77:19   | <b>Northeast</b> 115:8   | <b>offered</b> 40:6       | <b>operating</b> 4:14     | 57:2                      |
| <b>nature</b> 7:24      | <b>Northwest</b> 114:13  | <b>office</b> 12:7 52:18  | <b>Operations</b> 70:9    | <b>owners</b> 95:21       |
| 118:18 121:7            | 115:4                    | 69:5                      | <b>opinion</b> 45:16      | 96:11 103:14,15           |
| <b>necessarily</b> 5:10 | <b>note</b> 7:21 63:19   | <b>officer</b> 36:6 42:24 | 49:7,11 51:17             | 103:17                    |
| 49:14                   | 84:11,23 92:9            | 43:13,18 58:4             | 99:14                     | <b>ownership</b> 111:25   |
| <b>necessary</b> 10:20  | 106:2                    | 62:3                      | <b>opinions</b> 94:11     | <b>O'Brien</b> 1:12 2:17  |

| <b>P</b>                 |                          |                          |                         |                           |
|--------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|-------------------------|---------------------------|
| <b>P</b> 83:7            | 45:1 46:1,6 47:1         | <b>participated</b>      | 92:14                   | 123:15,23 125:6           |
| <b>PA</b> 83:24          | 48:1,17 49:1             | 37:12                    | <b>Pennsylvanians</b>   | <b>permits</b> 5:12 52:6  |
| <b>PAAN</b> 56:8 57:8    | 50:1 51:1 52:1           | <b>participating</b>     | 84:2                    | 94:25 95:21               |
| 65:10 70:12              | 53:1 54:1,24             | 16:23 17:3,14            | <b>people</b> 3:25 4:20 | 96:12                     |
| 72:20 78:8               | 55:1 56:1 57:1           | 56:11 91:20              | 5:10,24 6:7             | <b>perpetrator</b> 3:8    |
| <b>PAANs</b> 64:15       | 58:1 59:1 60:1           | <b>particular</b> 25:6   | 10:24 14:25             | <b>person</b> 29:24       |
| <b>page</b> 69:9         | 61:1,17 62:1             | 28:19 41:10              | 16:5 18:16              | 45:24 46:18,20            |
| <b>painful</b> 89:25     | 63:1,11 64:1             | 57:19 63:25              | 19:12,22 25:5           | 48:7 53:15                |
| <b>panel</b> 30:16 49:5  | 65:1 66:1 67:1           | 81:24 114:12             | 26:20 34:8,20           | 56:23 82:8                |
| 69:16 82:24              | 68:1 69:1 70:1           | <b>particularly</b>      | 34:22 37:12             | 93:16,17 97:9             |
| 85:11 117:20             | 71:1 72:1 73:1           | 14:19 23:22              | 42:5 52:8 53:2          | 100:24 101:19             |
| <b>Pan-Tilt-Zoom</b>     | 74:1 75:1 76:1           | 39:15 61:17              | 53:19 57:24             | 111:25                    |
| 23:4                     | 77:1 78:1 79:1           | 79:9 81:22               | 60:12 64:8              | <b>personal</b> 90:25     |
| <b>parent</b> 75:2 86:24 | 80:1 81:1 82:1           | 99:17 102:4              | 65:16 68:13,18          | <b>personally</b> 88:17   |
| <b>parents</b> 39:23     | 83:1,7 84:1 85:1         | <b>partner</b> 27:6,11   | 68:20 70:18             | <b>persons</b> 94:16,25   |
| 72:16 87:13              | 86:1 87:1,8 88:1         | 85:22 90:13              | 71:4 75:18,24           | <b>person's</b> 77:7      |
| 109:16 110:14            | 89:1,15 90:1             | 103:15                   | 76:6 77:17,22           | <b>perspective</b> 61:10  |
| 110:16                   | 91:1 92:1,20             | <b>partnered</b> 84:7    | 78:3 80:11              | 102:2                     |
| <b>park</b> 3:10 6:3 7:6 | 93:1 94:1 95:1           | <b>partners</b> 10:13    | 81:25 82:6,13           | <b>perspectives</b>       |
| 10:10 11:11              | 96:1 97:1 98:1           | 33:25                    | 92:24 94:19             | 38:14                     |
| 12:3 13:4 33:20          | 99:1 100:1,13            | <b>partnership</b> 4:11  | 95:20 96:3              | <b>pertaining</b> 109:9   |
| 42:19 43:15              | 101:1,5 102:1            | 27:4 37:2 55:23          | 97:20 98:2,9,14         | 111:9 112:22              |
| 47:8 50:7 53:8           | 103:1 104:1              | 57:11 74:23              | 99:10 100:12,18         | 117:18                    |
| 56:15 67:7               | 105:1 106:1              | 75:13 81:10              | 101:3,8,15              | <b>Philadelphia</b> 1:2   |
| 86:22                    | 107:1 108:1              | <b>partnerships</b> 26:9 | 102:20 103:18           | 1:7,15,18,21              |
| <b>parkland</b> 13:20    | 109:1 110:1              | 63:21                    | 103:23,23 109:9         | 6:22 7:7,10,19            |
| <b>parks</b> 1:3,16 2:5  | 111:1 112:1              | <b>pass</b> 59:21        | 109:12,15,19            | 10:12 11:3                |
| 3:1,15 4:1 5:1           | 113:1 114:1              | <b>passing</b> 102:19    | 110:9,23 111:6          | 13:21 30:9,21             |
| 5:20 6:1,22 7:1          | 115:1 116:1              | <b>passion</b> 92:22     | 111:14,23               | 30:22 31:15               |
| 8:1 9:1,22 10:1          | 117:1 118:1,8            | 93:11                    | 112:22 113:6            | 32:7 33:23                |
| 10:3,15,23 11:1          | 119:1 120:1              | <b>patience</b> 69:23    | 114:13,14,23            | 34:11 50:5                |
| 11:4,22 12:1,18          | 121:1 122:1              | <b>pay</b> 46:25 68:20   | 115:10,12,16,18         | 56:19 70:10               |
| 12:21 13:1,21            | 123:1 124:1              | 78:16                    | 116:9,25                | 72:19 73:17               |
| 14:1,5,16 15:1,9         | 125:1,12                 | <b>payment</b> 86:12     | <b>people's</b> 100:21  | 77:18 83:6 84:9           |
| 16:1,2,20 17:1           | <b>part</b> 16:24 22:16  | <b>PDAC</b> 86:24        | 110:16                  | 84:13,18 85:14            |
| 18:1 19:1 20:1,9         | 23:7,22,23 39:3          | <b>Peace</b> 44:20 46:21 | <b>percent</b> 24:3     | 92:13 98:4                |
| 21:1 22:1 23:1           | 39:14,22 40:3            | 56:8                     | 25:14 48:16             | 105:18 112:25             |
| 24:1 25:1 26:1           | 50:15 64:7               | <b>penalties</b> 47:9,12 | 88:25                   | 113:5 114:13              |
| 27:1 28:1 29:1           | 66:20 70:21              | 47:16 68:11,13           | <b>percentage</b> 25:8  | 115:5,5 117:18            |
| 30:1 31:1,18,24          | 84:12 86:14              | 68:15,25 94:19           | 76:21                   | <b>Philadelphian</b>      |
| 32:1,17 33:1,14          | 94:21 96:7               | 103:7 104:15             | <b>perception</b> 39:4  | 100:5                     |
| 34:1,7,12,20             | 102:21,21                | <b>penalty</b> 47:5 48:3 | <b>permit</b> 16:25     | <b>Philadelphians</b>     |
| 35:1,9,12 36:1           | 105:22 111:24            | <b>Penn</b> 23:3,17 27:9 | 43:14,18 44:12          | 100:4,6                   |
| 37:1 38:1 39:1           | 114:12                   | <b>Pennsylvania</b> 1:7  | 46:10 53:5              | <b>Philadelphia's</b>     |
| 40:1 41:1 42:1           | <b>partially</b> 109:23  | 7:2,4,14,16 10:6         | 91:23 106:10            | 68:20                     |
| 43:1 44:1,24             | <b>participants</b> 72:2 | 10:8 26:15               | 119:18 120:3,16         | <b>Philly</b> 44:24 113:8 |
|                          | <b>participate</b> 18:16 | 83:20 85:2               | 122:7,16 123:5          | 113:8,9                   |

|                                    |                          |                          |                          |                          |
|------------------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|
| <b>PhillyRising</b><br>57:14 63:19 | 107:18                   | <b>precious</b> 89:14    | <b>problem</b> 15:7      | 121:12 122:12            |
| <b>phone</b> 60:4,9,19             | <b>pleasure</b> 86:8     | <b>preempt</b> 96:17     | 28:11 71:25              | 123:19                   |
| 61:13                              | <b>plug</b> 23:13 24:11  | <b>preempted</b> 49:16   | 95:5,17 110:14           | <b>properties</b> 49:13  |
| <b>pick</b> 60:4,9,19              | <b>point</b> 30:4 45:25  | 50:14                    | <b>problematic</b>       | <b>property</b> 1:22     |
| 61:13 63:6                         | 52:9 56:20 87:4          | <b>preemption</b> 85:9   | 84:25 95:23              | 30:10 31:24              |
| <b>picks</b> 59:16                 | 112:12 124:22            | <b>prepared</b> 15:24    | <b>problems</b> 37:23    | 32:4 33:24               |
| <b>pilot</b> 75:4                  | <b>points</b> 54:19      | 59:25                    | 38:2 59:5                | 35:16 51:2,7             |
| <b>pipeline</b> 46:4               | <b>police</b> 10:13,19   | <b>preschool</b> 13:24   | <b>proceedings</b>       | 67:6 96:24               |
| <b>place</b> 4:5,6 6:9 7:5         | 11:16 12:8,17            | <b>presence</b> 2:11     | 126:4                    | <b>proposed</b> 7:25     |
| 7:17 10:9 19:16                    | 12:25 13:11              | 13:2 39:21               | <b>process</b> 12:23     | 118:19,25 121:8          |
| 21:7 38:6 44:23                    | 17:25 18:12              | 60:13 103:5,22           | 28:16 43:22              | 121:14                   |
| 70:18 71:11                        | 23:14 30:22              | <b>present</b> 1:10 9:25 | 97:16                    | <b>prosecute</b> 104:16  |
| <b>placed</b> 49:25                | 33:24 35:8,16            | 33:16 58:24              | <b>program</b> 57:14,17  | <b>prosecuted</b> 97:11  |
| <b>places</b> 53:24                | 36:6,24 37:3,6           | <b>presents</b> 3:12     | 63:20 75:3,16            | <b>prosecution</b> 24:7  |
| 61:18 71:15                        | 37:18 38:24              | 89:6                     | 76:7,8,13 91:9           | <b>prosecutors</b> 98:6  |
| 96:2,8 97:3                        | 39:17,20 43:13           | <b>President</b> 31:21   | <b>programmed</b>        | 103:8                    |
| 103:21                             | 51:24,25 52:25           | 32:21 43:3 69:7          | 12:20                    | <b>protect</b> 84:14     |
| <b>plaguing</b> 61:7               | 54:6 60:13               | 83:8 86:3,18             | <b>programming</b>       | 85:19                    |
| <b>plain</b> 41:19                 | 61:11 62:3 68:5          | <b>pressing</b> 77:16    | 10:25 13:17              | <b>protecting</b> 54:22  |
| <b>plan</b> 25:23 58:8             | 69:8 84:2 86:20          | <b>pressure</b> 61:19    | 34:9 35:12               | 71:8                     |
| 114:10                             | 90:8 98:5                | 64:19                    | 74:20,22                 | <b>protection</b> 94:21  |
| <b>planning</b> 11:7               | 100:19 103:5             | <b>pretty</b> 6:17 17:23 | <b>programs</b> 9:11,22  | <b>proud</b> 110:7       |
| 34:15                              | <b>policies</b> 17:5     | 19:8 59:9 64:22          | 33:14 40:6 57:7          | <b>proven</b> 20:24      |
| <b>plate</b> 4:8                   | <b>policy</b> 47:14      | <b>prevent</b> 3:9 41:11 | 57:12,15 64:17           | <b>provide</b> 10:4,19   |
| <b>platform</b> 3:11               | 48:19                    | <b>preventative</b> 65:6 | 72:12,13,14              | 42:21 52:23              |
| <b>platitudes</b> 79:3             | <b>pool</b> 20:21        | <b>preventing</b> 53:15  | 73:16 75:9 82:5          | <b>provided</b> 13:11    |
| <b>play</b> 34:4 38:7              | <b>pools</b> 13:3        | <b>prevention</b> 66:15  | 82:9,13 91:4,6           | <b>providing</b> 1:16,19 |
| 44:2 45:7 70:19                    | <b>population</b> 77:17  | 72:12 76:8               | <b>progress</b> 18:24    | 1:22 6:23 7:11           |
| 70:19 71:18                        | 104:9 105:8              | <b>preventive</b> 55:24  | <b>prohibiting</b> 32:2  | 30:10 32:9               |
| 88:13 89:24                        | <b>porch</b> 100:16      | <b>previous</b> 32:16    | 33:17                    | 87:11                    |
| 97:24                              | <b>position</b> 64:22    | <b>pride</b> 87:6        | <b>prohibition</b> 1:22  | <b>proximity</b> 26:25   |
| <b>players</b> 88:6                | <b>positive</b> 73:2     | <b>primarily</b> 35:3    | 30:10 42:18              | <b>public</b> 1:21 2:4,7 |
| <b>playground</b> 6:4              | 113:12                   | <b>prior</b> 85:11       | <b>project</b> 80:12     | 3:5 10:20 22:13          |
| 7:6 10:10 33:21                    | <b>possession</b> 98:13  | <b>priorities</b> 77:9   | <b>projects</b> 56:13,14 | 30:9,20 31:14            |
| 36:13,15 37:16                     | <b>possibility</b> 20:7  | <b>private</b> 23:10     | 56:15 58:7               | 31:23,24 32:13           |
| 48:10 50:8                         | <b>possible</b> 12:13,14 | 52:3 53:5 72:3           | <b>promoted</b> 62:5     | 33:24 34:3               |
| 54:18 82:11,12                     | 25:15 26:9               | 96:4                     | <b>promotes</b> 3:5      | 35:16 38:17              |
| 86:19 101:5                        | 50:18 89:11              | <b>privilege</b> 70:6    | <b>promulgate</b> 31:25  | 43:13 48:19              |
| <b>playgrounds</b> 1:16            | <b>possibly</b> 24:11    | <b>proactive</b> 22:23   | 55:3                     | 53:16 54:13              |
| 6:23 10:15                         | <b>potential</b> 26:13   | 58:12                    | <b>promulgating</b>      | 55:20 58:10              |
| 14:20 48:5                         | 31:22 64:3               | <b>probably</b> 25:11    | 43:23                    | 64:13 67:6 72:3          |
| 100:13 105:11                      | 68:15                    | 28:8,20 41:17            | <b>pronounced</b>        | 77:10 95:2               |
| <b>playing</b> 19:11,13            | <b>potentially</b> 24:11 | 42:3,4,8 45:8,10         | 36:20                    | 96:24 104:20             |
| 19:15,20 56:16                     | <b>pothole</b> 110:5     | 45:12,17 46:10           | <b>proper</b> 6:9 19:11  | 108:10 118:7,10          |
| 56:16                              | <b>practical</b> 52:14   | 46:12 47:21,23           | 21:7 50:19               | 126:15                   |
| <b>please</b> 31:4                 | <b>practically</b> 52:13 | 63:22 95:10              | <b>properly</b> 101:21   | <b>publicly</b> 42:7     |
|                                    | <b>practice</b> 87:21    | 112:8                    | 118:23 119:23            | 100:3 106:7              |

|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| <p><b>pull</b> 48:11<br/> <b>pulled</b> 58:13<br/> <b>pun</b> 23:19 67:3<br/> <b>purchased</b> 94:16<br/> <b>purchaser</b> 46:13<br/> <b>purchasing</b> 46:3<br/> <b>purpose</b> 2:7 66:12<br/> <b>put</b> 19:16 25:16<br/> 45:7,11 57:7<br/> 59:2 62:23<br/> 68:12 70:14<br/> 71:6,11 78:15<br/> 80:6 88:19<br/> 106:6,18<br/> <b>puts</b> 86:12<br/> <b>putting</b> 78:2<br/> 90:21 98:24<br/> <b>p.m</b> 1:8 36:13<br/> 125:14</p> <hr/> <p style="text-align: center;"><b>Q</b></p> <p><b>quality</b> 70:15 73:5<br/> 75:21,21<br/> <b>question</b> 22:20<br/> 48:18 54:8<br/> 55:18 58:16<br/> 86:16 96:15<br/> 97:2,18 102:6<br/> 102:17,23<br/> 124:19<br/> <b>questions</b> 14:10<br/> 22:9,15 28:17<br/> 29:12,17 33:3,6<br/> 35:24 42:16<br/> 49:4 52:13<br/> 67:20 73:12<br/> 74:3 85:9,21<br/> 94:9 106:5<br/> <b>quickly</b> 96:9<br/> <b>Quinones-Sanc...</b><br/> 1:13 117:9<br/> <b>quite</b> 27:10 43:9<br/> 46:5 48:8<br/> 112:15,17<br/> <b>quorum</b> 2:11</p> <hr/> <p style="text-align: center;"><b>R</b></p> <p><b>raise</b> 54:20</p> | <p><b>raised</b> 124:13<br/> <b>raises</b> 97:18<br/> <b>raising</b> 110:13<br/> <b>ranges</b> 70:25<br/> <b>rape</b> 53:6 101:18<br/> <b>rate</b> 68:19<br/> <b>reach</b> 27:8 74:14<br/> 74:14<br/> <b>read</b> 4:24 6:15,18<br/> 8:7,11 30:5<br/> 69:17<br/> <b>reading</b> 48:14<br/> 119:19 120:4,16<br/> 122:8,17 123:5<br/> 123:15,23 125:6<br/> <b>ready</b> 95:23<br/> <b>real</b> 115:18<br/> <b>reality</b> 80:5<br/> <b>realize</b> 111:18<br/> 115:24<br/> <b>really</b> 20:11 21:20<br/> 26:9 37:17 39:2<br/> 39:8 45:14<br/> 46:19,21 47:2<br/> 48:13 52:20<br/> 56:10,20 57:4<br/> 60:24 62:20,24<br/> 64:4,9 65:15<br/> 74:18 77:4 82:2<br/> 114:22 124:21<br/> <b>reason</b> 16:21 44:3<br/> 100:9<br/> <b>reasonable</b> 85:7<br/> <b>reasons</b> 23:6<br/> 115:3<br/> <b>rebuilding</b> 87:17<br/> <b>rec</b> 3:15 4:6,20<br/> 19:2 23:9,22<br/> 25:8,16 26:16<br/> 26:18,21 27:2<br/> 32:17 43:25<br/> 51:11 54:17,24<br/> 59:6 61:7 63:11<br/> 64:6 65:18<br/> 74:25 75:10<br/> 81:11 90:7,11<br/> 90:20,24 91:11</p> | <p>91:24 92:21<br/> <b>recall</b> 15:19<br/> <b>received</b> 5:11<br/> <b>receptive</b> 61:12<br/> <b>recital</b> 116:19<br/> <b>recognize</b> 2:10<br/> 3:6 46:24 75:13<br/> 77:6 86:11<br/> 108:7,9,11,12<br/> 108:15 115:23<br/> <b>recognized</b> 56:6<br/> 80:19<br/> <b>recognizes</b> 22:9<br/> 24:21 27:22<br/> 48:25 55:16<br/> 65:25 74:4<br/> 76:17 78:24<br/> 81:2 92:6 94:3<br/> 118:11 119:10<br/> 120:18,25<br/> 121:23 123:7<br/> <b>recognizing</b> 26:5<br/> 77:5<br/> <b>recommendation</b><br/> 119:16,25<br/> 120:14 122:5,14<br/> 123:3,13,21<br/> 125:4<br/> <b>record</b> 9:4 31:5<br/> 53:21 69:25<br/> 78:15 80:4<br/> 83:10 107:12,19<br/> 117:7<br/> <b>recreation</b> 1:3,19<br/> 2:6 3:24 4:15<br/> 5:21 6:4 7:10,18<br/> 9:10,21,23 10:3<br/> 10:11,16,23<br/> 11:2,4,11,22<br/> 12:2,3,10,18,21<br/> 13:2,5,18,22<br/> 14:17,20 15:9<br/> 16:3,20 20:9<br/> 31:18,25 32:13<br/> 33:13,15,22<br/> 34:7,10,12,20<br/> 35:3,9,12 36:25</p> | <p>37:6,8,10,16,20<br/> 37:23 38:3,5<br/> 39:16,21 43:15<br/> 48:2,17 50:22<br/> 51:6,8 62:7<br/> 66:17 70:17,17<br/> 71:14 72:7<br/> 75:17 81:7 87:9<br/> 89:15 104:11<br/> 105:11 108:23<br/> 108:23 109:22<br/> 109:25 118:8<br/> 125:12<br/> <b>recreational</b> 14:5<br/> 42:19<br/> <b>Recreation's</b><br/> 86:23<br/> <b>recs</b> 61:17<br/> <b>Rec's</b> 90:23<br/> <b>reduce</b> 24:3 54:4<br/> 72:5 73:2<br/> <b>reduced</b> 13:7<br/> 55:10<br/> <b>Reduction</b> 57:10<br/> 57:16 64:16<br/> 74:23<br/> <b>referred</b> 76:6<br/> <b>regarding</b> 42:17<br/> <b>regards</b> 37:19<br/> 74:19<br/> <b>region</b> 26:12<br/> <b>regular</b> 44:13<br/> 59:10<br/> <b>regulate</b> 28:15<br/> 49:20,24 50:20<br/> 54:10 97:14<br/> 102:3<br/> <b>regulated</b> 106:8<br/> <b>regulating</b> 47:2<br/> 49:11,17 94:24<br/> 97:15<br/> <b>regulation</b> 49:15<br/> 55:5 96:17<br/> <b>regulations</b> 31:25<br/> 35:18 42:21<br/> 43:23 47:10<br/> 51:22 55:3</p> | <p>71:11<br/> <b>regulatory</b> 103:10<br/> <b>reintroduce</b> 87:10<br/> <b>reinvent</b> 89:4<br/> <b>related</b> 93:21<br/> <b>relationship</b><br/> 12:25 61:20<br/> 76:9<br/> <b>relationships</b><br/> 56:25 60:17<br/> <b>relax</b> 71:19<br/> <b>remarks</b> 2:21<br/> 111:9<br/> <b>remember</b> 40:23<br/> 41:2 62:14<br/> 92:18 114:9,15<br/> 114:21<br/> <b>removed</b> 79:11<br/> <b>report</b> 1:16,19<br/> 6:24 7:12 10:4<br/> 10:22 109:8,10<br/> <b>reported</b> 1:17,20<br/> 6:25 7:13 10:5<br/> 11:15 89:16<br/> 119:15,24<br/> 120:13 122:4,13<br/> 123:2,12,20<br/> 125:3<br/> <b>reporter</b> 126:23<br/> <b>represent</b> 90:24<br/> <b>representation</b><br/> 16:14<br/> <b>representing</b><br/> 40:25<br/> <b>reproduction</b><br/> 126:20<br/> <b>request</b> 88:6<br/> 120:14 123:3<br/> 124:8,9 125:5<br/> <b>rescue</b> 36:21<br/> <b>reside</b> 26:16<br/> <b>residence</b> 109:6<br/> <b>resident</b> 113:21<br/> 113:22<br/> <b>residents</b> 32:7,24<br/> <b>Resnick</b> 30:19<br/> 31:7,11,13</p> |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|

|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| 38:15 43:21<br>45:10 46:8<br>47:16,19 49:9<br>49:21 50:12<br>51:3 54:15<br>55:20 60:24<br>63:6 69:5,12<br><b>resolution</b> 23:5<br><b>resort</b> 103:19<br><b>resources</b> 12:15<br>35:6 66:5,8 71:9<br>72:23 81:10<br>103:6 109:9<br>110:21<br><b>respect</b> 57:13<br>61:6 88:7 99:21<br>103:13 111:17<br><b>respond</b> 10:21<br>61:14<br><b>responded</b> 35:10<br><b>responding</b> 58:16<br>61:20<br><b>response</b> 29:18<br>107:2 118:3<br>119:7 120:10<br>121:20 122:23<br><b>responses</b> 100:2<br><b>responsible</b> 45:2<br>45:22 59:14<br>92:12 94:16<br>99:4<br><b>responsibly</b> 34:21<br><b>responsive</b> 100:23<br><b>restricting</b> 94:24<br><b>restriction</b> 85:7<br><b>resulted</b> 13:6<br><b>retaliatory</b> 88:3<br><b>retribution</b><br>100:24<br><b>return</b> 36:19<br>41:24<br><b>revenue</b> 26:7<br><b>Reynolds</b> 1:13<br>8:25 24:21 74:4<br><b>rhetoric</b> 117:17<br><b>Rhode</b> 109:2<br><b>Richard</b> 45:25 | <b>right</b> 22:20 25:8<br>28:9 29:11<br>42:12 45:20<br>46:17 47:14<br>59:16 62:20,21<br>62:22 67:14,14<br>67:19 68:8<br>73:25 74:17<br>77:14 79:16,19<br>85:4,5 95:4<br>97:17 101:12,20<br>103:20 105:20<br>111:2,10 113:4<br>124:24<br><b>rights</b> 54:22 67:24<br>101:11<br><b>rising</b> 71:23<br><b>risk</b> 12:7 91:20<br><b>road</b> 89:25 99:10<br><b>Robert</b> 83:7<br><b>Robin</b> 110:2<br><b>ROC</b> 61:3<br><b>rocket</b> 116:23,24<br><b>rode</b> 41:21<br><b>rolled</b> 64:18<br><b>roller</b> 114:16<br>115:6,8<br><b>Room</b> 1:7<br><b>Roosevelt</b> 115:7<br><b>rope</b> 70:20<br><b>roses</b> 79:5<br><b>rosters</b> 17:16 18:4<br><b>rough</b> 67:12<br>89:25<br><b>round</b> 25:9 59:16<br><b>RPR-Notary</b><br>126:15<br><b>Rudy</b> 69:19 73:15<br><b>ruin</b> 88:12<br><b>rules</b> 17:5 71:10<br>90:21 119:17<br>120:2,15 122:6<br>122:15 123:4,14<br>123:22 125:5<br><b>rumor</b> 88:3<br><b>run</b> 17:9,10 75:15<br>82:13 91:4 | <b>running</b> 16:19<br>17:2,7 18:14<br>19:24 82:5<br><b>running-off</b><br>117:17<br><b>runs</b> 41:23<br><hr/> <b>S</b> <hr/> <b>sacrifice</b> 110:17<br><b>sacrificed</b> 110:16<br><b>safe</b> 3:15 4:3,20<br>5:24 6:6,6 14:4<br>26:20 32:10<br>38:5,7 48:16<br>61:18 71:15<br>98:18 103:19,24<br><b>SafeCam</b> 22:16<br>23:21 24:12,15<br><b>safely</b> 34:4,21<br><b>safer</b> 5:5 10:16<br>19:3 53:17<br>103:23<br><b>safety</b> 3:5 5:8<br>10:20 11:5,10<br>11:13,21 12:9<br>13:14 30:20<br>31:14,23 32:7<br>32:16,19,23<br>34:13,18 38:18<br>39:22 53:21<br>54:24 55:20<br>57:3 58:11<br>64:14 70:15<br>77:10 90:4<br>94:22 103:18<br>108:10<br><b>Sanchez</b> 116:15<br>116:15,16<br><b>Sanchez's</b> 27:15<br><b>sanction</b> 91:22<br><b>Savage</b> 107:9,15<br>107:20,21,23<br>108:19 112:15<br>113:16,24 114:3<br>114:18 116:11<br>116:16 117:15<br><b>save</b> 24:6 109:16 | <b>saving</b> 71:7<br><b>saw</b> 23:16 24:2<br>108:5<br><b>saying</b> 50:3 52:11<br>59:12 96:22<br>101:22,23,24<br><b>says</b> 42:21 47:9<br>96:16<br><b>scale</b> 20:10<br><b>scarce</b> 26:6<br><b>scene</b> 36:20 66:14<br><b>scheduled</b> 59:23<br>120:4 122:17<br>123:24<br><b>scholar</b> 28:22<br><b>school</b> 78:9 90:13<br>90:14 93:8<br><b>schools</b> 72:8<br>90:13,18 96:6<br><b>science</b> 116:23,24<br><b>season</b> 13:17 60:2<br><b>second</b> 28:12<br>46:17 52:15<br>53:25 54:9<br>84:25 103:14<br><b>seconded</b> 118:21<br>118:23 119:21<br>119:23 121:10<br>121:12 122:10<br>122:12 123:17<br>123:19<br><b>Section</b> 7:5,17<br>10:9 47:4,11,13<br><b>sectors</b> 72:3<br><b>secure</b> 32:10<br><b>security</b> 11:5,25<br>21:7,19 22:3<br>34:13 43:18<br>52:4<br><b>see</b> 26:13 28:24<br>41:21 56:19<br>61:16 62:2 66:9<br>88:19 113:18<br>115:16<br><b>seek</b> 87:8<br><b>seen</b> 14:21<br><b>self</b> 86:11 | <b>send</b> 6:2 18:6 62:3<br>69:2<br><b>sending</b> 39:24<br><b>sends</b> 68:11<br><b>senior</b> 13:24 40:4<br>53:7<br><b>seniors</b> 87:13<br><b>sense</b> 66:23 102:5<br><b>senseless</b> 4:5 71:7<br>71:20<br><b>sent</b> 88:18<br><b>sentiment</b> 79:6<br><b>sentiments</b> 3:22<br>67:18<br><b>separate</b> 43:12<br><b>SEPTA</b> 3:11 23:9<br><b>sergeant-at-arms</b><br>52:5<br><b>series</b> 23:3 35:2<br><b>serious</b> 15:19<br>68:22 89:8 98:4<br>98:7 99:7,8,15<br>101:18<br><b>seriously</b> 6:8,13<br>11:6 14:18<br>34:14<br><b>service</b> 73:7 76:8<br><b>services</b> 70:16<br>72:23 75:15,22<br>76:12 86:6<br><b>serving</b> 13:23<br><b>session</b> 119:19<br>120:4,16 122:8<br>122:17 123:5,16<br>123:24 125:7<br><b>set</b> 47:12<br><b>seven</b> 88:16<br><b>sewing</b> 110:6<br><b>share</b> 85:8 99:24<br><b>shared</b> 59:3<br><b>shares</b> 32:6<br><b>sharing</b> 26:17<br><b>Shark</b> 75:15<br><b>shed</b> 41:5<br><b>sheriff</b> 111:2<br><b>sheriff's</b> 111:4<br><b>shied</b> 85:14 |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|

|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| <b>shining</b> 79:4<br><b>Shira</b> 82:25 83:18<br><b>shoot</b> 46:5 48:4<br><b>shooting</b> 19:21<br>21:23 36:18<br>44:23 47:25<br>48:9 70:25<br><b>shootings</b> 35:2<br>38:2 54:17<br><b>shootout</b> 58:6<br><b>short</b> 90:5<br><b>shortly</b> 118:10<br><b>shot</b> 14:25 53:2<br>93:9<br><b>shots</b> 41:24<br><b>show</b> 110:15<br>113:6<br><b>shows</b> 54:17<br><b>siblings</b> 72:22<br><b>sic</b> 120:20<br><b>side</b> 57:6 62:17,17<br>66:12,13<br><b>sidewalk</b> 50:7<br>51:8,9<br><b>Sigma</b> 75:15<br><b>sign</b> 8:9<br><b>signed</b> 8:8<br><b>significant</b> 68:11<br>77:17<br><b>significantly</b> 13:7<br><b>signing</b> 16:25<br><b>silos</b> 66:6<br><b>similar</b> 6:17 49:4<br><b>simply</b> 50:4 53:2<br>67:6<br><b>singles</b> 87:13<br><b>sir</b> 2:18 107:7<br>112:12<br><b>Sisters</b> 76:2<br><b>sit</b> 26:15,21 70:7<br>86:18,21 92:20<br>98:18 100:15,16<br>101:5<br><b>sites</b> 79:11<br><b>sitting</b> 93:19<br>106:4 117:20<br><b>situation</b> 45:6 | <b>situations</b> 44:22<br>101:2<br><b>six</b> 65:12 108:24<br><b>skating</b> 114:16<br>115:6,8<br><b>skills</b> 113:6<br><b>slap</b> 99:11<br><b>Slawson</b> 4:13 8:15<br>8:20 9:5,6,9,14<br>9:18,20 16:17<br>19:4 20:15<br>22:18 24:14,25<br>25:11,20 27:5<br>27:17,19 28:3<br>29:6,15,21<br>30:18 33:10,12<br>55:21 58:14,18<br>65:5,8 69:13<br>91:5<br><b>Sleep</b> 111:11<br><b>small</b> 34:22 95:13<br><b>smart</b> 67:2,3<br><b>smell</b> 79:5<br><b>smooth</b> 67:12<br><b>social</b> 109:12<br><b>society</b> 95:13,20<br>96:2 97:3<br>103:12,18<br><b>solutions</b> 66:18<br><b>somebody</b> 16:25<br>47:25 64:25<br>78:8 87:24 93:2<br>93:3 97:8,21<br><b>someone's</b> 105:19<br>111:18<br><b>soon</b> 62:21<br><b>sorry</b> 107:20<br>108:19 120:24<br><b>sort</b> 16:3 20:13<br>28:19 114:11,15<br><b>sorts</b> 110:11<br><b>South</b> 44:24 58:21<br>61:4 113:8<br><b>Southwest</b> 36:6,8<br>37:25 39:14<br>113:8<br><b>space</b> 106:8 | <b>spaces</b> 34:3<br><b>speak</b> 9:13 16:8<br>31:10 51:4<br>114:4<br><b>speaker</b> 73:13<br><b>speaking</b> 63:21<br><b>speaks</b> 39:9<br><b>specifically</b> 57:15<br><b>spectator</b> 44:23<br><b>speed</b> 52:21<br><b>spelled</b> 45:17<br><b>spend</b> 77:8 108:21<br><b>spoke</b> 37:16<br><b>spoken</b> 20:5,5<br><b>sponsored</b> 91:15<br><b>sports</b> 71:18<br><b>spread</b> 6:12<br><b>spring</b> 13:17<br><b>staff</b> 11:6,10 14:4<br>17:11 18:7<br>34:14,18 52:3<br>58:23 59:21<br>62:10 103:15<br><b>staffed</b> 12:20<br>35:12<br><b>staff-wise</b> 74:13<br><b>staggering</b> 24:4<br><b>stake</b> 56:23<br><b>stakeholders</b><br>55:23<br><b>stand</b> 45:6 80:17<br>84:5 85:22<br>88:23 89:21<br>90:3<br><b>standing</b> 109:23<br><b>standpoint</b> 55:24<br>56:10<br><b>start</b> 2:19 48:8<br>49:5 58:15<br>59:18 66:6,7<br>75:3<br><b>started</b> 17:16<br>18:17 37:4,8<br>44:19 63:5<br><b>starting</b> 61:25<br><b>starts</b> 108:22,22<br><b>stat</b> 24:9 | <b>state</b> 9:4 31:4<br>49:16 69:24<br>83:5,16 84:14<br>84:20,21 85:17<br>86:7 92:14<br>96:16 104:23<br>106:15 107:11<br>107:19<br><b>stated</b> 61:6<br><b>statement</b> 87:3<br>107:8 116:14<br><b>statements</b> 116:6<br><b>statewide</b> 83:25<br><b>stations</b> 32:14<br><b>statistic</b> 24:4<br><b>status</b> 74:13<br><b>Statutes</b> 7:2,4,14<br>7:16 10:6,8<br><b>staying</b> 107:5<br><b>stemming</b> 15:16<br>115:15<br><b>stenographic</b><br>126:6<br><b>step</b> 62:20 104:12<br><b>stepping</b> 4:8<br><b>steps</b> 100:15<br><b>stick</b> 108:4<br><b>sticks</b> 45:18<br><b>stoop</b> 98:19<br><b>stop</b> 23:9 36:17<br>65:3 111:2<br>112:20<br><b>stopping</b> 78:9<br><b>store</b> 46:2 116:3<br><b>strategy</b> 4:11<br><b>straw</b> 46:13<br><b>Strawberry</b><br>109:24,25<br><b>street</b> 46:13 49:20<br>50:6,20 56:13<br>56:14 58:7 99:7<br>106:16<br><b>streets</b> 49:25 50:2<br>97:13 98:3<br><b>strict</b> 94:19<br><b>strong</b> 88:23<br><b>stronger</b> 68:25 | 103:5,7<br><b>structures</b> 67:10<br><b>stuff</b> 115:18<br><b>stumble</b> 60:8<br><b>Sturgis</b> 86:19<br><b>subject</b> 47:12<br>85:6 95:10<br><b>submit</b> 90:5<br><b>submitted</b> 7:22<br>83:8 118:17<br>121:6<br><b>substances</b> 10:17<br><b>substantial</b> 74:22<br><b>successful</b> 13:14<br>18:21 57:13<br><b>such-and-such</b><br>58:2<br><b>Sue</b> 4:12<br><b>suggest</b> 68:12,15<br><b>summer</b> 13:9,17<br>17:4 80:11,12<br><b>summers</b> 12:24<br>34:25<br><b>sun</b> 79:4<br><b>supervision</b><br>126:22<br><b>supervisors</b> 59:7<br><b>support</b> 5:3 9:25<br>14:10 16:18<br>18:15 19:10<br>25:24 33:17<br>36:9 38:8 60:10<br>60:20 70:13<br>72:11 73:23<br>88:24 89:10,21<br>99:15<br><b>supported</b> 64:15<br>72:24 82:10<br><b>supporting</b> 21:14<br>43:4 78:12<br><b>supportive</b> 4:18<br>63:19<br><b>suppose</b> 54:5<br><b>suppress</b> 57:21<br><b>sure</b> 3:15 4:9,10<br>4:19 5:23 15:18<br>16:8,11,13 19:2 |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|

|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| 21:15 31:11<br>43:9 49:21,22<br>49:23 50:14<br>61:10,19 67:22<br>68:2,7 69:9<br>104:12 112:15<br>112:17<br><b>survey</b> 12:10<br><b>surveys</b> 22:3<br><b>survive</b> 110:18<br><b>Susan</b> 8:15 9:5,20<br>33:12<br><b>suspended</b> 119:18<br>120:3,15 122:7<br>122:16 123:4,14<br>123:23 125:6<br><b>swim</b> 70:19 71:18<br><b>swimming</b> 13:3<br>20:21<br><b>sympathetic</b><br>101:3<br><b>synchronization</b><br>23:25<br><b>system</b> 10:24 12:3<br>13:5 20:9,24<br>21:5,16,19 22:3<br>34:8,21 87:9<br>88:13<br><b>systems</b> 20:4 21:7<br>76:11 89:15 | 115:6<br><b>taken</b> 4:6 37:24<br>72:10 79:13<br>126:6<br><b>takes</b> 11:5 34:13<br>41:23 44:23<br><b>talk</b> 15:10 20:3,12<br>40:11 58:10<br>66:7 77:4,10,11<br>103:5 104:10,20<br>115:17<br><b>talked</b> 55:9 91:5<br>91:13<br><b>talking</b> 46:9 57:2<br>58:25 87:24<br>108:21<br><b>target</b> 57:20<br><b>targeted</b> 15:5<br>104:9<br><b>targeting</b> 105:8<br><b>targets</b> 15:2<br><b>task</b> 52:11<br><b>Tasker</b> 56:14 58:7<br><b>taught</b> 110:4<br><b>team</b> 39:9 59:24<br><b>teams</b> 91:15<br><b>technical</b> 7:24<br>118:18,24 121:7<br>121:13<br><b>tell</b> 17:21 25:19<br>60:5 77:8 92:15<br>92:21 111:12<br>112:2 113:7<br><b>Temple</b> 27:9<br><b>ten</b> 47:8 48:5,9<br><b>tension</b> 97:5<br><b>tensions</b> 95:24<br>96:9<br><b>terms</b> 5:23 14:15<br>16:14 30:13<br>41:5 42:20 47:4<br>67:21 76:20<br>106:7<br><b>testify</b> 8:4,9,14<br>29:25 30:3,17<br>98:10 106:25<br>118:2 | <b>testimony</b> 2:8 5:6<br>8:6,12,23 9:8,25<br>14:13 28:25<br>29:10 31:6,20<br>33:2,9,16 38:12<br>40:9 66:10,10<br>69:11 70:2<br>73:11,20 83:9<br>83:11,17 96:13<br>99:22 107:4<br>113:15 117:14<br>118:5 124:14<br><b>thank</b> 2:17,25 3:2<br>3:13,16,17,20<br>4:21,22 5:16,17<br>6:19 7:20 9:2,16<br>14:7,12 22:11<br>24:17,18 25:3<br>27:18,19,21,24<br>28:5 29:14,19<br>29:21 32:20<br>35:21,25 38:9<br>38:11 40:7<br>42:15 48:21,22<br>49:2 55:12,14<br>60:23 63:15,17<br>65:4,24 67:16<br>69:10,12,13,22<br>73:8,10 74:2<br>76:15,16 78:20<br>78:21,22 80:9<br>80:22,25 81:4<br>81:16,17,23<br>82:17,19,20,22<br>83:18,20,22<br>85:24 90:2 92:4<br>93:24,25 94:5<br>99:22 102:15<br>103:25 104:3,4<br>105:25 106:2,20<br>106:22,23 107:3<br>107:5,22 112:16<br>113:14,16<br>114:20 116:4,9<br>116:12 117:5,13<br>117:16,21,23<br>118:14 119:13 | 120:21 121:3<br>123:10 125:9,11<br><b>Thanks</b> 122:2<br><b>theory</b> 96:21<br><b>thing</b> 18:2 19:5<br>41:14 44:21<br>60:19 63:7 65:9<br>66:4 75:12<br>77:19 81:5<br>94:17 109:10<br>113:12<br><b>things</b> 14:14<br>15:14,22,25<br>17:15 23:6,11<br>24:7 38:16<br>50:23 54:7<br>59:18 72:11<br>75:23 90:9<br>96:18 100:19<br>102:9 103:16<br>106:6 108:20<br>110:15 113:9<br><b>think</b> 15:14,15,25<br>18:23 19:5 22:5<br>24:4 38:13 39:8<br>39:19 41:7 42:6<br>43:2,2 50:9,16<br>51:4,14,23<br>52:12 53:14<br>55:18 62:8<br>63:20 67:18<br>68:10,16,24<br>81:19 85:3,11<br>85:12,15 91:12<br>95:3,9,25 96:6,9<br>96:11,12,14,21<br>96:25 97:4,18<br>97:19,21,25<br>98:2,20 99:4,8<br>99:25 101:15<br>102:12,16,18,22<br>103:2,3,9 104:6<br>104:8,12 110:19<br>110:22 111:14<br>115:14<br><b>thinking</b> 48:8<br>111:22 | <b>third</b> 8:7,11<br><b>Thirty-Ninth</b><br>36:14<br><b>Thomas</b> 83:7<br><b>thousands</b> 10:25<br>34:9<br><b>threat</b> 64:3<br><b>three</b> 8:4 20:19<br>29:5,7 33:7<br>55:22 60:12<br>62:5 109:3<br><b>throw</b> 94:10<br><b>throwaway</b> 92:25<br><b>Thursday</b> 1:8<br>104:21<br><b>tied</b> 35:4<br><b>time</b> 3:7 4:2 16:12<br>41:2,20 47:24<br>63:25 65:19<br>68:5,6,23 71:5<br>73:9 76:24 93:2<br>93:4,7 98:7<br>102:24 104:19<br>107:25 108:21<br>113:19 114:9<br>116:9 117:16<br>124:14,22<br><b>times</b> 15:10 60:6<br><b>Tip</b> 75:3<br><b>title</b> 1:17,20,21<br>4:25 6:15,25 7:3<br>7:13,15 9:8 10:5<br>10:7 30:6,8<br><b>titles</b> 6:18<br><b>today</b> 2:18 5:19<br>8:3 9:2,24 14:9<br>15:24 29:5<br>31:19 33:16<br>35:23 38:12<br>66:11 67:21<br>69:24 70:13<br>78:17 83:21<br>84:10 86:24<br>94:14 100:3<br>110:9,17 117:14<br>125:10<br><b>tolerance</b> 87:21 |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|

|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| 88:12<br><b>tonight</b> 57:25<br>58:6 97:24<br><b>Tony</b> 62:13<br><b>tool</b> 10:15 32:18<br>34:2 55:7<br><b>top</b> 48:6<br><b>torture</b> 51:13<br><b>totally</b> 38:8<br><b>tougher</b> 68:24<br><b>town</b> 39:14 111:4<br>112:19<br><b>towns</b> 84:19 85:18<br><b>tracks</b> 62:17,18<br><b>trafficking</b> 98:14<br><b>train</b> 107:6<br><b>transact</b> 44:13<br><b>transacted</b> 44:6<br><b>transcript</b> 126:8<br>126:20<br><b>trash</b> 70:24<br><b>traumatic</b> 53:9<br><b>tremendously</b><br>80:21<br><b>tried</b> 110:15<br><b>trouble</b> 68:23<br><b>troubled</b> 87:10<br>89:3<br><b>troublemakers</b><br>57:22<br><b>truancy</b> 76:7<br><b>true</b> 101:10 126:7<br><b>trust</b> 63:5 87:17<br><b>try</b> 21:18 23:18<br>75:20 87:9<br>90:18 100:18<br>110:21<br><b>trying</b> 22:2 43:7<br>43:12 45:23<br>46:3 51:17<br>52:20 65:13,21<br>93:8 96:17<br>102:2 110:18<br><b>turn</b> 17:24 18:8<br>64:17 70:24<br>97:10<br><b>turned</b> 39:2 91:18 | 97:8<br><b>TV</b> 93:19<br><b>two</b> 12:24 28:14<br>29:12 30:3<br>34:25 36:11<br>60:11 63:13<br>65:20 88:4<br>109:2,4 110:14<br>116:6<br><b>type</b> 21:3 24:10<br>48:6 54:3,7<br>64:18 71:23<br>91:4,16 94:17<br>101:24<br><b>types</b> 37:5 102:13<br><hr/> <b>U</b><br><hr/> <b>ultimately</b> 5:9<br>94:18<br><b>Unconsolidated</b><br>7:4,16 10:8<br><b>underscore</b> 74:10<br><b>understand</b> 8:2<br>53:22 54:15<br>79:23 104:6<br>105:5 115:24<br><b>unfortunate</b> 35:2<br><b>unfortunately</b><br>14:24 95:13<br><b>uniformed</b> 41:20<br><b>uninterrupted</b><br>86:5<br><b>Unit</b> 63:3<br><b>university</b> 23:3,11<br>23:17 26:15<br>27:9,14<br><b>unorthodox</b> 27:3<br><b>unsafe</b> 12:11<br>100:10<br><b>upcoming</b> 13:16<br>60:2 79:15<br><b>update</b> 11:19<br>74:12<br><b>urging</b> 23:7<br><b>use</b> 54:24 66:7<br>91:7 96:18,20<br>96:23 115:25 | 117:19,22<br><b>useful</b> 26:12<br><b>users</b> 11:10 34:18<br><b>usually</b> 19:18,19<br>19:23 62:23<br>98:12<br><b>utmost</b> 14:2<br><hr/> <b>V</b><br><hr/> <b>valid</b> 54:20<br><b>valuable</b> 71:9<br><b>Vare</b> 21:2,3<br><b>variety</b> 77:13<br><b>various</b> 25:22<br>44:24 60:7<br><b>vast</b> 34:19 109:10<br>109:18 110:20<br><b>Verdell</b> 30:21<br>36:5 55:19<br><b>Vet</b> 113:4<br><b>veteran</b> 37:2<br><b>vettied</b> 43:23<br><b>vetting</b> 92:20<br><b>victim</b> 3:8 53:6,7<br>71:20 101:18<br>105:3<br><b>victims</b> 101:16<br><b>video</b> 114:16<br><b>view</b> 87:4<br><b>viewed</b> 3:23<br><b>violate</b> 67:23<br><b>violated</b> 105:19<br><b>violating</b> 53:12<br>67:10<br><b>violation</b> 47:10<br><b>violations</b> 1:17,20<br>6:25 7:3,13,15<br>10:5,7 47:17<br>95:8<br><b>violence</b> 4:5 28:7<br>28:8 46:23<br>55:10 57:10,16<br>61:7 64:16 71:7<br>71:21,25 72:6<br>73:2,3 74:23<br>77:12 84:5<br>112:20,22 | 115:15<br><b>violent</b> 12:23<br>16:11 54:4<br><b>violently</b> 14:22<br><b>visitors</b> 32:8,24<br><b>vital</b> 70:21<br><b>voice</b> 112:14<br><b>volumes</b> 39:9<br><b>volunteer</b> 86:6<br><b>vote</b> 124:19,20<br><hr/> <b>W</b><br><hr/> <b>wager</b> 25:14<br><b>wait</b> 8:10<br><b>walk</b> 67:8,9 79:12<br>88:18 105:4<br><b>walking</b> 107:23<br><b>walks</b> 53:7<br><b>want</b> 2:10,19 3:2<br>3:13,21 4:7,16<br>6:5,6 7:21 8:23<br>9:3 14:16 17:6,9<br>17:12 18:15<br>19:17 21:21<br>32:20 33:8<br>43:19 46:16<br>48:3,10 56:20<br>58:9 61:16<br>63:17 65:3<br>66:14 67:17<br>68:5,6,6 75:3<br>78:5,5,15 79:5<br>79:14,17 80:9<br>81:23 82:17<br>88:12 92:9,10<br>92:15,21 93:22<br>102:18 103:13<br>103:16 104:5<br>105:6,16,17,21<br>108:7,8,10,12<br>108:15 114:14<br>114:14,23 115:6<br>116:13 117:5,6<br>117:15<br><b>wanted</b> 14:14<br>39:6,11 40:7,10<br>41:3 42:19 | 44:17 64:10<br>93:9 106:20<br>107:7 116:4<br><b>wanting</b> 19:9<br><b>wants</b> 102:18<br>124:12<br><b>warm</b> 59:17<br><b>Washington</b><br>104:24<br><b>wasn't</b> 19:21 29:9<br>98:15<br><b>waste</b> 68:5,6<br><b>Watch</b> 98:10<br><b>watching</b> 93:19<br><b>water</b> 96:25<br><b>way</b> 4:17 22:24<br>24:9 26:10 27:3<br>41:9 63:4 69:3<br>82:2,7,16<br>101:12 111:21<br>115:14 117:22<br><b>ways</b> 63:14<br><b>weak</b> 101:16<br><b>weapon</b> 32:3 50:9<br><b>weapons</b> 1:22<br>30:11 33:18<br>34:6,24 44:11<br>99:16,17<br><b>weaving</b> 110:6<br><b>weekday</b> 40:18<br><b>welcome</b> 80:24<br><b>well-being</b> 32:6<br>32:23<br><b>went</b> 22:25<br>109:17,18<br><b>weren't</b> 16:22<br>41:20<br><b>West</b> 110:25<br><b>we'll</b> 22:7 24:14<br>67:12 114:5<br>117:12,22<br><b>we're</b> 6:12,14,17<br>8:13 18:2 19:4,6<br>21:18,22,24,25<br>22:2 26:2 27:7<br>30:4,15 33:5<br>39:19 41:12 |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|

|                         |                         |                         |                        |                         |
|-------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|------------------------|-------------------------|
| 49:17 59:22             | 18:24 22:13             | <b>X</b>                | <b>Z</b>               | 93:1 94:1 95:1          |
| 61:15,20 63:4           | 25:4 38:21,21           | <b>X</b> 112:23 113:3   | <b>zero</b> 13:6 87:21 | 96:1 97:1 98:1          |
| 65:13 66:11             | 38:24 39:7,12           | <b>Y</b>                | 88:11                  | 99:1 100:1              |
| 67:25 69:9,15           | 39:13,14 54:6           | <b>ya</b> 73:14         | <b>\$</b>              | 101:1 102:1             |
| 73:11,24 74:20          | 55:6,23 57:9,12         | <b>year</b> 15:10 16:20 | <b>\$2,000</b> 47:21   | 103:1 104:1             |
| 74:25 77:12,14          | 64:13 65:22             | 18:23 19:7 37:7         | <b>1</b>               | 105:1 106:1             |
| 79:17 80:6,7            | 66:24 72:4,25           | 37:13,21 54:19          | <b>1-109</b> 47:13     | 107:1 108:1             |
| 82:24 93:12,13          | 74:10 80:19             | 58:19 59:16             | <b>1:30</b> 1:8        | 109:1 110:1             |
| 98:12 99:14             | 81:23,25 85:23          | 87:25 109:16            | <b>10,000</b> 13:19    | 111:1 112:1             |
| 104:9 105:13,14         | 92:16 94:8              | <b>years</b> 14:21 17:8 | <b>110</b> 48:16       | 113:1 114:1             |
| 113:25 117:12           | 105:14 108:6            | 17:8,8 25:17            | <b>12</b> 19:21        | 115:1 116:1             |
| <b>we've</b> 8:24 14:21 | 114:2,5 116:7           | 36:11 38:25             | <b>12th</b> 36:7       | 117:1 118:1,6           |
| 14:22,24 20:5           | 117:12,13               | 47:7,8 48:5,9           | <b>12:41</b> 36:13,16  | 118:13,16,19,24         |
| 20:15 22:4              | <b>worked</b> 56:7      | 61:8 72:18 86:5         | 42:3                   | 119:1,9,12,15           |
| 32:15 36:25             | 84:17                   | 88:16 107:24            | <b>120827</b> 1:15 2:8 | 119:24 120:1,12         |
| 39:9 54:17              | <b>workers</b> 32:12    | 114:9                   | 3:1 4:1 5:1 6:1        | 121:1 122:1             |
| 60:21 61:4,8,8          | <b>working</b> 4:11     | <b>York</b> 68:17,24    | 6:16,20 7:1 8:1        | 123:1 124:1             |
| 65:12 76:5,9            | 10:12,18 11:22          | <b>young</b> 3:25 4:20  | 9:1 10:1,2 11:1        | 125:1                   |
| 84:7,17 88:15           | 20:11 21:13             | 5:24 19:12,14           | 12:1 13:1 14:1         | <b>120828</b> 1:18 2:8  |
| 91:14 117:7             | 25:21 33:23             | 19:22 25:5              | 15:1 16:1 17:1         | 6:16 7:8 10:2           |
| <b>whatnot</b> 53:3     | 35:15 39:19             | 26:20 40:3              | 18:1 19:1 20:1         | 29:2 118:6              |
| <b>whatsoever</b> 37:23 | 41:12 56:7              | 43:10 46:22             | 21:1 22:1 23:1         | 120:23 121:2,5          |
| <b>what-have-you</b>    | 59:11 63:24,24          | 48:7 56:23              | 24:1 25:1 26:1         | 121:8,13,22,25          |
| 6:5                     | 64:7 65:13              | 60:12 65:16             | 27:1 28:1 29:1,2       | 122:4,13,25             |
| <b>Whittier</b> 82:11   | 66:15 69:5              | 70:18 71:3              | 30:1 31:1 32:1         | <b>120829</b> 120:20    |
| <b>Wick</b> 107:20      | 74:24 81:6,13           | 75:18,23 77:17          | 33:1 34:1 35:1         | <b>13th</b> 56:13 58:6  |
| <b>widely</b> 41:3      | 84:4 85:16              | 78:3 80:11              | 36:1 37:1 38:1         | <b>130065</b> 1:21 2:9  |
| <b>Wild</b> 110:25,25   | 97:20 105:14            | 81:25 82:6,8            | 39:1 40:1 41:1         | 29:3 30:5,6,7           |
| <b>willing</b> 85:22    | <b>workplace</b> 11:13  | 87:7 88:2 92:24         | 42:1 43:1 44:1         | 31:20 33:17             |
| <b>Wilson</b> 56:14     | <b>works</b> 23:16 55:8 | 108:24 109:9,12         | 45:1 46:1 47:1         | 42:17 118:6             |
| <b>win</b> 26:19        | 63:14 75:4              | 109:15,19,21            | 48:1 49:1 50:1         | 123:9,11,20             |
| <b>winds</b> 36:18      | <b>world</b> 66:23 80:5 | 110:9,16,23             | 51:1 52:1 53:1         | 125:3                   |
| <b>wish</b> 8:4,5       | 109:15,20               | 111:6,14,23,25          | 54:1 55:1 56:1         | <b>14</b> 19:22         |
| <b>witness</b> 4:4 8:14 | <b>worth</b> 26:23      | 112:22 113:5            | 57:1 58:1 59:1         | <b>14th</b> 59:25       |
| 8:16,16 30:25           | <b>wouldn't</b> 42:9    | 115:9,12,16,18          | 60:1 61:1 62:1         | <b>15</b> 25:12 110:13  |
| 69:20 83:13             | 50:13 95:18             | 116:8,25                | 63:1 64:1 65:1         | <b>15-600</b> 1:15 6:21 |
| 107:13,13               | <b>wound</b> 36:20      | <b>youth</b> 34:3 71:8  | 66:1 67:1 68:1         | <b>15-700</b> 1:18 7:9  |
| <b>witnesses</b> 8:3    | <b>woven</b> 13:20      | 71:16,25 72:15          | 69:1 70:1 71:1         | <b>16</b> 1:21 30:8     |
| 30:25 69:20             | <b>wrap</b> 63:18 92:9  | 74:23 75:9,14           | 72:1 73:1 74:1         | 110:13                  |
| 83:13                   | 105:25                  | 76:12 77:11             | 75:1 76:1 77:1         | <b>16th</b> 36:8        |
| <b>woman</b> 101:17     | <b>wreak</b> 71:2       | 86:6 87:10,22           | 78:1 79:1 80:1         | <b>160</b> 11:2 34:10   |
| <b>women</b> 19:15      | <b>wrist</b> 99:12      | 88:15 89:2 92:2         | 81:1 82:1 83:1         | <b>17th</b> 62:13 63:24 |
| 112:18                  | <b>written</b> 83:9,10  | 97:7,20,22              | 84:1 85:1 86:1         | <b>18</b> 1:17,20 6:25  |
| <b>wonderful</b> 86:9   | <b>wrong</b> 47:21      | 114:11                  | 87:1 88:1 89:1         | 7:13 10:5 19:23         |
| 86:10                   | 115:3                   | <b>YPs</b> 75:10        | 90:1 91:1 92:1         | <b>18th</b> 36:8        |
| <b>word</b> 6:12        | <b>wrongdoers</b>       | <b>YVRP</b> 70:10       |                        | <b>19th</b> 36:8        |
| <b>work</b> 4:21 11:17  | 28:15                   |                         |                        | <b>1991</b> 109:8       |

|                           |                         |                   |  |  |
|---------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------|--|--|
| <b>1998</b> 44:20 45:20   | 102:1 103:1             | <b>9:30</b> 61:25 |  |  |
| <b>2</b>                  | 104:1 105:1             | <b>90</b> 26:11   |  |  |
| <b>2</b> 47:4             | 106:1 107:1             |                   |  |  |
| <b>2nd</b> 4:18 36:12     | 108:1 109:1             |                   |  |  |
| <b>20</b> 88:18           | 110:1 111:1             |                   |  |  |
| <b>2010</b> 36:12 54:19   | 112:1 113:1             |                   |  |  |
| <b>2013</b> 1:8           | 114:1 115:1             |                   |  |  |
| <b>21</b> 19:23           | 116:1 117:1             |                   |  |  |
| <b>24</b> 24:3 72:18      | 118:1 119:1             |                   |  |  |
| 86:5                      | 120:1 121:1             |                   |  |  |
| <b>24-year</b> 37:2       | 122:1 123:1             |                   |  |  |
| <b>24/7</b> 64:6          | 124:1 125:1             |                   |  |  |
| <b>3</b>                  | <b>3:20</b> 125:13      |                   |  |  |
| <b>3/7/13</b> 3:1 4:1 5:1 | <b>30</b> 107:24        |                   |  |  |
| 6:1 7:1 8:1 9:1           | <b>31</b> 11:25 20:16   |                   |  |  |
| 10:1 11:1 12:1            | <b>35</b> 7:3,15 10:7   |                   |  |  |
| 13:1 14:1 15:1            | <b>35th</b> 86:20 90:7  |                   |  |  |
| 16:1 17:1 18:1            | <b>39th</b> 37:14,22    |                   |  |  |
| 19:1 20:1 21:1            | 38:24 39:8              |                   |  |  |
| 22:1 23:1 24:1            | <b>4</b>                |                   |  |  |
| 25:1 26:1 27:1            | <b>4th</b> 39:4,5       |                   |  |  |
| 28:1 29:1 30:1            | <b>400</b> 1:7          |                   |  |  |
| 31:1 32:1 33:1            | <b>5</b>                |                   |  |  |
| 34:1 35:1 36:1            | <b>50</b> 84:18         |                   |  |  |
| 37:1 38:1 39:1            | <b>50,000</b> 83:25     |                   |  |  |
| 40:1 41:1 42:1            | <b>500</b> 88:15 111:22 |                   |  |  |
| 43:1 44:1 45:1            | <b>54</b> 54:17         |                   |  |  |
| 46:1 47:1 48:1            | <b>56</b> 20:17         |                   |  |  |
| 49:1 50:1 51:1            | <b>6</b>                |                   |  |  |
| 52:1 53:1 54:1            | <b>6th</b> 106:16       |                   |  |  |
| 55:1 56:1 57:1            | <b>60</b> 42:4          |                   |  |  |
| 58:1 59:1 60:1            | <b>7</b>                |                   |  |  |
| 61:1 62:1 63:1            | <b>7</b> 1:8            |                   |  |  |
| 64:1 65:1 66:1            | <b>70</b> 42:4          |                   |  |  |
| 67:1 68:1 69:1            | <b>780-113</b> 7:5,17   |                   |  |  |
| 70:1 71:1 72:1            | 10:9                    |                   |  |  |
| 73:1 74:1 75:1            | <b>8</b>                |                   |  |  |
| 76:1 77:1 78:1            | <b>8th</b> 38:22 40:25  |                   |  |  |
| 79:1 80:1 81:1            | 113:22                  |                   |  |  |
| 82:1 83:1 84:1            | <b>89</b> 63:5          |                   |  |  |
| 85:1 86:1 87:1            | <b>9</b>                |                   |  |  |
| 88:1 89:1 90:1            | <b>9:00</b> 61:25       |                   |  |  |
| 91:1 92:1 93:1            |                         |                   |  |  |
| 94:1 95:1 96:1            |                         |                   |  |  |
| 97:1 98:1 99:1            |                         |                   |  |  |
| 100:1 101:1               |                         |                   |  |  |